

Drilling and Completion Report Stage 2

Prepared for Snowy Hydro Limited June 2019

EMM Sydney Ground floor, Suite 01, 20 Chandos Street St Leonards NSW 2065

T 02 9493 9500

F 02 9493 9599

E info@emmconsulting.com.au

www.emmconsulting.com.au

Drilling and Completion Report

Stage 2

Approved by
FALTAL

Kaitlyn Brodie Hydrogeologist 21 May 2019

Jonathon Tait Senior Hydrogeologist 21 May 2019

This report has been prepared in accordance with the brief provided by the client and has relied upon the information collected at the time and under the conditions specified in the report. All findings, conclusions or recommendations contained in the report are based on the circumstances. The report is for the use of the client and no responsibility will be taken for its use by other parties. The client may, at its discretion, use the report to inform regulators and the public.

© Reproduction of this report for educational or other non-commercial purposes is authorised without prior written permission from EMM provided the source is fully acknowledged. Reproduction of this report for resale or other commercial purposes is prohibited without EMM's prior written permission.

Table of Contents

1	Introduction				
	1.1	Project o	verview	1	
	1.2	Program	objectives	1	
2	Drillin	ig program	1	2	
	2.1	Monitori	ng bore network	2	
	2.2	Monitori	ng bore licence	6	
	2.3	Drilling a	nd construction specifications	6	
		2.3.1	Overview	6	
		2.3.2	Drilling	6	
		2.3.3	Survey	7	
	2.4	Geology	encountered during drilling	7	
	2.5	Groundw	vater flow	8	
	2.6	Groundw	vater quality	9	
3	Field	testing		10	
	3.1	Pumping	tests	10	
		3.1.1	Pumping test methodology	10	
		3.1.2	Pumping test results	11	
	3.2	Groundw	vater quality monitoring	12	
		3.2.1	Groundwater sampling methodology	12	
		3.2.2	QA/QC procedures	12	
		3.2.3	Groundwater sampling results	13	
Ref	erences	5		17	

Appendices

Appendix A Monitoring bore licence	A.1
Appendix B Form A's	B.1
Appendix C Geological and bore construction logs	C.1
Appendix D Pumping test reports	D.1
Appendix E Hydrographs	E.1
Appendix F Groundwater sampling laboratory certificates	F.1

Tables

Table 2.1	Stage 2 groundwater monitoring bores	4
Table 2.2	Bore survey details	7
Table 2.3	Geology	8
Table 2.5	Groundwater flow	8
Table 2.6	Groundwater quality	9
Table 3.1	Pumping test summary table	10
Table 3.2	Aquifer properties	11
Table 3.3	Groundwater sampling analytical suite	12
Table 3.4	Mean groundwater quality results (July 2018 – January 2019)	14

Figures

Figure 2.1	Monitoring and production bore locations	3
Figure 2.2	Typical test production bore and associated nested monitoring bore schematic	5

1 Introduction

1.1 Project overview

Snowy Hydro Limited (SHL) proposes to develop Snowy 2.0, a large-scale pumped hydro-electric storage and generation project which would increase hydro-electric capacity within the existing Snowy Mountains Hydro-electric Scheme (Snowy Scheme). This will be achieved by establishing a new underground hydro-electric power station that will increase the generation capacity of the Snowy Scheme by almost 50%, providing an additional 2,000 megawatts (MW) generating capacity, and providing approximately 350 gigawatts hours (GWh) of storage available to the National Electricity Market (NEM) at any one time, which is critical to ensuring system security as Australia transitions to a decarbonised NEM. Snowy 2.0 will link the existing Tantangara and Talbingo reservoirs within the Snowy Scheme through a series of underground tunnels and a hydro-electric power station.

Snowy 2.0 has been declared Critical State Significant Infrastructure (CSSI) by the NSW Minister for Planning under the provisions of the *NSW Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979* (EP&A Act) and is defined in Clause 9 of Schedule 5 of the State Environmental Planning Policy (State and Regional Development) 2011 (SRD SEPP). Separate applications and environmental impact statements (EIS) for different phases of Snowy 2.0 are being submitted under Part 5, Division 5.2 of the EP&A Act.

1.2 Program objectives

The collection of field data is important for accurate representation of hydrogeological conceptual and numerical groundwater flow models which will inform the Groundwater Assessment in support of the Snowy 2.0 EIS. This assessment covers all issues relating to site water management, groundwater and surface water and their related environmental and other uses.

A comprehensive groundwater monitoring network has been installed to collect hydrogeological data which will be used to characterise the groundwater regime in the vicinity of the project area. The Stage 2 project area is located in-between both Talbingo and Tantangara reservoirs, which are existing structures that form part of the Snowy Scheme. Talbingo Reservoir is located approximately 50 kilometres (km) north-west of Adaminaby. Tantangara Reservoir is located approximately 25 km north-west of Adaminaby. The two regions are separated by the Snowy Mountains Highway, which connects Adaminaby and Cooma in the south-east, to Talbingo and Tumut to the northwest of KNP. The ravine region is between Talbingo Reservoir to the north-west and the Snowy Mountains Highway to the east. The plateau region extends from the Snowy Mountains Highway in the east to Tantangara Reservoir in the west.

The Stage 1 groundwater monitoring network comprises 20 monitoring bores, including conventional standpipe piezometers and nested monitoring sites, at 11 locations, installed in order to monitor potential sensitive features, including alpine bogs, the Yarongobilly River, the Murrumbidgee River, Tantangara Creek, Gooandra Creek and potential groundwater dependent ecosystems. The Stage 2 network is an extension of the project's groundwater monitoring network and comprises seven monitoring bores (three pre-existing monitoring bores, and four monitoring bores drilled as part of this program), and four test production bores (one pre-existing production bore and three production bores drilled as part of this program) at four nested locations. The extension of the network is essential to further inform the characterisation of groundwater systems across the Ravine and Plateau region of the main project area, as well as satisfying baseline groundwater monitoring requirements. This report summarises the Stage 2 drilling program of the Snowy 2.0 groundwater monitoring network.

Monitoring and test bores were drilled and installed by Highland Drilling and supervised by EMM Consulting Pty Limited (EMM) in consultation with NSW Department of Industry Water (Dol Water) between May and June 2018.

2 Drilling program

2.1 Monitoring bore network

The Stage 2 drilling program includes conventional groundwater monitoring bores and test production bores located within the vicinity of the Snowy 2.0 project area. Monitoring bores and test production bores are positioned to provide spatial coverage, investigate major hydrogeological systems, and monitor potentially sensitive environmental features along the project alignment.

Specifically, the groundwater monitoring network is designed to:

- identify and characterise water bearing units in the project area, with a focus on characterising groundwater flow and quality;
- characterise hydraulic properties (horizontal and vertical flow) within the major groundwater bearing zones across the project area;
- provide a degree of spatial representation and flux of pressure heads across the plateau area to investigate potential vertical hydraulic gradients and connectivity between water bearing units;
- investigate the potential for surface water and groundwater interaction, specifically at Gooandra and Tantangara creeks, and groundwater dependant ecosystems; and
- investigate the potential impacts to the groundwater and surface environments from the construction and operation of the project.

The network is comprised of seven monitoring bores (three pre-existing monitoring bores, and four monitoring bores drilled as part of this program), and four test production bores (one pre-existing production bore and three production bores drilled as part of this program) at four nested locations illustrated in Figure 2.1 and detailed in Table 2.1.

Test production bores were completed with open sections/screens targeting the proposed tunnel depth. Test production bores were pump tested to simulate groundwater yields during tunnelling. Shallow and deep monitoring bores were installed at each location to observe vertical and horizontal hydraulic conductivity/connectivity (if any) between the shallow and deep groundwater systems during pump testing. The exception being the PB05 site where only one deep monitoring bore was installed. Vertical conductivity is of interest due to the potential impacts of drawdown (during tunnelling) on groundwater dependent ecosystems and groundwater fed surface water features on the plateau.

A schematic of a nested groundwater monitoring/test production site is shown in Figure 2.2.





- Proposed track

Monitoring and production bore locations

Snowy 2.0 Drilling and completion report

Figure 2.1



GDA 1994 MGA Zone 55 N

Table 2.1 Stage 2 groundwater monitoring bores

Site location	Bore ID	Туре	Easting ¹	Northing ¹	Ground level (mAHD) ²	Total depth (mBGL) ³	Screen (mBGL) ³	Monitored formation	Lithology
Tantangara intake	PB01	Test Production Bore	649253.9	6038163.8	1231.5	60	45 – 60 open hole	Kelly's Plain Volcanics	Dacite
	BH116*	Monitoring Bore	649431.3	6038166	1234.46	93	80.5 - 89.5	Kelly's Plain Volcanics	Dacite
	BH115*	Monitoring Bore	649225.4	6038173	1231.2	54	42 - 51	Kelly's Plain Volcanics	Dacite
Tantangara Creek	PB03	Test Production Bore	640645.2	6038345.8	1335.6	215	200 – 215 open hole	Boggy Plain Suite	Volcanic rock
	SMB02	Monitoring Bore	640640.7	6038339.9	1334.8	195	182 - 194	Boggy Plain Suite	Volcanic rock
	SMB03	Monitoring Bore	640645.9	6038334	1334.7	50	40-49	Boggy Plain Suite	Volcanic rock
Gooandra Creek	PB04	Test Production Bore	638887.2	6038527.3	1341.3	200	185 – 200	Gooandra Volcanics/ Boggy Plains Suite	Chloritic schist Metagranite
	SMB04	Monitoring Bore	638897.7	6038519.2	1341.6	180	170 – 179	Gooandra Volcanics	Chloritic schist
	SMB05	Monitoring Bore	638890.2	6038515.5	1341.8	50	40 - 49	Gooandra Volcanics	Chloritic schists
Talbingo intake	PB05*	Test Production Bore	624500.3	6040714.1	614.3	100	50 – 100 open hole	Ravine Beds	Siltstone, sandstone, limestone
	BH7106*	Monitoring Bore	624510	6040720	612.9	154.15	141 – 153	Ravine Beds	Siltstone, sandstone, limestone

Notes: 1. Coordinates in MGA 94 (Zone 55)

2. mAHD = metres Australian Height Datum

3. mBGL = metres Below Ground Level

* pre-existing boreholes not drilled by EMM as part of this program.



Figure 2.2 Typical test production bore and associated nested monitoring bore schematic

2.2 Monitoring bore licence

A test (monitoring bore) licence (40BL192701) under the *Water Act 1912* was obtained by SHL from Dol Water prior to the commencement of the drilling program (Appendix A). Form A: Particulars of Completed Works forms (drilling completion forms) were submitted to Dol Water following monitoring bore installation and are included in Appendix B.

2.3 Drilling and construction specifications

2.3.1 Overview

Highland Drilling was engaged by EMM to undertake borehole drilling and monitoring/test production bore construction and installation. EMM provided the design and specification and undertook project management and hydrogeological supervision during the drilling program.

All monitoring and test production bores were drilled and constructed in accordance with the Minimum Construction Requirements for Water Bores in Australia (NUDLC 2012). Drilling and construction is a minimal impact temporary activity with the final constructed bore presenting at the surface as a 100 millimetre (mm) high, 1 x 1 metre (m) concrete slab and flush galvanised steel gatic plate (see Figure 2.2).

2.3.2 Drilling

All monitoring and test production boreholes were drilled using an air rotary percussion technique (also known as air hammer) to evacuate cuttings from the annulus of the borehole during drilling. No drill muds or additives were used during the drilling. This method allows information on water strikes, quality, and yields to be collected while drilling.

All water produced from the bores during drilling was controlled in a series of above ground tanks and disposed of in accordance with the Snowy 2.0 Review of Environmental Factors (REF). Water used for drilling was sourced from a licensed supply in Adaminaby or recycled from settling tanks. Produced water was discharged only when it met the water quality criteria specified in the REF. All produced water that did not comply with REF criteria was contained in above-ground tanks and disposed of at a licensed waste facility.

Geology was logged at one metre intervals and groundwater yields recorded (if any) at the end of each drill rod (every 6 m). Water quality physico-chemical parameters were measured using a calibrated YSI[™] water quality meter; parameters included temperature, Electrical Conductivity (EC), pH, Dissolved Oxygen (DO), Total Dissolved Solids (TDS) and Oxidation Reduction Potential (ORP). Physico-chemical parameters are shown on the geological bore logs in Appendix C.

All boreholes were developed at target depth until the discharge water was relatively free of sediment and the physico-chemical water quality parameters stabilised.

A washed and graded (3 to 5 mm) gravel filter pack was installed in the annulus around the screen (placed at the target depth) and extended a minimum of 3 m above the screened section. A bentonite pellet seal was installed 3 to 5 m above the gravel pack and the boreholes were backfilled with blue metal gravel to approximately 2 m below surface level. The bentonite seal ensures no vertical connection between target groundwater systems and those above the screened section. The annulus was completed with cement grout to surface.

Test production boreholes were drilled from surface at 7.5" diameter to the top of the open hole section. 5" steel casing was then welded and installed to depth. The annulus between the 5" steel casing was sealed with 3 m of bentonite pellets and then backfilled with blue metal gravel to surface. The "tail" open section of the borehole was

drilled at 5" diameter to target depth. The open hole sections of PB01, PB03 and PB05 and screened section of PB04 were designed to target the proposed tunnelling depth.

2.3.3 Survey

Following bore installation, the completed bores were surveyed by Peter W. Burns Pty Ltd, Cooma. Measurements collected during the survey process can be found in Table 2.2.

The survey included measurements of:

- MGA55 Easting and Northings of each bore,
- AHD71 level of the gatic lid and top of casing.

Bore ID	Easting (MGA 94)	Northing (MGA 94)	Gatic lid (mAHD) ¹	Top of casing (mAHD) ¹
PB01	649253.9	6038163.8	-	1231.5
РВ03	640645.2	6038345.8	1335.5	1335.6
PB04	638887.2	6038527.3	-	1341.3
PB05	624500.3	6040714.1	614.3	614.3
SMB02	640640.7	6038339.9	1334.8	-
SMB03	640645.9	6038334.0	1334.7	-
SMB04	638897.7	6038519.2	1341.8	1341.6
SMB05	638890.2	6038515.5	1342.0	1341.8

Table 2.2Bore survey details

Notes: 1. mAHD = metres Australian Height Datum

2.4 Geology encountered during drilling

The main geological formations encountered during drilling on the plateau in-between Tantangara Reservoir and Snowy Mountains Highway were the Gooandra Volcanics formation, Temperance Formation, and the Boggy Plain Suite. The predominant lithology encountered was a greenish-grey siliceous igneous volcanic rock, and a greenishblue dacite. In the ravine region between Talbingo Reservoir and Lobs Hole Ravine road, in the Ravine Beds formation, the predominant geology was a fine-grained siltstone with sandstone, quartz and pyrite.

Table 2.3 provides a summary of geology encountered during drilling.

Table 2.3 Geology

Bore ID	Total depth (mBGL) ¹	Screened formation	Screened lithology
PB01	60	Kellys Plains Volcanics	Dacite; medium greenish blue grey
PB03	215	Boggy Plain Suite	Volcanic rock; medium greenish grey
PB04	200	Gooandra Volcanics	Volcanic rock; medium grey, siliceous
PB05	100	Ravine Beds	Siltstone; medium grey, fine grained
SMB02	195	Boggy Plain Suite	Dacite; medium greenish grey black
SMB03	50	Temperance Formation	Dacite; medium to dark grey
SMB04	180	Gooandra Volcanics	Volcanic rock; medium grey
SMB05	50	Gooandra Volcanics	Volcanic rock; medium grey

Note: 1. mBGL = metres below ground level

2.5 Groundwater flow

Except for SMB02 (2 L/s), all constructed bores had a yield of <0.2 L/s at first cut during drilling. PB04, SMB02, SMB03 and SMB04 had a yield of >2 L/s at screened depth during drilling, whilst the remaining bores had yields of <1 L/s. No readings were taken at SMB05 during drilling due to low flow.

A summary of groundwater flow for all bores drilled during the Stage 2 program is presented in Table 2.4. This table includes key information collected during drilling and at the end of airlift development when yield conditions had stabilised.

Table 2.4 Groundwater flow

Bore ID	First water cut (mBGL) ¹	Rate at first cut (L/s)	Screen depth (mBGL)	Rate at screen (L/s)	Final airlifting yield (L/s)
PB01	12.5	<0.1	open hole from 30 m	<0.1	0.1
PB03	24	0.1	open hole from 200 m	0.1	<0.1
PB04	66	0.2	185-200	2	2
PB05	51.96	0.1	open hole from 55 m	0.1	0.1
SMB02	17	2	182-194	3	3
SMB03	12	0.1	40-49	3	3
SMB04	72	0.1	170-179	3	3

Table 2.4Groundwater flow

Bore ID	First water cut (mBGL) ¹	Rate at first cut (L/s)	Screen depth (mBGL)	Rate at screen (L/s)	Final airlifting yield (L/s)
SMB05	19	-	40-49	-	-
Noto: 1 mP	CI - matrice balance ground lave	I			

Note: 1. mBGL = metres below ground level

2. No readings were taken at SMB05 due to low flow

2.6 Groundwater quality

A summary of groundwater quality is presented in Table 2.5. This table includes key information collected during drilling and at the end of airlift development when physico-chemical conditions had stabilised.

Electrical conductivity (EC) values at all constructed bores are considered 'fresh' as the highest recorded EC value at a screened interval was 177.4 μ S/cm at PB05. All other bores recorded EC values of below 100 μ S/cm at screened interval. pH measurements were consistently between 7.5 and 8.5 at the screened interval at all Stage 2 constructed bores.

PB01 and PB03 were airlift developed until dry, resulting in no stabilisation measurement being taken at the end of development. Similarly, due to low flow, no sample was obtained at stabilisation for PB05. No water quality readings were taken at SMB05 during drilling due to low flow.

Bore ID	EC at screen (µS/cm) ¹	pH at screen	EC at stabilisation (µS/cm)	pH at stabilisation
PB01	59.7	7.58	dry	dry
PB03	62.8	7.92	dry	dry
PB04	36.6	8.25	117.3	7.65
PB05	177.4	7.98	_2	_2
SMB02	66.5	7.46	94.9	7.7
SMB03	69.7	8.2	51.2	7.59
SMB04	91.3	8.51	111.7	8.31
SMB05 ²	-	-	-	-

Table 2.5Groundwater quality

Note: $1. \mu$ S/cm = microsiemens per centimetre

2. No water quality readings were taken due to low flow

3 Field testing

3.1 Pumping tests

3.1.1 Pumping test methodology

Aquamann Irrigation was engaged by EMM to complete constant rate pumping tests at PB01, PB03, PB04, and PB05. Groundwater level was measured using automatic dataloggers and manual water level meters at regular intervals at both the production bores and respective shallow and deep monitoring bores. Field water quality parameters (pH, EC, DO%, temperature, and ORP) were also collected at regular intervals during each pumping test.

After analysis of slug test data from surrounding monitoring bores, it was determined that aquifer testing at each test production bore should consist of a 72-hour constant rate pumping test (CRT). Where possible, each test was preceded by a step rate test (SRT) (4 one-hour steps) to confirm pump selection and pumping rates for the CRT. Recovery of water levels were monitored, where possible, for up to 15 hours following the completion of the CRT. Target drawdown for the pump tests was over 40% of the available head to adequately stress the aquifer.

Due to the low yield and inflow rate at PB01, the pumping test was performed with intermittent pumping which kept the drawdown within 2.5 m of the base of the bore. The constant-drawdown test extended over a period of 38 hours and consisted of 156 drawdown and recovery cycles. In each cycle, the aquifer was pumped for approximately two minutes at a rate of 6.75 L/min on average, followed by a recovery period of 12-13 minutes.

All water extracted from the test production bores during pumping was disposed of in accordance with the Snowy 2.0 review of environmental factors (REF). There were no instances of uncontrolled release of water; water was discharged only when it met the water quality criteria specified in the REF.

A pumping test summary is provided in Table 3.1, and pumping test reports are presented in Appendix D.

Table 3.1Pumping test summary table

Production bore	Date	Test duration	Pumping time	Recovery time	Constant discharge rate (L/s) ¹	Formation	Deep observation bore (distance from production bore)	Shallow observation bore (distance from production bore)
PB01	25/06/18 – 27/06/18	39 hours	_2	_2	0.1	Kelly's Plain Volcanics	BH116 (28.7m)	BH115 (180m)
PB03	02/07/18 – 03/07/18	11.5 hours	12 mins	11.25 hours	<0.1	Temperance Formation/ Boggy Plain Suite	SMB02 (7.4m)	SMB03 (11.8m)
PB04	28/03/18 – 01/04/18	95 hours	70 hours	15 hours	0.7	Gooandra Volcanics	SMB04 (10.8m)	SMB05 (10.8m)
PB05	06/08/18 - 08/08/18	71 hours	67 hours	4 hours	0.69 - 0.86	Ravine Beds	BH7106 (15m)	-

Note: 1. L/s = litres per second. 2.intermitant pumping and recovery cycled over 39 hour period to maintain drawdown due to low-flow.

3.1.2 Pumping test results

Water level data was collected throughout the pumping tests both manually, using electronic dip meters, and automatically via dataloggers. The data was evaluated using two different aquifer test analysis programs, AqteSolv and MLU, to estimate aquifer properties. AqteSolv is industry-leading software that allows for aquifer test interpretation using a range of solutions that are applicable to various aquifer types and test conditions. MLU is based on a single hybrid analytical solution that can handle a variety of test conditions and as such is useful for quickly estimating aquifer properties. Additionally, MLU can evaluate aquifer tests performed in multi-aquifer systems, allowing for layer-by-layer estimations of transmissivity and storativity.

Hydraulic conductivity (K) values for PB01, PB04 and PB05 were calculated by analysing drawdown data gathered throughout the duration of the pumping test. Due to low flow at PB03, there were not enough data points available for modelling the drawdown portion of the pumping test. Therefore, to model this test, AqteSolv was used to fit a curve to the late time recovery data up to 30 days after the cessation of pumping.

Table 3.2 details hydraulic conductivity and storativity results for bores drilled during the Stage 2 program.

Table 3.2 Aquifer properties

Bore ID	Kh1 (m/d)2	Kv³ (m/d)	S (-)
PB01	0.0046 - 0.013	0.010	1.9 ⁻⁷ - 2.6 ⁻⁵
PB03	8.81e-8 - 9.07e-8	-	-
PB04	0.01 - 0.032	0.017	2.5 ⁻⁴ - 3.9 ⁻⁴
PB05	7.70E-04	0.035	6.30E-05

Notes: 1.Kh = horizontal hydraulic conductivity 2.m/d = metres a day 3.Kv = vertical hydraulic conductivity

Pump test results are summarised as follows:

- **PB01** the estimated horizontal hydraulic conductivity (Kh) ranged between 0.0046 and 0.013 metres per day (m/d). The vertical hydraulic conductivity was calculated at 0.01 m/d suggesting a slightly higher vertical connectivity. Storativity at PB01 ranged between 1.9⁻⁷ to 2.6⁻⁵ which is considered representative of the local geology of fractured dacite.
- **PB03** the pumping test lasted 11.5 hours with just 12 minutes of pumping time due to lack of water and slow recharge. With this information the horizontal hydraulic conductivity was estimated to range between 8.81⁻⁸ and 9.07⁻⁸ m/d.
- **PB04** the estimated horizontal hydraulic conductivity ranged between 0.01 and 0.032 m/d and a vertical hydraulic conductivity of 0.017 m/d suggesting a similar horizontal and vertical connectivity. Storativity at PB04 ranged between 2.5⁻⁴ to 3.9⁻⁴ which is considered representative of the local geology of fractured metabasalt.
- **PB05** after five hours of constant rate discharge electrical conductivity (EC) values changed significantly and pumping rate and groundwater level stabilised indicating that the aquifer had reached a recharge boundary, meaning the recharge zone became dewatered and recharge flowed steadily from adjacent aquifers. Prior to dewatering the recharge zone (the first five hours of pump testing), horizontal hydraulic

conductivity was more prominent than vertical response whereas after dewatering, vertical hydraulic conductivity became more apparent. Horizontal hydraulic conductivity ranged between 3.7^{-3} and 3.3^{-4} m/d. Storativity ranged between 6.3^{-5} to 2.6^{-5} which is considered representative of the local geology of fractured siltstone and sandstone.

Groundwater levels continued to be monitored every six hours using automatic (Solinst[™]) dataloggers. The data from these loggers is retrieved monthly and analysed for seasonal variations against rainfall data or an event triggering a change. Hydrographs illustrating groundwater level changes can be found in Appendix E.

3.2 Groundwater quality monitoring

3.2.1 Groundwater sampling methodology

An initial round of groundwater quality monitoring was completed as part of the regular monitoring schedule for Snowy 2.0 monitoring bores, following the construction and aquifer testing of all Stage 2 bores.

A low flow sampling method was used to collect groundwater samples. During purging, physico-chemical parameters (pH, EC, ORP, DO% and temperature) were measured, and a representative groundwater sample collected when the parameters stabilised. Comprehensive analysis is completed by NATA-accredited laboratory ALS. Analytes are shown in Table 3.3.

Table 3.3	Groundwater	sampling	analytica	suite

Suite	Analytes
Physico-chemical properties	Field parameters (pH, EC, redox potential, DO%, temperature), Total Dissolved Solids (TDS), Total Suspended Solids (TSS)
Major ions	Calcium, magnesium, sodium, potassium, sulphate, chloride, alkalinity
Dissolved metals	Arsenic, cadmium, chromium, copper, fluoride, lead, magnesium, nickel, zinc
Nutrients	Ammonia as N, nitrite as N, nitrate as N, reactive phosphorous, phosphorous, total phosphorous

3.2.2 QA/QC procedures

Quality Assurance and Quality Control (QA/QC) procedures were completed during sampling to ensure field and laboratory procedures are followed accurately and equipment is calibrated. The field sampling procedures conformed to EMM's quality assurance/quality control (QA/QC) protocols to prevent cross contamination and preserve sample integrity. Sampling and reporting were conducted in accordance with *Geoscience Australia's Groundwater Sampling and Analysis – A Field Guide* (Sundaram 2009) and EMM's water sampling Standard Operating Procedure document. The following QA/QC procedures were applied:

- calibration of equipment;
- unstable parameters were analysed in the field (physico-chemical parameters);
- samples were collected in clearly labelled bottles with appropriate preservation solutions;
- samples were delivered to the laboratories within the specified holding times;

- field duplicate samples (QA samples) were collected at a rate of one in ten samples; and
- samples were kept chilled and gloves were worn during sampling.

The laboratories conduct their own internal QA/QC program to assess the repeatability of the analytical procedures and instrument accuracy. These programs include analysis of laboratory sample duplicates, spike samples, certified reference standards, surrogate standards/spikes and laboratory blanks. In addition, a duplicate sample is collected in the field for every ten samples collected to assess sampling and laboratory analysis accuracy.

3.2.3 Groundwater sampling results

Groundwater quality results collected from July 2018 to March 2019 are summarised in Table 3.4 with ANZECC 2000 Freshwater 99% trigger values for reference.

Laboratory certificates are presented in Appendix F.

The groundwater quality results averaged in Table 3.4 are reasonably comparable between the different target formations across the Stage 2 boreholes:

- pH is slightly alkaline at all sites;
- DO% is relatively low at all sites except PB05 in the Ravine Beds where it averaged 74.06%;
- ORP at SMB03 and SMB05 indicates a reducing environment whereas results from all other sites indicate oxidising environments;
- alkalinity is highest at PB05 in the Ravine Beds formation which is typical of a limestone dominated location whereas the lowest average alkalinity is in the Gooandra Volcanics particularly at PB04;
- total organic carbon (TOC) is generally very low except at SMB03 in the Boggy Plains Suite formation where it averages 21.4 milligrams per litre (mg/L), almost three times the second highest result of 8.6 mg/L at SMB05 in the Gooandra Volcanics;
- the concentrations of major ions and dissolved metals are low for most samples collected from each groundwater system, with many measurements below detection limits. This is typical of groundwater with reasonably neutral pH;
- sulphate concentrations are generally low across the Stage 2 boreholes however, higher concentrations (averaging 34.7 mg/L) were found at SMB05. This could be caused by natural sulphate sources, specifically the dissolution/oxidation of pyrite which is common in the Gooandra Volcanics;
- iron concentrations are low except at SMB03 in the Boggy Plains Suite where average filtered iron concentrations are 1.2 mg/L; and
- nutrient concentrations are relatively low at all bores across all locations with the exception of nitrogen at SMB03, in the Boggy Plain Suite, which had a mean (total) nitrogen concentration of 0.82 mg/L during the reported period.

Parameters	Units	Site	PB01	PB04	PB05	SMB02	SMB03	SMB04	SMB05
Formation		ANZECC 99% protection guidelines	Kelly's Plain Volcanics	Gooandra Volcanics	Ravine Beds	Boggy Plain Suite	Boggy Plain Suite	Gooandra Volcanics	Gooandra Volcanics
Field Parameters									
Temp (Field)	°C		13.33	11.28	20.46	13.35	11.95	12.20	12.58
Dissolved Oxygen - % Saturation (Filtered)	%		15.96	17.72	74.06	47.97	21.75	14.12	15.18
Dissolved Oxygen (Field)	mg/L		1.24	1.87	6.35	4.91	2.36	1.49	1.61
Electrical Conductivity (field)	uS/cm		135.20	92.35	180.66	200.50	187.82	132.38	208.45
pH (Field)	pH_Units		9.08	8.67	7.91	7.74	7.15	8.10	7.74
Redox / oxidation reduction potential (Field)	mV		62.78	7.48	75.04	64.28	-23.22	17.38	-70.73
Total Dissolved Solids (Field)	mg/L		95.74	62.73	120.78	130.47	121.99	86.02	135.45
Analytical results - general									
Alkalinity (total) as CaCO3	mg/L		70.67	36.50	79.20	85.17	72.67	52.50	58.17
Hardness as CaCO3 (Filtered)	mg/L		55.00	33.25	74.75	75.50	67.75	44.25	67.25
Total Dissolved Solids	mg/L		93.50	64.67	114.80	140.00	145.33	92.00	153.17
Analytical results - nutrients									
Ammonia as N	mg/L	0.32	0.02	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.33	0.01	0.01
Nitrite + Nitrate as N	mg/L	0.017	0.02	0.01	0.28	0.15	0.03	0.02	0.07
Kjeldahl Nitrogen Total	mg/L		0.10	0.33	0.10	0.27	0.82	0.13	0.45
Nitrogen (Total)	mg/L		0.13	0.33	0.36	0.40	0.82	0.13	0.50
Reactive Phosphorus as P	mg/L		<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.01
Phosphorus	mg/L		0.078	0.016	0.067	0.036	0.102	0.027	0.480
Total Organic Carbon	mg/L		4.8	1.8	1.0	2.8	21.4	2.0	8.6

Table 3.4Mean groundwater quality results (July 2018 – January 2019)

Parameters	Units	Site	PB01	PB04	PB05	SMB02	SMB03	SMB04	SMB05
Formation		ANZECC 99% protection guidelines	Kelly's Plain Volcanics	Gooandra Volcanics	Ravine Beds	Boggy Plain Suite	Boggy Plain Suite	Gooandra Volcanics	Gooandra Volcanics
Nitrate (as N)	mg/L		0.026	0.013	0.282	0.280	0.033	0.027	0.065
Nitrite (as N)	mg/L		<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.02	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01
Major ions									
Calcium (Filtered)	mg/L		10.5	12.2	17.6	25.5	20.2	17.7	26.7
Chloride	mg/L		2	<1	1	2.3	6.4	1.0	3.2
Magnesium (Filtered)	mg/L		6.5	1	7.6	2	2.8	<1	1
Sodium (Filtered)	mg/L		10.3	5.3	9.0	11.3	15.2	6.0	12.8
Potassium (Filtered)	mg/L		1	<1	1.6	1.8	<1	<1	1
Sulphate as SO4 - Turbidimetric (Filtered)	mg/L		8.4	11.0	16.2	9.3	16.2	13.7	34.7
Fluoride	mg/L		0.11	0.15	0.16	0.33	0.2	<0.01	0.13
Metals									
Aluminium (Filtered)	mg/L	0.027	<0.01	<0.01	0.02	0.06	0.03	0.01	0.02
Arsenic (Filtered)	mg/L		<0.001	<0.001	0.001	<0.001	<0.001	0.019	0.006
Barium (Filtered)	mg/L		0.037	0.092	0.059	0.018	0.030	0.009	0.019
Beryllium (Filtered)	mg/L		<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Boron (Filtered)	mg/L	0.09	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05
Cadmium (Filtered)	mg/L	0.00006	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001
Chromium (III+VI) (Filtered)	mg/L		<0.001	<0.001	0.001	0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Cobalt (Filtered)	mg/L		<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Copper (Filtered)	mg/L	0.001	0.001	0.002	0.003	0.004	0.002	0.003	0.002

Table 3.4Mean groundwater quality results (July 2018 – January 2019)

Parameters	Units	Site	PB01	PB04	PB05	SMB02	SMB03	SMB04	SMB05
Formation		ANZECC 99% protection guidelines	Kelly's Plain Volcanics	Gooandra Volcanics	Ravine Beds	Boggy Plain Suite	Boggy Plain Suite	Gooandra Volcanics	Gooandra Volcanics
Iron (Filtered)	mg/L		0.07	0.0925	<0.05	0.08	1.2	<0.05	<0.05
Lead (Filtered)	mg/L	0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Manganese (Filtered)	mg/L	1.2	0.025	0.024	0.005	0.004	0.149	0.004	0.152
Mercury (Filtered)	mg/L	0.00006	<0.001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	0.0001	<0.0001
Nickel (Filtered)	mg/L	0.008	0.001	<0.001	0.001	0.001	0.002	0.001	0.001
Selenium (Filtered)	mg/L	0.005	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01
Silver (Filtered)	mg/L	0.00002	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Vanadium (Filtered)	mg/L		<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01
Zinc (Filtered)	mg/L	0.0024	<0.005	0.005	0.009	0.041	0.029	0.009	0.008
Alkalinity									
Alkalinity (Bicarbonate as CaCO3)	mg/L		60.83	36.17	79.20	85.17	72.67	52.50	58.17
Alkalinity (Carbonate as CaCO3)	mg/L		11.8	1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Alkalinity (Hydroxide) as CaCO3	mg/L		<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Inorganics									
Anions Total	meq/L		1.603	0.960	1.938	1.962	1.938	1.338	1.972
Cations Total	meq/L		1.512	0.855	1.936	1.962	1.900	1.143	1.933
Cyanide Total	mg/L	0.004	<0.004	<0.004	<0.004	<0.004	<0.004	<0.004	<0.004
Organics									
Methane	mg/L		<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01

Table 3.4Mean groundwater quality results (July 2018 – January 2019)

References

Butler, J.J., Jr. 1988, *Pumping tests in nonuniform aquifers—the radially symmetric case*, Journal of Hydrology, vol. 101, pp. 15-30.

NUDLC 2012, *Minimum Construction Requirements for Water Bores in Australia National Third edition*, Australian Government National Water Commission, Uniform Drillers Licensing Committee

Sundaram B, Feitz A, de Caritat P, Plazinska A, Brodie R, Coram J and Ransley T 2009. *Groundwater Sampling and Analysis – a Field Guide*, Geoscience Australia

Wallis, L. Goode, J. EMM Consulting & Snowy Hydro Limited, Snowy 2.0 Feasability Study Submission L, *Review of Environmental Factors; groundwater monitoring bore drilling program*, November 2017

ANZECC 2000, Australian and New Zealand guidelines for fresh and marine water quality, National water quality management strategy, vol. 1. Australian Water Association.

Appendix A Monitoring bore licence

NSW Office of Water

Murrumbidgee Region Yanco Agricultural Institute Pri 2198 Irrigation Way East Yanco NSW 2703 Phone: (02) 69512611

BORE LICENSE CERTIFICATE UNDER SECTION 115 OF THE WATER ACT, 1912 40BL192701

NSW Department of Primary Industries Office of Water

Snowy Hydro Limited Po Box 332 Cooma NSW 2630

LICENSE NUMBER 40BL192701 DATE LICENSE VALID FROM 22-Dec-2017 DATE LICENSE VALID TO PERPETUITY FEE \$0.00 ABN 72189919072 GST NIL

LOCATION OF WORKSPortion(s) or Lot/Section/DPPARISHCOUNTYRPinbeyanBuccleuch2//756723TantangaraWallace

TYPE OF WORKS Bore - Monitoring PURPOSE(S) FOR WHICH WATER MAY BE USED Monitoring Bore

CONDITIONS APPLYING TO THIS LICENSE ARE

As shown on the attached Condition Statement

|--|

NSW Office of Water

CONDITIONS STATEMENT REFERRED TO ON 40BL192701 ISSUED UNDER PART V OF THE WATER ACT, 1912 ON 22-Dec-2017

(1) THE LICENCE SHALL LAPSE IF THE WORK IS NOT COMMENCED AND COMPLETED WITHIN THREE YEARS OF THE DATE OF THE ISSUE OF THE LICENCE.

(2) THE LICENSEE SHALL WITHIN TWO MONTHS OF COMPLETION OR AFTER THE ISSUE OF THE LICENSE IF THE WORK IS EXISTING, FURNISH TO NSW OFFICE OF WATER:-

(A) DETAILS OF THE WORK SET OUT IN THE ATTACHED FORM "A" (MUST BE COMPLETED BY A DRILLER).

(B) A PLAN SHOWING ACCURATELY THE LOCATION OF THE WORK, IN RELATION TO PORTION AND PROPERTY BOUNDARIES.

(C) A ONE LITRE WATER SAMPLE FOR ALL LICENCES OTHER THAN THOSE FOR STOCK, DOMESTIC, TEST BORES AND FARMING PURPOSES.

(D) DETAILS OF ANY WATER ANALYSIS AND/OR PUMPING TESTS.

(3) THE LICENSEE SHALL ALLOW NSW OFFICE OF WATER OR ANY PERSON AUTHORISED BY IT, FULL AND FREE ACCESS TO THE WORKS, EITHER DURING OR AFTER CONSTRUCTION, FOR THE PURPOSE OF CARRYING OUT INSPECTION OR TEST OF THE WORKS AND ITS FITTINGS AND SHALL CARRY OUT ANY WORK OR ALTERATIONS DEEMED NECESSARY BY THE DEPARTMENT FOR THE PROTECTION AND PROPER MAINTENANCE OF THE WORKS, OR THE CONTROL OF THE WATER EXTRACTED AND FOR THE PROTECTION OF THE QUALITY AND THE PREVENTION FROM POLLUTION OR CONTAMINATION OF SUB-SURFACE WATER.

(4) IF A WORK IS ABANDONED AT ANY TIME THE LICENSEE SHALL NOTIFY NSW OFFICE OF WATER THAT THE WORK HAS BEEN ABANDONED AND SEAL OFF THE AQUIFER BY:-

(A) BACKFILLING THE WORK TO GROUND LEVEL WITH CLAY OR CEMENT AFTER WITHDRAWING THE CASING (LINING); OR

(B) SUCH METHODS AS AGREED TO OR DIRECTED BY NSW OFFICE OF WATER.

(5) IF THE BORE AUTHORISED BY THIS LICENSE IS LINED WITH STEEL OR PLASTIC CASING THE INSIDE DIAMETER OF THAT CASING SHALL NOT EXCEED 220 MM.

(6) WATER SHALL NOT BE PUMPED FROM THE BORE AUTHORISED BY THIS LICENSE FOR ANY PURPOSE OTHER THAN GROUNDWATER INVESTIGATION.

End Of Conditions

Appendix B



			Dff of V	ice Vat	er		F	or	m A	A F	Par	tic	ular	's C	of o	com	npl	ete	əd	WO Pag	rk je 1
Driller's	s Licen	ce No		1771				1	W	ork	Lice	ence	No [.]	PB	01						2
Class	of Licer	nce:	CL	ass 4				-	Na	ame	of I	icen	See.								
Driller's	s Name	e:	Br	ett De	lamor	nt			Int	tond	1 10 hal		300.	Mc	nito	nina	Bor	ē			
Assista	ant Drill	er		ellov V	Ville					omn	letic	030. m Da	nto:	IVIC	mic	Jing		31_05_18			-18
Contro										лпр							31-03-10				
Contra	ctor.			ghland		ng				RIL		g de				3					3
New b	ore		×	Replac	cement	bore				Fror	n		То		Hole	Diamo	eter	Dril	rilling Method		
Deepe	ned			Enlarg	ed					(m))		(m)			(mm)			See	Code 3	
Recon	ditione	d		Other	(specif	y)				0			30		-	190.5	;			9	
Final D)epth	60	m							30			60			99				9	
		00																			
WAT	ER BE		IG Z	ONES																	4
					E٤	stimate	ed Yie	eld		Tes	t	D	DL		Dura	tion		ę	Salir	nity	<u> </u>
From	То	Thick	ness	SWL		(L	/s)		m	nethe	od	at en	d of test				(Co	ondu	ctivi	ty or T	DS)
(m)	(m)	(r	n)	(m)	Individ	dual	Cumul	lative	Se		1o 4	((m)	H	rs	min	Co	nd		TDS	
					Aqui	fer			50								(µS/	′cm)	((mg/L))
51	52		1		<0.	1	<0	.1	1		A						59).7		39	
							_						_			_				_	_
CASI	NG / L	INER	DET	AILS		11	- 11 -														5
Material	OD	W	Wall From To Method				Ca	sing	sup	por	t me	thod			See Coo	de 5		6			
		Thick	ness			Fixing				_					-						
Code 5	(mm)	(m	im)	(m)	(m)	Code	5	Ту	pe o	be of casing bottom						See Coo	de 5		1		
9	130	4	.2	0	30	2	Cen	ntralis	sers i	ers installed (Yes/No)				(indica	ate on ske	etch)					
							Sun	np in:	stalle	talled {Yes/No)				From				m	То		m
							Pre	ssure	e cerr	nent	ed	{Yes/I	No)		Fro	om		m	То		m
							Cas	sing F	Protec	ctor	cem	nente	d in pla	ace							
WAT		TRY I	DESI	GN																	6
				Gene	ral					s	cree	en 🛛				Slot D	Detai	ils			
Material	OD	W	all	From	То	Ope	ning	Fix	ing	Ap	perti	ure	Ler	ngth		Wid	th		Alig	nment	t
		Thick	ness			ty	pe														
Code 5	(mm)	(m	ım)	(m)	(m)	See C	ode 6	See C	ode 5	((mm	1)	(m	nm)		(mm	ו)		See	Code 6	
		open	hole	30	60					Ор	en h	nole	no ca	asir	ng						
										11											
GRA	VEL P					1					1		_	-							7
							Gra	in siz	ze				Dept	h				Qu	anti	ty	
-	Tvne			Grade		Fre)	Τo			From			Τo		itre	s		m ³	
Ro	ounded			Grad	ded	N	0	Grav	/el P	ack	Op	en ho	ole				2				
C	rushed			Unarad	ded		-				P										
Benton	ite/Gro										1			-							
Method		01 300	t of C	ravel De	ack	Sec	Code 7	7		1					Ċ						
		GINEN													1						
For D	epartm	ental	use	only:		C	3 W														

Scientific and Technical Operating Procedures Form: A Issue: 3 Date issued: 28Aug2009



Form A Particulars of completed work

Page 2

	Work Licence No: PB01												
				BO	RE DEVEL	OPMENT				8			
Chemical ι	ised for breaki	ng down dri	lling mud	(Yes/No)	No	Name:							
Method	Bailing/Surgin	ig Je	etting	Airlift	ing X	Backwashing	Pi	umping	Other:				
Duration		hrs	hrs		0.5 hrs		hrs	hrs		hrs			
			D	ISINFE	CTION ON	COMPLETIO	N			9			
	Chemical	(s) used		Q	uantity appl	ied (Litres)		Method of a	application				
			PU	MPING	TESTS O	N COMPLETI	ON	-		10			
	Teet	Date	Pump	Initial Water	Pumping	Water Level	Duration		Recovery				
1	type	Duit	depth	Level	rate	pumping	of Test	Water	Time	taken			
			(m)	(SWL)	(1/s)	(DDL)	(hrs)	level (m)	(hrs)	(mins)			
Stage 1				(111)		(11)	(1113)		(1113)	(11113)			
Multi stage	Stage 2												
(stepped	Stage 3												
drawdown)	Stage 4												
Single stag	je ate)												
Height of measuring point above ground level m Test Method See Code 4													
WORK PARTLY BACKFILLED OR ABANDONED 11 Original depth of work: m la work partly backfilled; v=val													
le work ab	put of work.	(Yes/No)] M	athod of	abandonme	work partiy ba			Cann	ed			
	alluolleu.	in the work											
					<u> </u>								
Sealing See C	/ fill type ode 11	From dep	th	lode (m	pth	Sealing / fill ty See Code 11	/pe F	rom depth	Io	depth (m)			
		(11)		(III))			(111)		(111)			
Site chosen	by: Hydroged	ologist X	Geolo	gist	Driller	Diviner	Clien	nt Oth	er	12			
	, , , ,	3 📉				1							
Lot No		DP N			0050.0					13			
Work Loca	ation Co ordir	nates 1	Easting	64	19253.9	Northing	603816	3.8	Zone	<mark>55</mark>			
GPS:	(Yes/No) Yes	>>	•	AMG	/AGD	or	MGA/GDA	X	(See explan	ation)			
Diagon	mark the work	oito with "V	(" on the		ovided men								
Indicate	also the dista	nces in met	res from t	сцо ри wo (2) a	diacent bou	Indaries, and a	ittach the m	ap to this Fo	rm A packa	ade.			
					-,			р		.9			
	\bigwedge				Signatu	res:							
Driller:	HAV	X			Licens	see:							
	<u>k-</u> /				- -								
Date:	03/09/20	018			Date:								



Page 3

NSW	Office
GOVERNMENT	of Water

Work Licence No: PB01

Depth Description WORK CONSTRUCTION From To SKETCH SKETCH 0 1 SOLL medium redidish brown, extremely weathered, High clay content Image: SketCh image:	D	RILLER'	S ROCK/S		1							
From (m) To (m) SKETCH 0 1 SOIL medium reddish brown, extremely weathered, High clay content 1 Image: SKETCH 1 7 GRAVEL medium reddish brown, extremely weathered, dundart, quart, Coare grand 7 Image: SKETCH 1 7 GRAVEL medium trownich orange, obtamish blue grey, chlorite, altered; minor, quartz Image: SKETCH 1 7 GRAVEL medium trownich orange, obtamish blue grey, chlorite, altered; minor, quartz Image: SKETCH 1 7 GRAVEL medium trownich orange, obtamish blue grey, chlorite, altered; minor, quartz Image: SKETCH 1 7 GRAVEL medium trownich orange, obtamish blue grey, chlorite, altered; minor, quartz Image: SKETCH 1 7 GRAVEL medium trownich orange, obtamish blue grey, chlorite, altered; minor, quartz Image: SKETCH 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	De	pth			Description			WOF	RK CON	STRL	лты	ON
(m) (From	То			See Code 15				SKE	тсн		
0 1 SOIL medium reddish brown, extremely weathered, High clay content I	(m)	(m)										
1 7 GitWATE. medium troomatio arange. externey weathered, abundant, quartz. Coarte graned 1	0	1	SOIL medi	um reddish bro ^v	wn <mark>, extremely weath</mark> e	ə <mark>red, High clay co</mark>	ntent					
7 60 DACITE medium greenish blue grey, chlorite, altered; minor, quartz 1	1	7	GRAVEL medi	ium brownish orange	, extremely weathered, abu	ndant, quartz, Coarse g	rained					
Image: Second	7	60	DACITE n	nedium greenis	h blue grey, chlorite	, altered; minor, o	<mark>juartz</mark>					
Image: Seven analysis of aquifer material Image: Seven analysi												
Image: Second												
indication indication <td></td>												
Image: Sector of the sector												
indication indication <td></td>												
instant												
index index <td< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></td<>												
Image: Second of the second												
Image: Second												
Image: Second												
Image: Second												
Image: Section of the section of th												
Image: Seven analysis of water Sample I											'	
a a												
Image: Second												
Image: Series of a seri												
Image: Second												
Image: Second												
Image: And the second secon												
Image: Second												
Image: Second												
Image: Second												
Image: Normal and the second of the secon												
WORK NOT CONSTRUCTED BY DRILLING RIG 16 Method of excavation: Hand dug Back hoe Dragline Dozer Other 16 Depth Length Width Diameter Lining Dimentions of From Depth To Depth To Depth (m) Midth Diameter Lining Dimentions of From Depth To Depth (m) Installed Pump details (Yes/No) Installed Pump details Installed Pump det												
WORK NOT CONSTRUCTED BY DRILLING RIG 16 Method of excavation: Hand dug Back hoe Dragline Dozer Other Image: Colspan="6">Colspan="6">16 Depth Length Width Diameter Lining Dimentions of From Depth To Depth To Depth (m) (m) Image: Colspan="6">16 Depth Length Width Diameter Lining Dimentions of From Depth To Depth (m) (m) (m) To Depth (m) (m)<												
Method of excavation: Hand dug Back hoe Dragline Dozer Other Depth (m) Length (m) Width (m) Diameter (m) Lining material Dimentions of liner (m) From Depth (m) To Depth (m) Image: Comparison of the state of				WORK NOT	CONSTRUCTED	BY DRILLING	RIG					16
Depth (m) Length (m) Width (m) Diameter (m) Lining material Dimentions of liner (m) From Depth (m) To Depth (m) Image:	Method of ex	xcavation:	Hand dug	Back ho	Dragline	Dozer		Other				
(m) (m) (m) (m) material liner (m) (m) (m) (m) (m) (m) (m) (m) (m) (m) (m) (m) Geologist log (Yes/No) Yes Laboratory analysis of water Sample (Yes/No) Pumping test(s) (Yes/No) (Yes	Depth	Length	Width	Diameter	Lining	Dimentions	of	From I	Depth	T	o De	pth
Image: Second system Please attach copies of the following if available 17 Geologist log (Yes/No) Yes Laboratory analysis of water Sample (Yes/No) Pumping test(s) (Yes/No) 17 Geophysical log (Yes/No) Sieve analysis of aquifer material (Yes/No) Installed Pump details (Yes/No) 17	(m)	(m)	(m)	(m)	material	liner (m)		(m	n)		(m)	
Please attach copies of the following if available 17 Geologist log (Yes/No) Yes Laboratory analysis of water Sample (Yes/No) Pumping test(s) (Yes/No) 17 Geophysical log (Yes/No) Sieve analysis of aquifer material (Yes/No) Installed Pump details (Yes/No)												
Please attach copies of the following if available 17 Geologist log (Yes/No) Yes Laboratory analysis of water Sample (Yes/No) Pumping test(s) (Yes/No) Installed Pump details Installed Pu												
Geologist log (Yes/No) Yes Laboratory analysis of water Sample (Yes/No) Pumping test(s) (Yes/No) Geophysical log (Yes/No) Sieve analysis of aquifer material (Yes/No) Installed Pump details (Yes/No)				Please attac	h copies of the f	ollowing if avai	ilable					17
Geophysical log (Yes/No) Sieve analysis of aquifer material (Yes/No) Installed Pump details (Yes/No)	Geologist log	(Yes/No)	Yes	Laboratory analys	sis of water Sample	(Yes/No)	Pumpin	ıg test(s)	(Yes	/No)		
	Geophysical I	eophysical log (Yes/No) Sieve analysis of aquifer material (Yes/No) Installed Pump details (Yes/No)										

)ff	ice	0 K			Fori	m /	A F	Par	tic	ular	'S (of	con	npl	et	ed	WO Paç	rk ge 1
GOVER	NMENT			1012	er				14	low	Lier	nor	Net	DD	02						2
Class	of Licer			_ 1913 266 4				1	V\ N	/ork		ince	INO:	PD	03						2
Driller'	s Name	<u>э</u> .		ass 4 n Palk					IN In	ame		licen	isee.	Mc	nite	orina	hor	Ъ.			
Assist	ant Drill	er	S	n i aik	Ideor	hd		_	С С	omp	leu (letio	use. n Dr	ato:	IVIC	лпс	Jing	001	C	2	0-06	_18
Contro	ator:					iu														0-00	
Contra			기 기	gniand		ng		-	H									3			
New b	ore			Replac	cement	bor	e	-		Fror	n		Io		Hole	e Diam	leter	Dril	ling	Metho	bd
Deepe	ened		_	Enlarg	ed		_			(m))		(m)			(mm))		See	Code 3	
Recon	ditione	d		Other	(specif	y)				0			21			200	_			9	
Final D	Depth	60	m							21	<u> </u>		200			<u>190.</u>	2			9	
									200)		215			99				9		
WAT	ER BE		GΖ	ONES					- I			1		1			-				4
_	-	.			E	stima	ated Y	/ield		Tes	t.	D	DL		Dura	ition			Saliı	nity	
From		I hick	ness	SWL	Individ) 	L/s)		r	neth	od	at en	nd of test		ra	min		ondu	ctivi		DS)
(11)	(11)		1)			fer	Cun	nulative	Se	ee Coo	de 4		(11)		15	111111	(uS)	/cm)		(ma/L)
				157.72	7 (qui												(p. c,)		(mg/ E	/
					Se	е	Atta	ached													
CAS	NG / L	INER	DET	AILS																	5
Material	OD	Wall From To Method					Ca	sing	sup	por	t me	ethod			See Co	de 5		2	{	1	
		Thick	ness			Fix	ing														_
Code 5	(mm)	(m	m)	(m)	(m)	Cod	e 5	Ту	pe c	e of casing bottom See Code 5					1						
9	219.1			0	21	6	5 C	entralis	sers	insta	lled	{Yes/	'No)		(indic	ate on sl	(etch)				
9	130			0	200	6	S S	ump ins	stalle	alled {Yes/No)		10	Fr	om		m	То		m		
							P	ressure	e cer	nent	ed	{Yes/	'No) N	10	Fr	om		m	То		m
							С	asing F	Prote	ctor	cem	nente	ed in pla	ace							
WAT	ER EN	TRY [DESI	GN																	6
				Gene	ral					s	cree	en				Slot I	Deta	ils			
Material	OD	W	all	From	То	Op	ening	Fix	ing	A	pertu	ure	Ler	ngth		Width			Alig	nmen	t
Cada F	(100,000)	Thick	ness	(100)	(100)	t	ype	C	ada F		((Cada C	
Code 5	(mm)	(m Hc	m) Ne	(m) 200	(m) 215	See	Code	s See C	.ode 5		(mm)ne	n ((m	im) Ne		(mr	n)		See	Code 6	
				200	210						pc										
GRA	VEL P	ACK																			7
							G	rain siz	ze				Dept	h				Qı	ianti	ity	
								(mm)					(m)								
	Туре			Grade		F	rom		То		F	-rom	1		То		Litre	s		m³	
Ro	bunded			Grad		Op	en hol	e No	gra	vel											
	rushed		<u> </u>	Ungrad								4									
Bentor	nite/Gro	ut sea	 • -	(Yes/No)	Yes							1			20	00					
Method	a of plac	emen	t of G	ravel Pa	ack	S	ee Cod	e /													
For D	epartm	ental	use	only:	codurac		GV	V													

Scientific and Technical Operating Procedures Form: A Issue: 3 Date issued: 28Aug2009



Form A Particulars of completed work

Page 2

Work Licence No: PB03											
				BO	RE DEVEL	OPMENT				8	
Chemical u	used for breaki	ng down dri	illing mud	(Yes/No)	No	Name:					
Method	d Bailing/Surging Jetting			Airlifting Backwashing			g Pumping Othe				
Duration hrs hrs				hrs		hrs	hrs		hrs		
			D	ISINFE	CTION ON	COMPLETIO	N			9	
	Chemical	(s) used		Q	uantity app	lied (Litres)		Method of a	application		
PUMPING TESTS ON COMPLETION 10											
	Test	Date	Pump intake	Initial Water	Pumpina	Water Level	Duration	Recovery			
	type		depth	Level	rate	pumping	of Test	Water	Time	taken	
			(m)	(SWL) (m)	(L/s)	(DDL) (m)	(hrs)	level (m)	(hrs)	(mins)	
	Stage 1		()	()	(_, _ /	()	(()	((
Multi stage	e Stage 2										
(stepped	Stage 3										
drawdown)) Stage 4						<u> </u>				
(constant r	ate)										
Height of measuring point above ground level m Test Method See Code 4											
WORK PARTLY BACKFILLED OR ABANDONED 11 Original depth of work: m Is work partly backfilled: MacMail MacMail 11											
ls work ab	andoned.	(Yes/No)] Me	thod of	abandonme	ent Backfille	ed D	Plugged	Capp	ed	
Has any ca	asing been left	in the work	(Yes/	No)]	From		To	m		
Sooling	/ fill turno	Erom don	th	To do	l Inth	Sooling / fill tu				donth	
Sealing See C	ode 11	(m)		m) (m)	See Code 11		(m)	I o depth (m)		
					,					· · · ·	
Site chosen	by: Hydroge	ologist	Geolo	gist	Driller	Diviner	Clien	t Oth	ier	12	
					1	1					
	ation Co. ardir		Easting	6/	0645.2	Northing	602924	59	7000	<u>13</u>	
			Lasung			Norunny	003034	<u>5.0</u>		otion	
GP5:	(Yes/No) Yes		>	AMG	/AGD	or	MGA/GDA	X	(See explan	ation)	
Please	mark the work	site with "X	(" on the	CLID pr	ovided mar						
Indicate	also the dista	nces in met	res from t	wo (2) a	djacent bou	Indaries, and a	ittach the m	ap to this Fo	orm A packa	age.	
					Signatu	res:					
	1	1/1	1 /								
Driller:	<u> </u>	US GA	K		Licens	see:					
Date:	03/09/2018				Date:						



Page 3

NSW	Office
GOVERNMENT	of Water
	Office of Wate

Work Licence No: PB03

D	RILLER		1							
De	pth			Description	wor	WORK CONSTRUCTION				
From	То			See Code 15			SKE	тсн		
(m)	(m)									
0	1		SOIL dark	<mark>k brown, Organic</mark>	matter					
1	4	CLA	Y medium br	ownish orange, ł	nighly weathered	b				
4	215	VOLCANI	C ROCK light	greenish grey, mod	erately oxidised, pl	aty				
		<u> </u>								
						RIG			16	
Method of ex	xcavation:	Hand dug	Back ho	Dragline	Dozer	Other				
Depth	Length	Width	Diameter	Lining	Dimentions o	f From	Depth	To E	Depth	
(m)	(m)	(m)	(m)	material	liner (m)	(n	n)	()	m)	
			Please attac	h copies of the f	ollowing if availa	able			17	
Geologist log	(Yes/No)		Laboratory analys	sis of water Sample	(Yes/No)	umping test(s)	(Yes/	'No)]	
Geophysical l	og (Yes/No)		Sieve analysis of	aquifer material	(Yes/No)	nstalled Pump de	etails (Yes	No)]	

WAT	ER BE	ARING ZO	ONES									4	
				Estim	ated Yield	Test		DDL	Dura	ation	Salinity		
From	То	Thickness	SWL	. (L/s)		method		at end of test			(Conduc	tivity or TDS)	
(m)	(m)	(m)	(m)	Individual	Cumulative	See	e Code 4	(m)	Hrs	min	Cond	TDS	
00	0.4		457.70	Aquifer			•				(µS/cm)	(mg/L)	
23	24		157.72			1	A				70.1		
24	30					1	A				10.0		
30	30					1	A				02.0		
30	42					1	A				71.9		
42	48					1	A				78.1		
48	84					1	A				80		
84	88					1	A				00		
88	120					1	A				104		
120	120					1	A				110		
120	132					1	A				100		
132	130					1	A				100		
130	144					1	A				100		
144	150					1	A				04.0		
150	100					1	A				00.0		
100	102					1	A				0Z.J		
102	100						A				00.1		
100	102					1					02 /		
102	200					1					92.4 62.8		
200	200			<0.1		1					02.0		
200	210			-0.1		-					52		

NS		C	ר לא	ice	or		F	Forr	n A	A Pai	rticu	ular	s of	fco	mp	let	ed v	vork Page 1	
GOVER	NMENT s Licen	ce No		1013	er			4	We	ork Lice		Jo:	PRO	1				2	
Class	of Licer	nce:		ass 4				<u> </u>	Na	me of l	icens	NU.	1 00	+				2	
Driller'	s Name	e:	la	n Palk					Inte	Intended Use: Monitoring bore									
Assista	ant Drill	er:	Sc	ott Fie	eldsen	d			Со	mpletic	on Dat	te:			.9		23	-05-18	
Contractor: Highland Drilling					na			DF		G DE	TAILS	;					3		
New b	ore	X	-	Doplar		hore			F	rom	-	То	H	ole Di	ameter	· Dri	llina M	lethod	
Deepened Enlarged				DOLE	, <u>-</u>			(m)		(m)		(m	m)		See Co	nde 3			
Recon	econditioned Other (specify			V)				0		17		25	54		9				
				,				17		200		190	0.5		9				
Final D	Depth	200	m																
WΔT	FR BF		GZ	ONES												_			
			0 L		Es	stima	ted Yie	əld	T -	Test	D	DL	Du	ratior	า		Salinity		
From	То	Thick	Thickness S W L		(۱	_/s)		m	ethod	at end	l of test			(C	ondu	uctivity or TDS)			
(m)	(m)	(m	(m) (m) Indivi		Individ	lual	Cumu	lative	See	Code 4	(r	n)	Hrs	m	in C	ond	I TDS		
					Aqui	fer	er								(µ8	S/cm)	(m	ıg/L)	
					See	e	Attac	cnea											
														+					
CASI	NG / L		DFT											<u>.</u>	<u> </u>			5	
Material		W	all	From	То	Meth	od	Cas	sing	sunnor	t met	hod		See	Code 5		2		
Material		Thick	ness			Fixi	ng	Out	sing -	Suppor	t met	nou		500			-		
Code 5	(mm)	(mi	n)	(m)	(m)	Code	e 5	Тур	be of	casin	g boti	tom		See	Code 5		1		
9	274			0	17	6	Ce	ntralise	ers in	stalled	{Yes/N	o) N	O (in	dicate o	n sketch)				
9	130			0	185	6	Su	mp ins	stalled	b	{Yes/N	o) N	lo	From		m	То	m	
							Pre	essure	cem	ented	{Yes/N	o) N	o	From		m	То	m	
							Ca	sing P	rotec	tor cen	nentec	d in pla	ace			-			
WAT	ER EN	TRY D	ESI	GN														6	
				Gene	ral					Scre	en			Slo	ot Deta	ails			
Material	OD	Wa	all	From	То	Ope	ening	Fixi	ng	Apert	ure	Ler	igth	V	Vidth		Alignr	nent	
Code 5	(Thick	ness	((ty	/pe	6	de E	((6		
Code 5	(mm)	(mi	n) 2	(m) 185	(m) 200	See	Code 6	See Co	ode 5	(mr	1)	(m 10	m))0)	mm) 120		See Co	ae 6	
5	100	<u></u> .		100	200		1	0	, 					-	120				
GRA	VEL P	ACK																7	
							Gra	ain siz (mm)	е			Dept (m)	h			Qı	uantity	,	
	Гуре			Grade		F	rom		То		From		Т	0	Litres			m ³	
Ro	ounded	X		Grad	ded X		5		8		171			200					
С	rushed			Ungrad	ded														
Bentor	nite/Gro	ut sea		(Yes/No)	Yes						161			171					
Method	l of plac	ement	of G	ravel Pa	ack	Se	e Code	7	1										
For D	epartm	ental	use	only:			GW												

Scientific and Technical Operating Procedures Form: A Issue: 3 Date issued: 28Aug2009



Form A Particulars of completed work

Page 2

GOVERNMENT I OT VVCLCT Work Licence No: PB04												
	BORE DEVELOPMENT 8											
Chemical u	used for break	ing down dri	illing mud	(Yes/No)	No	Name:						
Method	Bailing/Surgir	ng Je	etting	Airlift	ing	Backwashing Pumping Other:						
Duration		hrs	hrs hrs 1				hrs	hrs		hrs		
	DISINFECTION ON COMPLETION 9											
	Chemical	(s) used		Q	uantity app	lied (Litres)		Method of	application			
PUMPING TESTS ON COMPLETION 10												
	Test	Pump Ir		Initial Water	Pumping	Water Level	Duration		Recovery			
	type	Date	depth	Level	rate	pumping	of Test	Water	Time	taken		
			(m)	(SWL)	(1/s)	(DDL)	(hrs)	level (m)	(hrs)	(mins)		
	Stage 1			(11)			(110)	(11)	(110)	(11110)		
Multi stage	s Stage 2											
(stepped	Stage 3											
drawdown)) Stage 4											
(constant r	je ate)											
Height of measuring point above ground level m Test Method See Code 4												
WORK PARTLY BACKFILLED OR ABANDONED 11 Original depth of work: m la work partly backfilled; multipled; multipl												
ls work ab	andoned.	(Yes/No)	Me	ethod of	abandonme	ent Backfille			Capp	ed		
Has any ca	asing been left	in the work	(Yes]	From						
				 			III			al a un tila		
Sealing See C	ode 11	(m)		ro de (m	To depth Sealing / fill t			(m)	I o depth (m)			
		()		`	,			()		< /		
Site chosen	by: Hydroge	ologist	Geolo	gist	Driller	Diviner	Clien	it Oth	ner	12		
]	1						
	ation Co. andir			6	20007	Northing	60205	20	Zono	<u>13</u>		
			Easting	0		Northing	00303	20		<u>55</u>		
GPS:	(Yes/No) Yes	>>	>	AMG	AGD	or	MGA/GDA	X	(See explan	ation)		
Please	mark the work	site with "X	(" on the	CLID pr	ovided mar							
Indicate	also the dista	nces in met	res from t	two (2) a	djacent bou	Indaries, and a	ttach the m	ap to this Fc	orm A packa	age.		
					-					<u> </u>		
					Signatu	res:						
	1	Λ	6									
Driller:	<u> </u>	55/all			Licen	see:						
Dato	03/09/2018	3			Dato							



Page 3

	Office of Water
--	--------------------

Work Licence No: PB04

D	RILLER'	15				5						
De	pth			Description			WOF	RK CON	STRU		ON	
From	То			See Code 15				SKE	тсн			
(m)	(m)											
0	1		CLAY light	brown, highly w	eathered							
1	5	CLAY light bro	wn, highly weathere	d, VOLCANIC ROCK, 5%	medium grey, highly o	xidised					1	
5	6	CLAY light bro	wn, highly weathere	d, VOLCANIC ROCK, 50%	medium grey, highly o	xidised						
6	14	VOLCANI	C ROCK, med	lium greyish blue, s	lightly oxidised,	platy					1	
14	200		VOLCAN	IC ROCK, mediu	ım grey						1	
											+	
											+	
											+	
											+	
											+	
									+			
											+	
										\square	+	
									\vdash	\vdash	+	
										\vdash	+	
									$\left - \right $	\vdash	+	
									\vdash	\vdash	+	\square
									\vdash	\vdash	+-	
									$\left \right $	\vdash	+	
									$\left - \right $	\vdash	—	-
											+-	_
											—	
									$\left - \right $	\square	+	
									\vdash	\square		
									\vdash	\square		\square
									$\left - \right $			
									$\left - \right $			
	l										╧	
			WORK NOT	CONSTRUCTED		RIG					1	6
Method of ex	xcavation:	Hand dug	Back ho	Dragline	Dozer	<u> </u>	Other					
Depth	Length	Width	Diameter	Lining	Dimentions	of	From I	Depth	Т	ა De	pth	
(m)	(m)	(m)	(m)	material	liner (m))	(m	1)	(m)			
			Please attac	h copies of the f	ollowing if ava	ilable					1	7
Geologist log	(Yes/No)	Yes	Laboratory analys	sis of water Sample	(Yes/No)	Pumpi	ng test(s)	(Yes	/No)			_
Geophysical lo	og (Yes/No)		Sieve analysis of	aquifer material	(Yes/No)	Installe	∍d Pump de	tails (Yes)	/No)			
WAT	ER BE	ARING 2	ZONES									4
------	-------	-----------	-------	-----------------------	-----------	-----	--------	----------------	------	-------	---------	-----------------
				Estima	ted Yield	-	Test	DDL	Dura	ation		Salinity
From	То	Thickness	SWL	(L/s)		m	ethod	at end of test			(Condu	ctivity or TDS)
(m)	(m)	(m)	(m)	Individual Cumulative		See	Codo 4	(m)	Hrs	min	Cond	TDS
				Aquifer		See	Code 4				(µS/cm)	(mg/L)
65	66	1	12.77	0.2	0.2	1	Α				105.4	
125	126	1		0.2 0.2 0.3		1	Α				44.7	
131	132	1		0.1	0.4	1	Α				45.3	
173	174	1		0.1	0.5	1	Α				39.2	
173	174	1		0.5 1		1	Α				35.4	
179	180	1		1	1	1	Α				36.2	

NS		0	ff	ice	or		I	For	m	A F	Par	rticı	ular	s of	cor	npl	et	ed w ⊦	o rk Page 1
GOVER	NMENT s Licen	ce No:		1913	er			1		Work	Lice	ence N	lo.	SMB	02				2
Class	of Licer	nce:	CI	ass 4					ľ	Name	of L	Licens	ee:	ONID	02				
Driller'	s Name	e:	la	n Palk						Intend	led	Use:		Moni	toring	Bor	e		
Assista	ant Drill	er:	Sc	ott Fie	eldser	ıd			(Comp	letic	on Dat	e:			<u> </u>		31-0)5-18
Contra	ctor:		Hi	ahland	d Drilli	na			F	DRIL	LIN	G DE	TAILS						3
New b	ore	X		Replac	cement	bore		1	F	Fro	m		То	Hc	le Dian	neter	Dril	ling Me	thod
Deepe	ened			Enlarg	ed	5010				(m)		(m)		(mm)		See Cod	e 3
Recon	ditione	d 🗖		Other	(specif	y)				0			17		168	}		9	
Cinal C) on th	105						'	F	17	,		195		140)		9	
Final L	Depin	195	m																
WAT	ER BE		θZ	ONES															4
					E٩	stimat	ed Yi	eld	Τ	Tes	st	DI	DL	Dur	ation	Т	1	Salinity	
From	То	Thickr	less	SWL		(L	/s)			meth	od	at end	of test			(Co	ondu	ctivity o	r TDS
(m)	(m)	(m)	(m)	Individ	lual	Cumu	ulative		See Co	de 4	(r	n)	Hrs	min	Co	nd	TC)S
16	17	1		2 12	Aqui	ler		2		1	Δ					(µS/ 95	cm)	(mg	J/∟)
22	23	1			0.5	5	2	.5	1.	1	A					77	′.8		
29	30	1			0.5	5	;	3		1	Α					7	7		
CASI	NG / L	INER [DET	AILS															5
Material	OD	Wa		From	То	Meth	od	Са	asing	g sup	por	t met	hod		See Co	ode 5		2	
		Thickr	iess			Fixir	ng												
Code 5	(mm)	(mn	ו)	(m)	(m)	Code	5	Ту	/pe	of ca	asing	g bott	tom		See Co	ode 5		2	
9	168	4.2	2	0	17	6	Ce	ntralis	sers	s insta	lled	{Yes/N	o) N	O (ind	icate on s	ketch)			
8	60.2	5		0	186	5	Su	mp in	stal	lled		{Yes/N	o) <mark>N</mark>	O F	rom		m	То	m
							Pre	essure	e ce	ement	ed	{Yes/N	o) <mark>N</mark>	<mark>O</mark> F	rom		m	То	m
							Ca	sing F	Prot	ector	cem	nented	l in pla	ace					
WAT	ER EN	TRY D	ESI	GN															6
				Gene	ral	-				S	Scree	en			Slot	Detai	ils		
Material	OD	Wa Thickr	ll Iess	From	То	Ope ty	ening pe	Fix	king		perti	ure	Len	igth	Wie	dth		Alignm	ent
Code 5	(mm)	(mn	ו)	(m)	(m)	See 0	Code 6	See C	Code	5	(mm	ו)	(m	m)	(m	m)		See Cod	e 6
8	60.2	5		186	195		5	Ę	5		0.4	L L	2	0	1	0		Н	
										_									
GRA	VFI P	ACK													<u> </u>				7
							Gra	ain siz	ze		1		Dept	h			Qu	antity	
					(mm)					(m)			1.11			3			
	l ype			Grade		Fr	om 2		To)		From		Tc		Litre	s	m	ĩ
								5			0		,	183					
Benton					Vec							178			100				
Methor	d of plac	ement	of G	ravel Ps		Sei	e Code	7		1		170			103				
								1											
⊢or D	epartm	ental l	ise	only:			Wاف												

Scientific and Technical Operating Procedures Form: A Issue: 3 Date issued: 28Aug2009



GOVERNME		vacei				Work Li	icence No:	SMB02							
				BO	RE DEVEL	OPMENT				8					
Chemical u	used for breaki	ng down dri	lling mud	(Yes/No)	No	Name:									
Method	Bailing/Surgir	ig Je	etting	Airlift	ing X	Backwashing	Pu	umping	Other:						
Duration		hrs	hrs		0.5 hrs		hrs	hrs		hrs					
			D	ISINFE	CTION ON	COMPLETIO	N			9					
	Chemical	(s) used		Q	uantity app	lied (Litres)		Method of	application						
			PU	MPING	TESTS O		ON			10					
	Teet	Data	Pump	Initial	Duraning	Water Level	Dunation		Recovery						
	type	Date	depth	vvater Level	rate	pumping	of Test	Water	Time	taken					
				(SWL)		(DDL)	<i>a</i> ,	level		1					
	Store 1		(m)	(m)	(L/s)	(m)	(hrs)	(m)	(hrs)	(mins)					
Multi stade	Stage 1														
(stepped	Stage 3														
drawdown) Stage 4														
Single stag	ge														
(constant r	Single stage (constant rate)														
Height of n	Height of measuring point above ground level m Test Method See Code 4														
	WORK PARTLY BACKFILLED OR ABANDONED 11														
Original de	epth of work:	m			ls	work partly ba	ckfilled:	(Yes/No)							
ls work aba	andoned:	(Yes/No)	Me	ethod of	abandonme	ent: Backfille	ed 📃	Plugged	Capp	ed					
Has any ca	asing been left	in the work	(Yes	/No)]	From	m	То	m						
Sealing	/ fill type	From dep	th	To de	pth	Sealing / fill ty	/pe F	rom depth	То	depth					
See C	ode 11	(m)		(m)	See Code 11		(m)		(m)					
Site chosen	by: Hydroge	ologist	Geolo	gist	Driller	Diviner	Clien	t Oth	ner	12					
Lot No		DPN	lo							13					
Work Loca	ation Co ordir	nates	Easting	64	10640.7	Northing	603833	9.9	Zone	55					
GPS:] >>	•	AMG	AGD	or	MGA/GDA	x	(See explan	ation)					
		J		_]			、 I	,					
Please	mark the work	site with "X	(" on the	CLID pr	ovided map										
Indicate	also the dista	nces in meti	res from t	two (2) a	djacent bou	Indaries, and a	ittach the m	ap to this Fo	orm A packa	age.					
					Signatu	res:									
	Λ	1 /													
Driller:	<u> </u>	V) [] /al	<u>K</u>		Licens	see:									
Date:	0.3/09/2	018			Date:										
					-400										



Page 3

NSW	Office
GOVERNMENT	of Water

Work Licence No: SMB02

D	RILLER'	S ROCK/S						15						
De	pth			Descr	iption				wo		ISTF	۲UC	τιο	N
From	То	1		See Co	ode 15					SKI	ЕТСІ	н		
(m)	(m)													
0	1	5	SOIL dark br	own, or	ganic ma	tter p	present							
1	2	CLAY mediun	n brownish orange	, extremely	weathered, si	mall roc	k fragmer	nts present						
2	10	VOLCANIC F	ROCK medium or	angey brov	vn, extremely	weathe	ered, high	ly oxidised						
10	12	DACITE mediu	um greyish green, sl	ightly weath	ered, indistinct f	oliation	in larger ro	ck frgments						
12	52	VOLCAN	IIC ROCK me	edium gr	ey, fresh, i	minor	quartz	, veining						
52	195	DACITE f	ine grained, r	nedium	to dark gre	ey, fre	sh, rare	e quartz						
												-		
		•	WORK NOT	CONS	TRUCTED	BY	DRILLI	NG RIG						16
Method of e	xcavation:	Hand dug	Back h	be	Dragline		Dozer		Other					
					Bragillio		00201							
Depth	Length	Width	Diameter	Li	ning	D	imentic	ons of	From	Depth		To [Эер	th
(m)	(m)	(m)	(m)	ma	aterial		liner ((m)	(r	n)		()	m)	
											_			
			Please attac	h copie	es of the f	ollow	ing if a	vailable						17
Geologist log	(Yes/No)	Yes	Laboratory analy	sis of wate	Sample	(Yes/No)		Pumpi	ng test(s)	(Ye	s/No)]	
Geophysical I	og (Yes/No)		Sieve analysis of	aquifer ma	iterial	(Yes/No)		Installe	ed Pump d	etails (Ye	es/No)]	

NS		0	ff	ice Vat	or		Fo	orn	n A	A F	Par	ticu	ılar	s 0	of c	com	npl	et	ed w	ork age 1
GOVER	NMENT s Licen	ce No:		1013			4	1	14/	ork	Lico		<u>.</u> .	SM	BUS	2				2
Class	of Licer						1	1				icence in	0.	SIVI		5				2
Driller'	s Name			ass 4 o Dolk					IN2	ame			ee.	Mo	oito	ring	Bor	~		
Acciet	ant Drill	o.		off Eig	Idoon	d			Int	ena	iea (Use:		IVIOI	шо	nng	DUI	e	20.0	E 10
A991910			30		lusen	lu				omp	ietio	on Dat	ə:						30-0	01-C
Contra	ictor:		Hi	ghland	d Drilli	ng			D	RIL		G DE1	AILS							3
New b	ore	X		Replac	cement	bore				Fror	n		То	ł	lole	Diame	eter	Dril	ling Met	hod
Deepe	ened			Enlarg	ed					(m))		(m)			(mm)			See Code	e 3
Recon	ditione	d		Other	(specify	y)				0			16			168			9	
Final F)enth	50	m																	
	John	00																		
WAT	ER BE	ARINO	θZ	ONES																4
					Es	stimate	d Yield		Ι	Tes	t	D) L	D	urat	ion		1	Salinity	
From	То	Thickr	iess	SWL		(L/s	6)		m	ethe	od	at end	of test				(Co	ndu	ctivity or	TDS)
(m)	(m)	Cumulati	ive	See	e Coc	de 4	(n	ר)	Hr	s	min	Co	nd	TD	S					
- 20	20	1		0.00	Aquit	fer											(μS/	cm)	(mg/	/L)
29	30	1		2.20	3		3		1		4						58	.1		
															+			_		
CASI									-	_					_					E
CASI					-															<u> </u>
Material		VVa Thickr		From	10	Method		Cas	ing	sup	por	t metr	lod		2	see Coo	de 5		2	
Code 5	(mm)	(mn	1635 1)	(m)	(m)	Code 5		Tvn	e o	fca	asina	n hott	om		4	See Cor	le 5		2	
9	168	4 8	3	0	16	6	Centra	alise	ers ir	nsta	lled	{Yes/No			indica	te on ske	etch)			
8	60.2	5		0	40	5	Sump	inst	talle	d		Yes/No			Fro	m	ŕ	m	То	
8	60.2	5		19	50	5	Press			<u>ent</u>	ed	{Yes/No			Fro	m		 m	То	m
0	00.2			+5	50		Casin								110	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,			10	m
								y i i	olet	5101	cen	lenteu	in pic		_			_		
WAT	ER EN	TRY D	ESI	GN												<u></u>				6
Material		Wa		Gene	ral To	Onen	inali	Civir			cree	en	Lor	ath		Slot L)etai	IS	Alianma	nt
Material		Thickr	" ess			tvp	e		ıy		Jerii		Lei	igin		vviu			Alignme	
Code 5	(mm)	(mn	ו)	(m)	(m)	See Co	de 6 Se	e Co	de 5	1	(mm	ı)	(m	m)		(mm	1)		See Code	e 6
8	60.2	5	,	40	49	5		5			0.4		2	0		10	Í		Н	
GRA	VEL P	ACK																		7
							Grain	size	Э				Dept	h				Qu	antity	
	-			. .			(mn	n)					(m)			<u> </u>	:4			3
- Po	m		10 5			-rom					lue	5	m	-						
			5			30			5	0										
				Ungrad								22								
Benton	nite/Gro	ut seal	- 4 - 0	(Yes/No)	res			1		4		33			3	8				
iviethod	a or plac	ement	or G	ravel Pa	ACK	See	Loue /			1										
For D	epartm	ental ι	ise	only:		G	W													

Scientific and Technical Operating Procedures Form: A Issue: 3 Date issued: 28Aug2009



GOVERNME		vater				Work Li	icence No:	SMB03							
				BO	RE DEVEL	OPMENT				8					
Chemical u	used for breaki	ng down dri	lling mud	(Yes/No)	No	Name:									
Method	Bailing/Surgir	ig Je	tting	Airlift	ing X	Backwashing	Ρι	umping	Other:						
Duration		hrs	hrs		0.5 hrs		hrs	hrs		hrs					
			D	ISINFE	CTION ON	COMPLETIO	N			9					
	Chemical	(s) used		Q	uantity app	ied (Litres)		Method of	application						
			PU	MPING	TESTS O		ON	-		10					
	Test	Date	Pump intake	Initial Water	Pumping	Water Level	Duration		Recovery						
	type	Duit	depth	Level	rate	pumping	of Test	Water	Time	taken					
			(m)	(SWL)	(1/s)	(DDL)	(bre)	level (m)	(bre)	(mine)					
	Stage 1		(111)	(111)	(L/3)		(1113)	(11)	(113)	(111113)					
Multi stage	e Stage 2														
(stepped	Stage 3														
drawdown)) Stage 4														
Single stag	je rate)														
Height of m	(constant rate) m Test Method See Code 4 Height of measuring point above ground level m Test Method See Code 4														
Height of measuring point above ground level m Test Method See Code 4															
WORK PARTLY BACKFILLED OR ABANDONED 11 Original depth of work: m la work partly backfilled: m															
Unginal de	pun or work:] M	sthad of	IS	work parity ba			Conn						
					abandonme 				Сарр	ed					
			(Yes/	NO)	<u> </u>	From	m	10	m						
Sealing	/ fill type	From dep	th	To de	pth	Sealing / fill ty	rpe F	From depth	То	depth (m)					
	oue 11	(11)		(11)	,			(111)		(111)					
Site chosen	by: Hydroge		Geolo	aist	Driller	Diviner	Clien	t Oth	per	12					
	by: Tyarogo														
Lot No		DP N	lo							13					
Work Loc	ation Co ordir	nates	Easting	64	0645.9	Northing	60383	34	Zone	<mark>55</mark>					
GPS:	(Yes/No) Yes	>>	•	AMG	/AGD	or	MGA/GDA	X	(See explan	ation)					
				0.10											
Please	mark the work	SITE WITH "X	." On the	CLID pro	ovided map	Indaries and a	ttach the m	an to this Ec	orm A nack:	ane					
Indicate			63 110111	.wo (z) a	ujacent bot	indanes, and a			лп драска	age.					
					Signatu	res:									
	1	1 1	6												
Driller:	40	13 [/all	// 		Licens	see:									
Date:	03/09/2	018			Date:	_									
		· · ·													



Page 3

Work Licence No: SMB03

D	RILLER'	S ROCK/S	STRATA DE					l	15		
De	pth			Description			WOR		STRUC		N
From	То		Γ	See Code 15	1			SKE	гсн		
(m)	(m)				•						
0	1	SOIL n	nedium to da	ark brown, contai	ns organic m	natter					
1	2		CLAY oran	ge, extremely we	athered						
2	18	DACITE m	edium to dark o	range brown, extreme	ely weathered, fr	actured					
18	31	DACITE r	medium to da	ark grey, fresh, sm	all fractures e	vident					
31	32	DACITE me	edium to dark gre	ey, DACITE, 5% mediu	m orange brown,	oxidised					
32	48		DACITE m	edium to dark gr	ey, fresh						
48	50		DACITE li	ght to medium gr	ey, fresh						
	I	1	WORK NOT								16
	4:	I I and always					Other				10
Method of e	xcavation:	Hand dug	Васк по		Dozer		Other				
Depth	Length	Width	Diameter	Lining	Dimentior	ns of	From D	epth	То	Dept	th
(m)	(m)	n)	(m))		(m)					
			Please attac	ch copies of the f	ollowing if av	vailable					17
Geologist log	(Yes/No)		Laboratory analy	sis of water Sample	(Yes/No)	Pumpi	ng test(s)	(Yes/I	No)		
Geophysical I	og (Yes/No)		Sieve analysis of	aquifer material	(Yes/No)	Installe	ed Pump deta	ails (Yes/	No)		

		C	<mark>)ff</mark>	ice	or		F	orn	ח A	Par	tic	ular	s c	of c	:om	ıpl	ete	əd	WO Paç	rk je 1
GOVER	NMENT s Licen			1012	CI				10/0	vrk Lioc	anco I	No	SM		1					2
Class	of Licer	nce:		ass 4					Na	me of l	icen	NU.	Sivi		t					
Driller'	s Name	e:	la	n Palk					Inte	ended	Use [.]	300.	Мо	nito	rina	bor	e			
Assista	ant Drill	er:	Sc	cott Fie	eldsen	ıd			Co	mpletic	ose. on Da	ite:	1010	me	inig		•	1	0-05	-18
Contra	octor.																	_	0 00	5
Nowh	oro		7												Diam	otor	Dril		Math	<u></u>
	ore .		<u> </u>	Replac	cement	bore								поје	Diame	eter I	Dni	ing	weine	50
Deepe	ened	. –	-	Enlarg	ed , .,	`				(m)		(m)			(mm)			See	Code 3	
Recon	ditione	d	_	Other	(specity	y)				$\frac{0}{10}$		16			203				9	
Final D	Depth	180	m							10		180			140				9	
																		_		
WAT	ER BE		GΖ	ONES	I				1		1		1			1				4
_	-	-			Es	stimate	d Yiel	d	רן	lest	D	DL		ourat	ion			Salii	nity	
From	10 (m)	I hick	ness	SWL	Indivia	L/S	5) Sumaula		me	ethod	at end	d of test			min		ondu	Ctivi		DS)
(11)	(11)		1)			fer	Jumula	auve	See	Code 4	((11)		°	111111		/cm)		(ma/L))
				SEE	ATTAC	HED										(1	,		(
CASI	NG / L	INER	DET	AILS																5
Material	OD	Wa	all	From	То	Method	ł	Casi	ing s	suppor	t me	thod		5	See Coo	de 5		2	2	1
		Thick	ness			Fixing	1							_						_
Code 5	(mm)	(mi	m)	(m)	(m)	Code 5		Тур	e of	casin	g bot	ttom		9	See Coo	de 5		2	•	
5	160.25	2.	8	0	16	1	Cent	tralise	rs in	stalled	{Yes/N	No) N	0	(indica	te on ske	etch)				
8	60.2	5)	0	170	5	Sum	ip inst	allec	k	{Yes/N	No) Y	es	Fro	m 1	79	m	То	180	m
8	60.2	5)	179	180	5	Pres	sure	ceme	ented	{Yes/N	No) N	0	Fro	m		m	То		m
							Casi	ng Pr	otect	tor cerr	nente	d in pla	ace							
WAT	ER EN	TRY C	DESI	GN																6
	1	1		Gene	ral					Scree	en				Slot D)etai	ils			
Material	OD	Wa	all	From	То	Open	ing	Fixin	ng 📗	Aperti	ure	Ler	ngth		Widt	th		Alig	nment	t
Codo E	(mm)	I hick	ness ~)	(m)	(m)	typ	e do 6 lo			(mm	.	(m	m)		(mm			Soo	Codo 6	
8	60.2	(111	ii)	(11)	(11)	500 5	ueo	500	Le 5	0.4	1) L	2	0	_	10	1)		See	H	
	00.2		, 		170					0.1			<u> </u>		10				••	
GRA	VEL P	ACK																		7
							Grai	n size	;			Dept	h				Qu	anti	ity	
	_						<u>(n</u>	nm)		_		(m)				••			3	
	Type			Grade	V had	Fro	m	Т	0 5		From			To		ltre	s		m°	
				Grad		3			5		IOÕ			18	0					
					Vee						160									
Bentor	nte/Gro	ut sea	ا مئر م		res	Card	Codo 7	-			103			16	8					
wiethoo	i oi piac	ement	OI G	navel Pa	ICK	See	code /		1			-								
For D	epartm	ental	use	only:	coduras	G	W													

Scientific and Technical Operating Procedures Form: A Issue: 3 Date issued: 28Aug2009



GOVERNMEI		Vater				Work	Licenc	e No:	SMB04	ļ					
				BO	RE DEVE	LOPMENT							8		
Chemical u	used for breaki	ng down dri	lling mud	(Yes/No)	No	Name:									
Method	Bailing/Surgir	ng Je	etting	Airlift	ing	Backwashir	ng	Ρι	umping	Othe	r:				
Duration		hrs	hrs		1 hrs		hrs		hr	s		I	hrs		
			D	ISINFE	CTION ON	COMPLET	ION						9		
	Chemical	(s) used		Q	uantity app	lied (Litres)			Method o	f applica	ition				
		-	PU	MPING	TESTS C	N COMPLE	TION		-				10		
	Test	Date	Pump intake	Initial Water	Pumping	Water Leve	el Dur	ation		Recov	/ery				
	type	Duit	depth	Level	rate	pumping	of	Test	Water	1	ime	taken			
			(m)	(SWL)	(1/s)	(DDL)	(۲	urs)	level (m)	(hrs	:)	l (mij	ns)		
	Stage 1		()						()	(1115	-)		,		
Multi stage	e Stage 2														
(stepped	Stage 3														
drawdown)) Stage 4														
Constant r	je ate)														
Height of m	constant rate) m Test Method See Code 4 leight of measuring point above ground level m Test Method See Code 4														
Height of measuring point above ground level m Test Method See Code 4															
Original de	WORK PARTLY BACKFILLED OR ABANDONED 11 Original depth of work: m Is work partly backfilled: Ves(No)														
Is work ab	andoned [.]	(Yes/No)] Me	thod of	ahandonm	ent [.] Backf		1 1	Plugged		lann	ed			
Has any ca	asing been left	in the work	(Yes/]	Erom				`	Japp Tm				
				 		Cooling / fill	th un a								
Sealing See C	ode 11	(m)	u	ro de (m)	Sealing / III	туре 11		(m)		10	(m)			
		()		(,				(11)			()			
Site chosen	by: Hydroge	ologist 🗙	Geolo	gist	Driller	Divine	er 🗌	Clien	t 🗌 o	ther			12		
			. []										
	atian Calandir		lo	62	00077	Northing	60	2051	0.2	7000		E E	13		
	ation Co ordin	lates	Easung	03	0097.7		00	300 I	9.2	Zone		55			
GPS:	(Yes/No) Yes	>>	•	AMG	/AGD	or	MGA	VGDA	X	(See e	kplan	ation)			
Please	mark the work	site with "X	(" on the	CLID pr	ovided mai	n									
Indicate	also the dista	nces in met	res from t	wo (2) a	djacent bo	undaries, and	l attach	the m	ap to this F	orm A p	acka	age.			
					-										
					Signatu	ures:									
Driller:	40	3 /all	6		Licen	See:									
Date:	Driller: $\underline{\mathcal{G}}_{\mathcal{O}}$ $\underline{\mathcal{G}}_{O$														
	00,00,20				24101										



Page 3

Office of Water

Work Licence No: SMB04

D	RILLER'	S ROCK/S	STRATA DE	SCRIPTION (LIT	<mark>'HOLOGY</mark>	()					15
De	pth			Description			WORK C	CONS	TRUC	стіо	N
From	То			See Code 15				SKET	СН		
(m)	(m)										
0	0.5	SOIL dark	<mark>< brown, extre</mark> r	mely weathered, Co	ontains orga	a <mark>nic matter</mark>					
0.5	1	CLAY	<mark>medium yell</mark> ı	<mark>owish brown, ext</mark>	remely we	athered				\top	
1	3	CLA'	Y medium ye	ellowish grey, hig	, <mark>hly weath</mark>	ered					
3	4	CLAY mediu	im yellowish grey,	moderately weathered, s	mall rock fragn	nents present				1	
4	14	VOLCA'	NIC ROCK r	<mark>nedium brown, s</mark>	lightly wea	athered					
14	180		VOLCANIC	ROCK medium	grey, fres <mark>r</mark>	า					
										1	
										+	
										-	
										-	
									+	+	
									+ +	+	
									++	+	
										+	
									++		
									++	+	
									++	+	
								++	++	+	
									++	+	
									++	+	
									++	+	
									+	—	
									+	—	
									+	_	
									++	—	
									++	—	
									+		
							C //				16
Method of ex	xcavation:	Hand dug	Back ho	Dragline	Doze	эr	Other				
Depth	Length	Width	Diameter	Lining	Diment	tions of	From Dep	oth	То	Deŗ	oth
(m)	(m)	(m)	(m)	material	liner	(m)	(m)			(m)	
			Please attac	h copies of the f	ollowing if	available					17
Geologist log	(Yes/No)	Yes	Laboratory analys	sis of water Sample	(Yes/No)	Pumpi	ng test(s)	(Yes/No)		
Geophysical I	.og (Yes/No)		Sieve analysis of	aquifer material	(Yes/No)	Installe	ed Pump details	(Yes/No	J)		

WAT	WATER BEARING ZONES 4											
				Estima	Estimated Yield			DDL	Duration		Sa	alinity
From	То	Thickness	SWL	(۱	_/s)	method		at end of test			(Conduct	tivity or TDS)
(m)	(m)	(m)	(m)	ndividua	Cumulative	See Code 4		(m)	Hrs	min	Cond	TDS
				Aquifer		See	e Code 4				(µS/cm)	(mg/L)
83	84	1	12.27	0.1	0.1	1	Α				85.4	
101	102	1		0.1	0.2	1	Α				68.9	
119	120	1		0.1	0.3	1	Α				74.1	
125	126	1		0.2	0.5	1	Α				68.4	
155	156	1		0.2	0.7	1	Α				65.9	
173	174	1		2.3	3	1	Α				91.3	

		0	o ff f V	ice Vat	er		I	Forn	n A	A Pa	ar	ticu	lar	S O	f c	om	pl	et	ed	WO Pag	rk e 1
Driller's	s Licen	ce No:	DI	1913				1	W	ork I	ice	nce N	o.	SM	B05						2
Class	of Licer	nce:	Cl	ass 4					Na	me o	nt I	icense	<u>م</u> د.	Olvin		•					4
Driller's	s Name	e:	lar	n Palk					Int	Intended Lise: Mo				Mor	nito	rina l	bor	е			
Assista	ant Drill	er:	Sc	ott Fie	eldser	nd			Co	Completion Date:					14	4-05-	.18				
Contra	ctor:		Hi	ahland	1 Drilli	na			D	RILL		G DET									2
New b	ore	X]]	Doplar		horo	From To Hole Diameter Drilli						lina	Methc	d d						
Deepe	ened			Enlara	enieni ed	bore				(m)	-		'm)	-	(mm)	[See (Code 3	
Recon	ditione	d –		Other	(specif	V)				0			16			203				9	
Final F) on th	EO	- -		、 ・	,				16			50			140				9	
Final L	Jepin	50	m																		
WATER BEARING ZONES 4									4												
E							ted Yi	eld		Test		DD) L	D	urati	on			Salir	nity	
From	То	Thickr	iess	SWL		(L	./s)		m	etho	d	at end	of test			-	(Co	ondu	ictivit	y or T	DS)
(m)	(m)	(m)	(m)		dual for	Cumu	ulative	See	e Code	e 4	(m	I)	Hrs	5	mın		nd (cm)	(IDS	
		Drill	ed	18.83	Aqui												(μΟ/	CIII)	(mg/L)	
		Dr	y																		
CASING / LINER DETAILS																					5
Material	OD	Wa	ll	From	То	Meth	od	Cas	sing	supp	oort	t meth	od		S	ee Coo	le 5		2		
0.1.5	()	Thickr	iess	((Fixir	ng	T		·									2		1
Code 5	(mm)	(mn) 2 9	n) 2	(m)	(m) 16		5	I yp			sing				ndicat		ie 5		2		L
9 9	60.20	5	<u>,</u>	0	10	5		mn ine	talla	d	eu				Fro		a	m	то	FO	<u> </u>
8	60.2	5		49	50	5	Pre			ente	h	{Yes/No			Fro	m		m	то	50	m
	00.2				00		Ca	sing Pi	rotec	tor c	em	ented	in pla		110				10		m
W/AT	ED EN.		EQI	GN		11	1.02						p								6
WAI			LON	Gene	ral					Sc	cree	en I				Slot D)etai	ils			0
Material	OD	Wa	II	From	То	Оре	ening	Fixi	ng	Ape	ertu	ure	Ler	igth	Ţ	Widt	h		Aligr	nment	:
		Thickr	iess			ty	/pe														
Code 5	(mm)	(mn	n)	(m)	(m)	See 0	Code 6	See Co	de 5	(r	nm)	(m	m)		(mm	1)		See (Code 6	
ð	60.2	5		40	49		5	5			J.4		2	0	_	10				н	
															+						
GRA	VEL P	ACK																			7
							Gra	ain size	е				Dept	h				Qı	anti	ty	
Type Grade							((mm) I ·					(m) T		- 1 !4		•				
Rounded X Graded X					Fr	3		5		F	<u>38</u>			To Litre		In Ca	3		111		
Crushed Ungraded						-		-						J							
Bentonite/Grout seal (Yes/No) Yes											33			3	8						
Method	l of plac	ement	of G	ravel Pa	ack	See	e Code	7		1					0	~					
For Departmental use only:							GW														_

For Departmental use only: Scientific and Technical Operating Procedures Form: A Issue: 3 Date issued: 28Aug2009



	Work Licence No: SMB05										
				BO	RE DEVEL	OPMENT				8	
Chemical u	used for breaki	ng down dri	illing mud	(Yes/No)	No	Name:					
Method	Bailing/Surgir	ng Je	etting	Airlift	ing X	Backwashing	Pu	umping	Other:		
Duration		hrs	hrs		1 hrs		hrs	hrs		hrs	
			D	ISINFE	CTION ON	COMPLETIO	N			9	
	Chemical	(s) used		Q	uantity app	lied (Litres)		Method of	application		
			PU	MPING	TESTS O		ON			10	
_	T 4	Data	Pump	Initial	Duminu	Water Level	Duration		Recovery		
t	i est type	Date	depth	vvater Level	rate	pumping	of Test	Water	Time	taken	
				(SWL)		(DDL)	<i>a</i> ,	level			
	Store 1		(m)	(m)	(L/s)	(m)	(hrs)	(m)	(hrs)	(mins)	
Multi stade	Stage 1										
(stepped	Stage 3										
(drawdown)	Stage 4										
Single stag	je										
(constant r	ate)										
Height of m	Height of measuring point above ground level m Test Method See Code 4										
WORK PARTLY BACKFILLED OR ABANDONED 11											
Original de	pth of work:	m	-		ls	work partly ba	ckfilled:	(Yes/No)		_	
ls work aba	andoned:	(Yes/No)	Me	thod of	abandonme -	ent: Backfille	ed 📃	Plugged	Сарр	ed	
Has any ca	asing been left	in the work	(Yes/	No)		From	m	То	m		
Sealing	/ fill type	From dep	th	To de	pth	Sealing / fill ty	/pe F	rom depth	То	depth	
See Co	ode 11	(m)		(m)	See Code 11		(m)		(m)	
Site chosen	by: Hydroge	ologist X	Geolo	gist	Driller	Diviner	Clien	t Oth	ner	12	
Lot No		DP N	lo]				13	
Work Loca	ation Co ordir	nates	Easting	63	8890.2	Northing	603851	5.5	Zone	55	
GPS:	(Yes/No) Yes	>>	•	AMG	/AGD	or	MGA/GDA	X	(See explan	ation)	
		1				1					
Please r	Please mark the work site with "X" on the CLID provided map.										
Indicate also the distances in metres from two (2) adjacent boundaries, and attach the map to this Form A package.											
Signatures:											
Driller:	<u> </u>	U) []/ar	<u>K</u>		Licens	see:					
Date:	Date: 03/09/2018 Date:										



Work Licence No:	SMB05

D	RILLER'	S ROCK/S		15						
De	pth			Description		wo		STRU	стю	N
From	То			See Code 15]		SKE	тсн		
(m)	(m)				-					
0	4			No sample						
4	7	VOLCA	NIC ROCK	medium grey, m	oderately oxidis	ed				
7	8		VOLCAN	IC ROCK mediu	m grey					
8	14	VOLCA	NIC ROCK	medium arev. m	oderately oxidise	ed				
14	50		VOLCAN	IC ROCK mediu	m grev					
							+			
									_	
						lG				16
Method of ex	xcavation:	Hand dug	Back ho	De Dragline	Dozer	Other				
Depth	Length	Width	Diameter	Lining	Dimentions of	From	Depth	Tc	Dep	oth
(m)	(m)	(m)	(m)	material	liner (m)	(<u>m)</u>		(m)	
			Please attac	h copies of the f	ollowing if availa	ble				17
Geologist log	(Yes/No)	Yes	Laboratory analys	sis of water Sample	(Yes/No)	umping test(s)	(Yes	/No)		
Geophysical l	ophysical log (Yes/No) Sieve analysis of aquifer material (Yes/No) Installed Pump details (Yes/No)									

Appendix C

Geological and bore construction logs

			Л	WATER MONITO	RING	BORE LO	G	Bore ID:	PB01		
		11	1	Client: Snowy Hydro		Project:	Snowy	Hydro 2.0			
www.em	mconsul	ting.co	m. <mark>au</mark>	Date completed: 19/06/20)18			Project num	ber: J17188		
Suite 0	1, 20 Cha	andos :	Street	Drilling contractor: Highland	d Drilling	1		Elevation:	1231.5		
T: 02 94	193 9500)		Drilling method: Air rotary	y			Easting:	649253.9		
F:02 94	93 9599			Hydrogeologist: K Maher			Jeonies	Northing:	0038103.8		
Static W	ater Le	/el: 12	.04 ml	bgl Screened Fo	rmation	1: Nellys Plain Vo	licanics	Casing: 5 in	nzu io chisteel		
l otal de	epth: 00	-		Screened de		30 - 60 mgi		Bore Completion Diagram			
(mbal)	Litho	logy		Description	v	Vater Quality	-	Diagram			
(mbgi)	Grap							Diagram	Design notes		
-0			SOIL	medium reddish brown, extremely nered. High clay content			1		Cement grout		
-2 -			GRA	/EL medium brownish orange, extremely	1						
<u>-4</u>			weath	iereu, abunuani, quariz, coarse graineu							
-6											
-8	100		DACI altere	TE medium greenish blue grey, chlorite, d; minor, quartz							
- 10	152										
- 12	1000							N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N	Blue metal gravel		
- —14									backfill (5-8mm wash)		
- — 16									5 inch steel casing		
- 18	100								7.5 inch diameter		
									borehole		
- 22	1942										
- 24											
- 26											
- 20	12.5	anics							Bentonite seal		
- 20		Volc									
- 30		Plain									
- 32	1993	(ellys									
— 34 	188	Ĩ									
— 36 -	14.5										
— 38 -	1521										
— 40 _	1212										
- 42											
_44									4 in alt 1 - 1		
- 46	120								4 inch open hole		
- 48	82										
- 50											
- 						stor Cuti z0.4.1./-					
- 						arer Cut. <0.1 L/S, mp: 11.5°C, DO: 3% DO: 5.47 ppm					
- 56	100				EC 39	:: 59.7 μS/cm, TDS: g/L, pH: 7.58, ORP:					
- 58	100				5 m	nV, drilled dry to 50m					
- 60	199										

	EM	M	WATER MONITORI	G E	Bore ID: PB03					
			Client: Snowy Hydro	Project: S	nowy Hy	dro 2.0				
www.emn	nconsulting.	.com.au	Date completed: 20/06/2018		P	Project numbe	er: J17188			
Suite 01	, 20 Chand	os Street	Drilling contractor: Highland Dril	ling	E	levation:	1335.6			
St Leona	ards NSW 2 .93 9500	065	Drilling method: Air rotary		E	asting:	640645.2			
F :02 94	93 9599		Hydrogeologist: K Maher		N	lorthing:	6038345.8			
Static Wa	ater Level:	157.72	mbgl Screened Format	tion: Boggy Plain Suit	ie D	Date: 20/06/2018				
Total de	pth: 215 m	I	Screened depth:	open hole 200-215 n	nbgl C	Casing: 5 inch steel				
Depth	Litholog	ду 🛛	Description		B	ore Comple	etion Diagram			
(mbgl)	Graphic	;	Description	water Quality	Dia	gram	Design notes			
		SOIL	. dark brown, Organic matter				Cement grout			
-2	\longrightarrow		Y medium brownish orange, highly weathered							
- 4 -		VOL mode black	CANIC ROCK, 5% light greenish grey, erately weathered, SOIL, 5% dark brownish <, highly weathered, Highly compacted soil							
6		nodu CLA	iles Y medium brownish orange, highly weathered							
-8		VOL mode black	CANIC ROCK, 40% light greenish grey, erately weathered, SOIL, 5% dark brownish <, highly weathered, Highly compacted soil							
		NOL	iles CANIC ROCK light greenish grev, moderately				8 inch steel surface casing			
- 12 -		weat highl	hered, CLAY, 40% medium brownish orange, y weathered				C C			
- 14 - 16		weat highl	CANIC ROCK light greenish grey, moderately hered, CLAY, 10% medium brownish orange, y weathered							
-		VOL oxidi	CANIC ROCK light greenish grey, moderately sed							
18 -		VOL	CANIC ROCK light greenish grey, moderately sed, platy							
20		VOL	CANIC ROCK medium greenish grey, erately oxidised, chloritic, rare quatrz veins							
- 22		VOL	CANIC ROCK dark grey, slightly oxidised							
- 24			CANIC ROCK medium greenish grey, slightly sed, rare quartz	T						
- 26				78.8%, DO: 8.81 ppm, FC: 70.1 uS/cm TDS:						
				45.5 g/L, pH: 7.39, ORP: 88.2 mV						
- 28										
30 -				Temp: 10.7°C, DO:						
- 32		oxidi	sed, rare quartz	EC: 70.6 μS/cm, TDS: 46.15 g/L, pH: 8.37,						
- 34				ORP: 90.7 mV						
- 36		VOL	CANIC ROCK medium greenish grey, rare	Temp: 11.4°C, DO:						
- 38		quar	tz	57.9%, DO: 6.32 ppm, EC: 62.6 μS/cm, TDS:						
40				40.9 g/L, pH: 8.12, ORP: 80.7 mV						
- 										
- 44				1 emp: 11.1°C, DO: 53.2%, DO: 5.85 ppm, FC: 71 9 uS/cm, TDS:						
				46.8 g/L, pH: 8.59, ORP: 71.8 mV						
- 40										
48 -				Temp: 11.1°C, DO: 50.3%, DO: 5.52 ppm						
<u> </u>				EC: 78.1 µS/cm, TDS: 50.7 g/L, pH: 8.79,						
- 52 -				ORP: 60.1 mV						
- 54										
- 56										
- 58										
- 60		– VOL rare	CANIC ROCK medium greenish grey, chloritic, guartz							

F	- I	raie qualiz		
<u> </u>				
64				
- 66				
68				
- 70				
- 72				
- 76				
- 78				
- 00				
- 80				
			Temp: 9.1°C, DO: 62.3% DO: 7.17 ppm	
- 86 -			EC: 80 µS/cm, TDS: 55 g/L, pH: 8.3, ORP: 130	
88			mV	
90			Temp: 8.6°C, DO: 55.6%, DO: 6.5 ppm, EC: 56 uS/cm, TDS: 26	
- 92			g/L, pH: 7.7, ORP: 61 mV	
- 94		VOLCANIC ROCK medium greenish grey, chloritic, rare quartz, rare pyrite		
- 96				
- 98	Suite			Blue metal gravel backfill (5-8mm
- 100	Plain			wash)
- - 102	oggy	rare quartz		7.5 inch diameter
- - 104				5 inch steel casing
- 106				
- - 108				
- 110				
- 110				
- 112				
116 				
118 				
120 -			Temp: 7°C, DO: 56%,	
- 122 -			μS/cm, TDS: 67.6 g/L, pH: 8.9, ORP: -18.7 mV	
- 124				
- 126			Temp: 6.4°C, DO: 57%,	
- 128			DO: 7 ppm, EC: 110 μS/cm, TDS: 72 g/L, pH: 9. OPB: 104.7 m)/	
- 130			יו, ש, טוגר 104.7 MV	
- 132		VOLCANIC ROCK medium grev, rare guartz	Temp: 7.5°C, DO: 56%	
- 134		VOLCANIC ROCK medium greenish grey, chloritic, rare quartz	DO: 6.7 ppm, EC: 105 μS/cm, TDS: 71 g/L,	
- 136		Terre en	pH: 9, ORP: -36.7 mV	
- 138			T	
F	<u>⊥</u>		1 emp: 6.4°C, DO: 52%, DO: 6.5 ppm, EC: 111	

— 140		·]			Blue metal gravel
_ — 142 _		VOLCANIC ROCK medium greenish grey, chloritic, rare quartz, rare pyrite			backfill (5-8mm wash)
— 144			Temp: 7.2°C, DO:		5 inch steel casing
— 146			55.1%, DO: 6.7 ppm, EC: 100 µS/cm, TDS: 65 q/LpH: 9ORP: -9 2		7.5 inch diameter
_ — 148			mV		borehole
_ — 150			Temp: 7.9°C, DO: 6.6%,		
_ — 152			DO: 55.7 ppm, EC: 84.5 μS/cm, TDS: 54.6 α/L pH: 8.97_ORP		
_ — 154		VOLCANIC ROCK medium greenish grey, rare quartz, rare pyrite	-13.3 mV		
156 			Temp: 8.2°C, DO: 6.7%,		
— 158 -			DO: 56 ppm, EC: 86.3 μS/cm, TDS: 56.56 g/L, pH: 8.66, ORP: 6.2 mV		
— 160		VOLCANIC ROCK medium greenish grey, chloritic,			
- — 162		rare quartz, rare pyrite	Temp: 8°C, DO: 6.57%,		
_ — 164			DO: 55.4 ppm, EC: 82.3 μS/cm, TDS: 52.65 g/L, pH: 8.66_ORP: 21.4		
_ — 166			mV		
_ — 168					
_ — 170					
_ — 172					
— 174					
— 176	in Suite				
— 178				Š Š	
— 180 -					
— 182 -				ý ý	
— 184 -					
— 186 -			Temp: 7.7°C, DO:		
— 188 -			6.46%, DO: 54 ppm, EC: 100.1 µS/cm, TDS: 65 g/L, pH: 8.69, ORP:		
— 190 -			12.5 mV		
— 192 -			Temp: 8°C, DO: 6.25%,		
— 194 -			μS/cm, TDS: 63.7 g/L, pH: 8.84, ORP: 3.3 mV		
— 196 -					
— 198 -			Temp: 8.3°C, DO:	\rangle	Bentonite seal
— 200 -			EC: 92.4 μS/cm, TDS: 60.45 g/L, pH: 8.76,		
— 202 -			UKP: -/.8 mV		
— 204 -			Fernp: 8.2°C, DO: 50.1%, DO: 5.9 ppm, EC: 62.8 μS/cm, TDS:		
— 206 -			40.95 g/L, pH: 7.92, ORP: -5.7 mV		
— 208 -		VOLCANIC ROCK medium greenish grey, rare			4 inch open hole
— 210 -		- Yuunz	Water Cut: <0.1 L/s,		
— 212 -			73.9%, DO: 8.53 ppm, EC: 92 µS/cm, TDS:		
— 214			59.8 g/L, pH: 8.29, ORP: 69.8 mV, cased		

FMM			Л		G	Bore ID: SMB02					
				Client: Snowy Hydro	Project:	Snowy	Hydro 2.0				
www.emn	nconsult	ting.con	n.au	Date completed: 31/05/2018			Project n	umber:	J17188		
Suite 01	, 20 Ch	andos S	Street	Drilling contractor: Highland Dril	ling		Elevation	1:	1334.8		
T: 02 94	ards NS 93 9500	VV 2065)		Drilling method: Air rotary			Easting:		640640.7		
F :02 94	93 9599)		Hydrogeologist: S Cassidy			Northing	:	6038339.9		
Static Wa	ater Lev	/el: 2.1	2 mbę	gl Screened Forma	tion: Boggy Plain Su	uite	Date: 31/05/2018				
Total de	pth: 19	95 m	1	Screened depth:	182 - 194 mbgl		Casing: 50 mm PVC				
Depth	Litho	ology		Description	Water Quality		Bore Co	mpletio	on Diagram		
(mbgl)	Grap	hic		Description	water Quality	[Diagram		Design notes		
		Т	SOIL	dark brown, organic matter present				c	ement grout		
-2			CLAY weath	medium brownish orange, extremely ered, small rock fragments present			Š₩Š				
			VOLC	ANIC ROCK medium orangey brown,			\geq				
+ <u>·</u>			SAUCH	nor mountered, migning onlaised			$\langle \rangle$				
-8								6	inch steel surface		
- 10			D 4 6 7					с	asing		
- 10	\sim		indisti	I E medium greyish green, slightly weathered, nct foliation in larger rock frgments							
- 12			VOLC minor	ANIC ROCK medium to dark grey, fresh, auartz, minor chlorite, veining	no samples during odex install						
- 14											
- 16											
- 18					Water Cut: 2 L/s, Temp: 7.8°C, DO: 61.6%, DO:						
- 20					7.27 ppm, EC: 95.9 μS/cm, TDS: 62.4 g/L,						
-					pH: 6.07, ORP: 44 mV						
- 22		ation	VOLC oxidis	ANIC ROCK medium to dark grey, slightly ed, orange brown oxidatiion stains on broken	Water Cut: 2.5 L/s						
- 24		orme	surfac fractu	es and large frgments indicate presence of re	fracture 23-24 m , fracture 24-25 m						
<u> </u>		Тсе F	VOLC quartz	ANIC ROCK medium grey, fresh, minor , veining	Water Cut: 2.5 L/s.						
- 28		perai			Temp: 8.9°C, DO: 72.2%, DO: 8.42 ppm,		$\langle \cdot \rangle$				
-		Tem			EC: 77.8 µS/cmTDS: 50.7 g/LpH: 6.82ORP:		$\langle \rangle$				
- 30					77.8 mV						
- 32					8.9°C, DO: 73.5%, DO: 8.5 ppm EC: 77 uS/cm						
- 34					TDS: 50.05 g/L, pH: 7.49, ORP: 76.2 mV						
- 36			VOLC	ANIC ROCK medium grey, slightly oxidised,	Motor Cut 21/2 Tames						
-			siliceo surfac	bus, hard; brown oxidation staining on broken es	9.3°C, DO: 72.3%, DO: 8.29 ppm EC: 73						
			VOLC quartz	ANIC ROCK medium grey, fresh, hard, minor	μS/cm, TDS: 47.45 g/L, pH: 7.33, ORP: 86.6 mV						
⊢ 40 -					,						
42					Water Cut: 3 L/s, Temp:						
- 44					9.1°C, DO: 75.2%, DO: 8.66 ppm, EC: 82.3						
46					pH: 8.35, ORP: 74.9 mV						
- 48 -					Water Cut: 3 L/s, Temp: 9.3°C, DO: 72.7%, DO						
_ 50					8.35 ppm, EC: 78.7 µS/cm, TDS: 51.35 g/L.						
- 52		\downarrow		TF medium greenish blue grey fresh minor	pH: 8.14, ORP: 80.1 mV						
- 54	$[\mathcal{N}_{i}]$	 ഗ	chlorit	ie 19							
	\vee	- BP			Water Cut: 3 L/s, Temp: 9.7°C, DO: 72.6%, DO:						
- 56 -	\sim	\bot			8.25 ppm, EC: 71.4 µS/cm, TDS: 46.15 g/L,		$\langle \rangle$				

- 58	$\widetilde{\nabla}$	Т			
- 60	$\mathbb{V}_{\mathcal{V}}$			Water Cut: 3 L/s, Temp:	
- 62	$\overline{\mathbf{v}}$		DACITE medium blue grey, fresh, siliceous, moderate quartz, minor sulphides	9°C, DO: 71.3%, DO: 8.24 ppm, EC: 70.1	
- 64	\sim \vee			pH: 7.68, ORP: 91.9 mV	
- 66	\mathbb{Z}^{\vee}		DACITE fine grained, light to medium blue grey, fresh, moderate quartz, minor chlorite	Water Cut: 3 L/s Temp:	
- 68	$\overline{\mathbf{V}}$		DACITE medium grained , medium blue grey, fresh, minor chlorite	8.7°C, DO: 67.8%, DO: 7.92 ppm, EC: 67.8	
- 70	\mathbf{v}			pH: 7.4, ORP: 99.7 mV	
- 72	\mathbb{Z}^{\vee}			Water Cut: 3 L/s. Temp:	
- 74	\mathbb{Z}^{\vee}			91°C, DO: 72.6%, DO: 8.31 ppm, EC: 66	
- 76	\mathbb{Z}^{\vee}			pH: 7.55, ORP: 97.7 mV	
- 78	\mathcal{N}			Water Cut: 3 L/c. Temp:	
- 80	\mathbf{v}			9.5°C, DO: 68.1%, DO: 7.76 ppm, EC: 66.5	
- 82	\mathbb{Z}^{\vee}			pH: 7.46, ORP: 90 mV	
- 84	$\sqrt{\sqrt{1}}$			Water Cut: 31/2 Toma	
- 86	\mathbf{v}			9.7°C, DO: 60.1%, DO: 6.77 ppm, EC: 94.9	
- 88	\mathbf{V}			μS/cm, TDS: 61.75 g/L, pH: 7.7, ORP: 98.9 mV	
- 90	$\overline{}$		DACITE medium grained , light to medium blue grey, fresh, moderate chlorite	1	Blue metal gravel backfill (5-8mm wash)
- 92	Ň	e.			50mm blank PN18
- 94	$\langle \rangle \vee$	in Suit			U-PVC casing (threaded)
- 96	$\langle \rangle \vee$	gy Pla			
- 98		- Bog			5.5 inch diameter borehole
- 100	Ň				
- 102					
- 104	Ň				
- 106	Ň				
- 108	Ň				
- 110					
- 112	Ň				
- 114	Ň				
- 116	V		DACITE fine grained medium blue grov fresh		
- 118	Ň		minor chlorite		
- 120	V				
- 122	\sqrt{V}				
- 124	$\sqrt{\vee}$				
- 126	$\sqrt{\vee}$				
- 128	\vee^{\vee}				
- 130	\vee^{\vee}				
- 132	\sqrt{V}				

F

E



		WATER MONITORI	WATER MONITORING BORE LOG						
		Client: Snowy Hydro	Project: Sno	wy Hydro 2.0	2.0				
www.emn	nconsulting.cor	n.au Date completed: 30/05/2018		Project numbe	er: J17188				
Suite 01	, 20 Chandos S	Street Drilling contractor: Highland Dri	lling	Elevation:	1334.7				
St Leona	ards NSW 2065 93 9500	Drilling method: Air rotary		Easting:	640645.9				
F:02 94	93 9599	Hydrogeologist: K Maher		Northing:	6038334				
Static Wa	ater Level: 2.2	26 mbgl Screened Forma	bgl Screened Formation: Temperance Formation Date:						
Total de	pth : 50 m	Screened depth	: 40 - 49 mbgl	Casing: 50 mr	n PVC				
Depth	l ithology			Bore Completion Diagram					
(mbgl)	Graphic	Description	Water Quality	Diagram	Design notes				
				_					
-		SOIL medium to dark brown, contains organic matter			Cement grout				
-2		CLAY orange, extremely weathered		$\mathbf{X} \mathbf{W} \mathbf{X}$					
-4		DACITE medium to dark orange brown, extremely weathered, fractured							
F				$\langle \rangle$					
<u>–</u> ь	\mathbb{Q}			\leq					
-8	$\sim \sqrt{2}$			<u> </u>	6 inch steel surface				
L 10				\sim	Jan				
-	\sim								
	\sim		Temp: 9.3°C, DO:						
- 14			EC: 87 μS/cm, TDS: 56 55 α/L pH: 7 35						
- 16			ORP: 130.3 mV						
-	\sim			\mathbf{x}					
- 18		DACITE medium to dark grey, fresh, small	Temp: 8.7°C, DO:		Blue metal gravel				
- 20		fractures evident	57.2%, DO: 6.66 ppm, EC: 73.5 μS/cm, TDS:		backfill (5-8mm				
-			ORP: 109.3 mV		wash				
- 22	Form								
- 24					50mm blank PN18 U-PVC casing				
26	bera				(threaded)				
-	Tem				5 1/2 inch diameter				
- 20					borehole				
- 30	\sim	DACITE medium to dark grey, DACITE, 5% medium orange brown, oxidised, evidence of water	Water Cut: 3 L/s, Temp:						
- 32		bearing fractures	9.1°C, DO: 53.8%, DO: 6.21 ppm, EC: 58.1	\geq					
- 24		DAGITE medium to dark grey, ifesh	μS/cm, TDS: 37.7 g/L, pH: 7.35, ORP: 78.5 mV						
- 34									
- 36	\sim				Bentonite seal				
- 38	\sim								
+	\sim $$								
- 40 -									
- 42	\sim		Water Cut: 3 L/s, Temp:						
44	\sim		9.3°C, DO: 52.7%, DO: 6.05 ppm, EC: 69.7		Gravel pack (5mm				
- <u>-</u>			μS/cm, TDS: 45.5 g/L, pH: 8.2, ORP: 65.1 mV		wash)				
46 -									
48		DACITE light to medium arev. fresh	Water Cut: 3 L/s. Temp		50mm slotted PN18				
L ₅₀	Ц V й		9.3°C, DO: 51.5%, DO: 5.91 ppm, EC: 57.7		(0.5mm aperture)				

50mm blank PN18 U-PVC sump (threaded)

		11			G Bore ID:	PB04
			Client: Snowy Hydro	Project:	Snowy Hydro 2.0	
www.emn	nconsulting	j.com.a	Date completed: 23/05/2018		Project num	ber: J17188
Suite 01, 20 Chandos Street			eet Drilling contractor: Highland Drill	et Drilling contractor: Highland Drilling		
St Leona	ards NSW 2 93 9500	2065	Drilling method: Air rotary		Easting:	638887.2
F :02 94	93 9599		Hydrogeologist: I Cywinski-Ja	n	Northing:	6038527.3
Static Wa	ater Level:	12.77	7 mbgl Screened Format	ion: Gooandra Volo	canics Date: 23/05/	2018
Total de	pth: 200 m	n	Screened depth:	185 - 200 mbgl	Casing: 5 inc	ch steel
Depth	Litholo	gy	Description	Water Ovality	Bore Comp	letion Diagram
(mbgl)	Graphi	c	Description	water Quality	Diagram	Design notes
			LAY light brown, highly weathered			Cement grout
-2		C R	LAY light brown, highly weathered, VOLCANIC COCK, 5% medium grey, highly oxidised		Š Š	
-4					S S	
۲.	HH	C R	LAY light brown, highly weathered, VOLCANIC COCK, 50% medium grey, highly oxidised			
			OLCANIC ROCK, medium bluish grey, highly xidised, platy			
8			OLCANIC ROCK, medium bluish grey, highly			8 inch steel surface
- 10			xiaised, platy OLCANIC ROCK, medium bluish arev			casing
- 12		m m	noderately oxidised, platy			
		0	vidised, platy			
			OLCANIC ROCK, medium grey, moderately xidised			
16 -			OLCANIC ROCK, medium grey, moderate quartz			
- 18			OLCANIC ROCK, medium grey, rare quartz			
- 20						
- 22						
			OLCANIC ROCK, medium grey, thinly laminated,			
-		ເ <u>ຮັ່</u>	are qualiz			
- 20		olcan				
		l a <				
- 30		>oanc	OLCANIC ROCK, medium grey, thinly laminated, noderate quartz			
- 32		יש ע ע	OLCANIC ROCK, medium grey, rare quartz			
- 34			OLCANIC DOCK medium and thinks beneficity			
- 36			noderate quartz			
-			OLCANIC ROCK, dark grey, platy			
- 38						
— 40 -			OLCANIC ROCK, medium grey, rare quartz			
- 42			OLCANIC ROCK, medium grey, moderate quartz			
- 44			OLCANIC ROCK, medium grey			
46						
-						
-						
50 -						
<u> </u>						
- 54						
- 56						
F		- ľ	eles and recert, medium grey, sinceous			

- 58	VOLCANIC ROCK, medium grey, platy		
- 62	VOLCANIC ROCK, medium grey, siliceous, rare		
- 64	pyrite		
- 66			
- 68		Water Cut: 0.2 L/s, Temp: 16.2°C, DO: 54.36%, DO: 5.37 ppm,	
- 70		EC: 105.4 μS/cm, TDS: 68.9 g/L, pH: 6.36, ORP: 104.2 mV	
- 72			
- 74	VOLCANIC ROCK, medium grey, rare quartz		
- 76			
- 78			
- 80	volcanic Rock, medium grey, siliceous, rare pyrite		Blue metal gravel
- 82			backfill (5-8mm wash)
- 84	VOLCANIC ROCK, medium grey, platy, siliceous; rare pyrite		
- 86			
- 88			
- 90			
- 92	VOLCANIC ROCK, medium grey, platy, rare quartz		5 inch steel casing
- 94	VOLCANIC ROCK, medium grey, siliceous		5 men steer casing
- 96	VOLCANIC ROCK, medium grey, siliceous, rare chlorite		
- 98	VOLCANIC ROCK, medium grey, siliceous, rare pyrite		
- 100			7.5 inch diameter borehole
- 102	VOLCANIC ROCK, medium grey, rare pyrite, rare chlorite	Water Cut: 0.2 L/s,	
- 104	VOLCANIC ROCK, medium grey, rare quartz, rare pyrite	Temp: 21.1°C, DO: 32.8%, DO: 2.89 ppm, EC: 72.2 μS/cm, TDS:	
- 106		46.8 g/L, pH: 7.9, ORP: 73.6 mV	
- 108	VOLCANIC ROCK, medium grey, thinly laminated,	Water Cut: 0.2 L/s,	
- 110	partings pyrite	53%, DO: 5.01 ppm, EC: 25.9 μS/cm, TDS:	
- 112		16.9 g/L, pH: 8.32, ORP: 61.4 mV	
- 114		Water Cut: 0.2 L/s,	
- 116	VOLCANIC ROCK, medium grey, rare quartz	54.2%, DO: 5.06 ppm, EC: 33.4 μS/cm, TDS:	
- 118	VOLCANIC ROCK, medium grey, platy	ORP: 57 mV	
- 120		Water Cut: 0.2 L/s, Temp: 18 5°C, DO	
- 122	VOLCANIC ROCK, medium grey, platy, siliceous; rare quartz. rare pyrite	51%, DO: 4.78 ppm, EC: 37.3 μS/cm, TDS: 24.05 α/μ pH: 8.19	
- 124		ORP: 69.1 mV	
- 126		Water Cut: 0.3 L/s, Temp: 19.5°C, DO:	
- 128		44.4%, DO: 4.08 ppm, EC: 44.7 μS/cm, TDS: 29.25 g/L, pH: 8.62.	
- 130		ORP: 47.5 mV	
- 132			

L

- — 134				Blue metal gravel backfill (5-8mm wash)
- 136				5 inch steel casing
- - 138				7 5 in chalimenten
- 140	VOLCANIC ROCK, medium grey, platy, siliceous	Water Cut: 0.4 L/s, Temp: 14.2°C, DO: 49.4% DO: 5.07 ppm		borehole
- 142		EC: 27.8 μS/cm, TDS: 18.2 g/L, pH: 2.28, ORP: 61.8 mV		
- 144		Water Cut: 0.4 L/s,		
- 146		48.4%, DO: 4.82 ppm, EC: 28.7 µS/cm, TDS:	× ×	
- 148		18.85 g/L, pH: 8.41, ORP: 71.4 mV		
- 150		Water Cut: 0.5 L/s,		
- 152		Temp: 12.9°C, DO: 44.1%, DO: 4.66 ppm, EC: 39.2 µS/cm, TDS: 25.25 c/l, pH: 8.68		
— 154 -	VOLCANIC ROCK, medium grey, siliceous, rare	ORP: 81.9 mV		
- 156	VOLCANIC ROCK, medium grey, siliceous	Water Cut: 0.5 L/s,	\mathbf{X}	
- 158		Temp: 12.7°C, DO: 54%, DO: 5.74 ppm, EC: 27.3 uS/cm. TDS:		
- 160		17.55 g/L, pH: 8.48, ORP: 95.3 mV		
— 162 —		Water Cut: 0.5 L/s,	>	
— 164 -		50.6%, DO: 5.4 ppm, EC: 48 µS/cm, TDS:		
- 166 -	VOLCANIC ROCK, medium grey, siliceous, rare	ORP: 85.7 mV		Bentonite seal
- 168	VOLCANIC ROCK, medium grey, siliceous, rare	Water Cut: 0.5 L/s,	5	
- 170	VOLCANIC ROCK, medium grey, platy, siliceous; rare guartz	A Temp: 13.8°C, DO: 44.9%, DO: 5.06 ppm, EC: 43.1 μS/cm, TDS:	>	
- 172		27.95 g/L, pH: 8.43, ORP: 94.1 mV		
- 174		Water Cut: 1 L/s, Temp:		
_ 176		12.6°C, DO: 49.6%, DO: 5.26 ppm, EC: 35.4 μS/cm, TDS: 22.75 g/L,		
- 178		pH: 8.5, ORP: 110 mV		
- 180	VOLCANIC ROCK, dark grey, platy, rare pyrite	Water Cut: 2 L/s. Temp		
- - 182		13.4°C, DO: 48.3%, DO: 5.06 ppm, EC: 36.2 µS/cm, TDS: 23.4 g/L,		
- 184		pH: 8.59, ORP: 107.1 mV		
- 186	VOLCANIC ROCK, dark grey, platy, rare quartz			_ Gravel pack (5mm wash)
- 188	VOLCANIC ROCK, dark grey, platy	Water Cut: 2 L/s, Temp: 16°C, DO: 44.6%, DO: 4 4 ppm FC: 36 6		
- 190		μS/cm, TDS: 24.05 g/L, pH: 8.25, ORP: 115.7		
- - 192		mv		5 inch slotted steel
- 194	VOLCANIC BOCK modium area alate and	4		aperture)
- - 196	quartz, rare pyrite			
- 198				
L 200		Water Cut: 2 L/s, Temp: 15.7°C, DO: 46.8%,		

EMM		Л	WATER MONITORING BORE LOG				Bore ID: SMB04		
			Client: Snowy Hydro Project: Snowy Hydro 2.0						
www.emn	nconsulting.co	m.au	Date completed: 10/05/2018			Projec	t numbe	er: J17188	
Suite 01, 20 Chandos Street			et Drilling contractor: Highland Drilling			Elevat	tion:	1341.6	
St Leona	ards NSW 206	5	Drilling method: Air rotary	-		Eastin	ng:	638897.7	
F:02 94	93 9599		Hydrogeologist: K Maher			Northi	ing:	6038519.2	
Static Wa	ater Level: 12	2.27 ml	bgl Screened Format	ion: Gooandra Volc	anics	Date:	10/05/2	018	
Total de	pth: 180 m		Screened depth:	170 - 179 mbgl		Casing	g: 50 mn	n PVC	
Denth	Lithology					Bore	Comple	etion Diagram	
(mbgl)	Graphic		Description	Water Quality		Diagran	n	Design notes	
		SOIL	dark brown, extremely weathered, Contains					Cement grout	
		CLAY	medium yellowish brown, extremely					-	
-2		CLAY	nered / medium vellowish grey, highly weathered				·/		
-		CLAY	medium yellowish grey, moderately				`/ `/		
-4		VOLC	cereu, smail rock fragments present				×/		
F		mode mediu	rately weathered, VOLCANIC ROCK, 50% um bluish grey, moderately weathered				×/		
-6			, ,,, ,,						
-		VOLC	CANIC ROCK medium brown, slightly						
-8		VOLC	CANIC ROCK medium yellowish brown,					6 inch PVC surface casing	
-		slightl bluish	ly oxidised, VOLCANIC ROCK, 50% medium n grey, slightly oxidised, platy					-	
- 10		VOLC	CANIC ROCK dark greyish brown, fresh,				·/		
-		VOLC	CANIC ROCK medium yellowish brown,				`/ `/		
- 12		VOLC	CANIC ROCK medium yellowish grey, slightly			\mathbb{R}	`/ `/		
-		oxidis VOI C	ed CANIC ROCK medium vellowish brown				`/ `/		
- 14		slight	ly oxidised				×/ ×/		
- 16		VOLC VOLC oxidis	CANIC ROCK medium bluish grey, fresh, CANIC ROCK, 20% medium brown, slightly sed						
- 10	änics	VOLC oxidis grey,	CANIC ROCK medium brown, slightly ed, VOLCANIC ROCK, 40% medium bluish fresh						
- 18 -	andra Volc	VOLC hard	CANIC ROCK dark bluish grey, fresh, platy,	Started injecting water at 18m due to dust. No noticable fractures					
- 20		VOLC	CANIC ROCK medium grey, fresh	volumes to sample at end of rods 18-66m					
- 22 		VOLC quartz	CANIC ROCK dark bluish grey, fresh, rare z						
-24		VOLC	CANIC ROCK medium bluish grey, fresh						
F		VOLC	CANIC ROCK light grey, fresh, siliceous, hard;						
26 -		rare q	juartz						
- 28		VOLC	CANIC ROCK medium grey, fresh						
- 30									
		VOLC	CANIC ROCK medium grey, fresh, rare quartz						
F									
- 34		VOLC	CANIC ROCK medium grey, fresh						
F		VOLC	CANIC ROCK medium grey, fresh						
- 36 -									

— 38 -	_			
— 4 0				
— 42				
- 44 		VOLCANIC ROCK medium grey, fresh, rare quartz		
— 46 _		VOLCANIC ROCK medium grey, fresh, rare quartz, rare pyrite		
— 4 8				
— 50				
- 52 		VOLCANIC ROCK medium grey, fresh, rare quartz		
— 54 _		VOLCANIC ROCK medium grey, fresh		
— 56				
— 58 -		VOLCANIC ROCK medium grey, fresh, rare quartz, rare pyrite		
— 60 -	canics -	VOLCANIC ROCK light grey, fresh, micaceous, rare pyrite		
— 62 -	oandra Vol			
— 64 -	ფ 	VOLCANIC ROCK medium grey, fresh, rare quartz, rare pyrite		
— 66 -				
— 68 _		VOLCANIC ROCK medium grey, fresh, moderate quartz, rare pyrite		
— 70		VOLCANIC ROCK medium grey, fresh		
- 72		VOLCANIC ROCK medium grey, fresh, micaceous, thinly laminated; rare quartz, rare pyrite	Water Cut: <0.1 L/s, Temp: 15.6°C, DO:	
— 74 -		VOLCANIC ROCK medium grey, fresh	54.1%, DO: 5.39 ppm, EC: 178.4 µS/cm, TDS: 115.7 mg/L, pH: 6.93, ORP: 89.7 mV	
— 76			Water Cut: <0.1 L/s, Temp: 17.9°C, DO:	
— 78 			67.2%, DO: 6.45 ppm, EC: 120.4 μS/cm, TDS: 78.65 mg/L, pH: 7.14, ORP: 89.6 mV	
— 80 _		VOLCANIC ROCK medium grey, fresh, rare quartz		
— 82 -			Temp: 17.4°C, DO: 51%, DO: 4.66 ppm, EC: 106.9 µS/cm, TDS: 65.55 mg/L, pH: 5.81, ORP: 228 mV. First	Blue metal gravel backfill (5-8mm wash)
— 84 -			water of the day after evacuation	50mm blank PN18
— 86	\perp	VOLCANIC ROCK medium grey, fresh, rare pyrite	Water Cut: 0.1 L/s.	(threaded)

Т				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
	- — 88 -		VOLCANIC ROCK medium grey, fresh, micaceous		Blue metal gravel backfill (5-8mm wash)
	— 90 -			Water Cut: 0.1 L/s, Temp: 13.8°C, DO: 54.9%, DO: 5.69 ppm.	50mm blank PN18 U-PVC casing (threaded)
	- 92			EC: 54.9 µS/cm, TDS: 35.75 mg/L, pH: 6.42, ORP: 176.4 mV	5 1/2 inch diameter
-	— 94 -		VOLCANIC ROCK medium grey, fresh, rare quartz		borehole
	- 96			Water Cut: 0.1 L/s, Temp: 16.6°C, DO:	
-	— 98 -		VOLCANIC ROCK medium grey, fresh	48.9%, DO: 4.87 ppm, EC: 70.8 μS/cm, TDS: 46.15 mg/L, pH: 6.65, ORP: 153 mV	
-	— 100				
-	- 102		VOLCANIC ROCK medium grey, fresh, moderate quartz	Water Cut: 0.2 L/s, Temp: 17°C, DO:	
	- — 104 -		VOLCANIC ROCK medium grey, fresh, platy	46.2%, DO: 4.46 ppm, EC: 68.9 µS/cm, TDS: 44.85 mg/L, pH: 7.24, ORP: 142.2 mV	
-	— 106 -		VOLCANIC ROCK medium grey, fresh, rare pyrite		
	— 108 -			Water Cut: 0.1 L/s, Temp: 16.8°C, DO:	
-	— 110 -	fra Volcanii	VOLCANIC ROCK medium grey, fresh, siliceous, platy	EC: 76.8 µS/cm, TDS: 50.05 mg/L, pH: 8.4, ORP: 110 mV	
	— 112 -	- Gooanc			
-	— 114 -			Temp: 8.9°C, DO: 34.5%, DO: 4 ppm, EC: 125.2 uS/cm TDS:	
	— 116 -			21.25 mg/L, pH: 6.65, ORP: 214.3 mV, First water of the day after evacuation	
	— 118 -				
-	— 120 -			Water Cut: 0.3 L/s, Temp: 14.1°C, DO: 54.9%, DO: 5.64 ppm,	
	— 122 -		VOLCANIC ROCK medium grey, fresh, moderate quartz	EC: 74.1 μS/cm, TDS: 48.1 mg/L, pH: 7.1, ORP: 180.9 mV	
	— 124 -				
	— 126		VOLCANIC ROCK medium grey, fresh, siliceous, rare quartz	Water Cut: 0.5 L/s, Temp: 18.3°C, DO:	
	- — 128 -			61.8%, DO: 5.81 ppm, EC: 68.4 μS/cm, TDS: 44.2 mg/L, pH: 7.98, ORP: 131.2 mV, Graphitic sheen on	
	— 130 -			water	
	— 132 -		VOLCANIC ROCK medium grey, fresh. siliceous.	vvater Cut: 0.5 L/s, Temp: 20.4°C, DO: 52.2%, DO: 4.75 ppm, EC: 100.1 μS/cm, TDS: 68.9 mg/L, pH: 5.85.	
	— 134 -		rare chalcopyrite VOLCANIC ROCK medium grey, fresh, siliceous, thinly laminated; rare quartz	ORP: 102.2 mV	
- 1				···ator out. 0.0 L/0,	

136 -	Т			Blue metal gravel backfill (5-8mm wash)
— 138 _				50mm blank DN19
— 140 -		VOLCANIC ROCK medium grey, fresh, platy		U-PVC casing (threaded)
— 142 -		VOLCANIC ROCK medium grey, fresh, rare quartz		5 1/2 inch diameter borehole
— 144 -		VOLCANIC ROCK dark grey, fresh, platy, rare pyrite	Water Cut: 0.5 L/s, Temp: 14.6°C, DO:	
— 146 -		VOLCANIC ROCK dark grey, fresh, rare quartz	52.3%, DO. 5.34 μμπ, EC: 85.9 μS/cm, TDS: 55.9 mg/L, pH: 8.89, ORP: 93.6 mV	
- 148 -				
— 150 -		VOLCANIC ROCK dark grey, fresh, rare quartz, rare pyrite	Water Cut: 0.5 L/s, Temp: 17.5°C, DO: 54.9%, DO: 5.26 ppm,	
— 152 -		VOLCANIC ROCK medium grey, fresh, moderate quartz	EC: 82 µS/cm, TDS: 55.3 mg/L, pH: 8.97, ORP: 78.4 mV, Graphitic sheen on	
— 154 -		VOLCANIC ROCK medium grey, fresh, massive, chloritic; rare quartz, chips contain quartz veins VOLCANIC ROCK medium grey, fresh, platy	water	
— 156 -	lcanics -	VOLCANIC ROCK medium grov, freeh, chloritic	Water Cut: 0.7 L/s, Temp: 16°C, DO: 55.5% DO: 5.47 ppm	
— 158 -	andra Vc	rare quartz	EC: 65.9 μS/cm, TDS: 42.9 mg/L, pH: 8.8, ORP: 67.6 mV, Graphitic shoon on	
- 160	Gooi	VOLCANIC ROCK dark grey, fresh	water	
		VOLCANIC ROCK medium grey, fresh		
- 162		VOLCANIC ROCK medium grey, fresh, chloritic, rare quartz	Water Cut: 0.7 L/s, Temp: 18.5°C, DO:	
164 		VOLCANIC ROCK dark grey, fresh	41.3 ⁹ , DO: 3.87 ppm, EC: 133.3 μS/cm, TDS: 86.45 mg/L, pH: 8.28, ORP: 117.7 mV	
— 166 -		VOLCANIC ROCK medium grey, fresh, rare quartz		Bentonite seal
— 168 -			Water Cut: 0.7 L/s, Temp: 16.9°C, DO: 48.3%, DO: 4.68 ppm,	
- 170 -		VOLCANIC ROCK medium grey, fresh, massive,	EC: 82.9 μS/cm, TDS: 53.95 mg/L, pH: 8.48, ORP: 109.7 mV, Graphitic sheen on	
- 172 -		rare quartz, rare pyrite	water	
- 174 -		VOLCANIC ROCK medium grey, fresh, rare quartz	Water Cut: 3 L/s, Temp: 12.7°C, DO: 57.8%, DO: 6.16 ppm, EC: 91.3	Gravel pack (5mm wash)
- 176			µS/cm, TDS: 59.15 mg/L, pH: 8.51, ORP: 146 mV, fracture at 175.5m	50mm slotted PN18 U-PVC casing
- 178		VOLCANIC ROCK medium grey, fresh, siliceous, rare pyrite		(0.5mm aperture)
L 180	\perp			U-PVC sump (threaded)

EMM		Л	WATER MONITORIN	Bore ID: SMB05					
			Client: Snowy Hydro Project: Snowy Hydro 2.0						
www.emmconsulting.com.au			Date completed: 14/05/2018	Project number: J17188					
Suite 01	I, 20 Chandos	Street	Drilling contractor: Highland Dril	ling		Elevation:	1341.8		
T: 02 94	ards INSVV 206:	0	Drilling method: Air rotary			Easting:	638890.2		
F :02 94	93 9599		Hydrogeologist: S Cassidy			Northing:	6038515.5		
Static W	ater Level: 18	.83 mł	bgl Screened Format	tion: Gooandra Volc	canics	Date: 14/05	/2018		
Total de	pth: 50 m		Screened depth:	40 - 49 mbgl		Casing: 50 n	nm PVC		
Depth	Lithology		Description	Wator Quality		Bore Comp	letion Diagram		
(mbgl)	Graphic		Description	water Quality	Diagram		Design notes		
0		NO S/	AMPLE				Cement grout		
-2							3		
-		VOLC	CANIC ROCK medium grey, moderately ed						
6									
-8			CANIC ROCK medium grey moderately						
- 10		oxidis	ed						
-		VOLC	CANIC ROCK medium grey, moderately ed, rare quartz						
- 12 -		VOLC	CANIC ROCK medium grey, moderately						
- 14		VOLC	CANIC ROCK medium grey, moderately						
- 16		VOLC	ANIC ROCK medium grey, slightly oxidised,				Blue metal gravel		
- 18		rare q	uartz				backfill (5-8mm		
-						ĺ ₩ Š	50mm blank PN18		
- 20							U-PVC casing (threaded)		
- 22							(1997)		
- 24	olc ar		ANIC BOCK medium arou, mederate quarte						
- 26		VOLC	CANIC ROCK medium grey, moderate quartz				5 1/2 inch diameter borehole		
- 20	Noan Contraction C		CANIC ROCK medium arev						
28									
- 30		VOLC	CANIC ROCK dark grey						
- 32									
- 34									
- 34									
<u> </u> −36			, and reder modulingroy				Demonite seal		
- 38									
40						<u>3 </u>			
-									
- 42									
44							Gravel pack (5mm wash)		
- 46									
- 48							50mm slotted PN18		
-							U-PVC casing (0.5mm aperture)		
└─ 50		1			1		(

50mm blank PN18 U-PVC sump (threaded)

EMM		Ν	WATER MONITORI	Bore ID: PB05				
			Client: Snowy Hydro Limited	/ Hydro 2.0				
www.emm	nconsulting.com	n.au	Date completed: 18/06/2018			Project	r: J17188	
Suite 01,	20 Chandos S	treet	Drilling contractor: Mulligans Ge	otechnical		Elevatio	on:	614.3 mAHD
St Leona	ards NSW 2065		Drilling method: Mud rotary			Easting	:	624500.3
F: 02 949	93 9500 93 9599		Hydrogeologist: GHD			Northin	g:	6040714.1
Static Wa	ater Level: 51.	96 mE	BGL Open Formation:	Ravine Beds	I	Date:	19/01/2	2019
Total dep	oth: 100) mBG	GL Open Depth:	Open hole 55 -	100	Casing	Class	9 PVC
Denth						Bore	Comp	oletion
(mbgl)	Graphic		Description	Drilling Notes		Diagram		Design notes
		SILTS oxidise graine quartz	TONE fine grained, dark brown, slightly ed, interbedded, SANDSTONE, 20% fine d, light brown, slightly oxidised, minor , minor calcite					Cement grout
10		CONG brown greeni	SLOMERATE fine to coarse grained, light , sub-angular, SAND, 40% fine grained, light ish brown			אראראי אראראי		
15 15 		SILTS minor	TONE fine grained, medium brownish grey, quartz					126 mm diameter borehole
- 20 		SILTS 20% q	TONE fine grained, medium brownish grey, uartz					50 mm class 9 PVC casing
25 		SILTS quartz sands	TONE fine grained, medium grey, minor , minor calcite, occasional interbedded tone layers					
- 30 -		SILTS quartz SILTS	TONE fine grained, medium grey, minor , minor calcite, rare pyrite TONE fine grained, medium grey, slightly					Blue metal gravel
- 35 -		oxidise SILTS SAND	ed, 20% quartz, rare pyrite TONE fine grained, medium grey, STONE, 30% fine grained, medium grey					backfill (5-8mm wash)
- 40 -								
45 	eds	SILTS SAND mediu	TONE fine grained, medium grey, STONE, 30% fine to coarse grained, m grey, 20% quartz					
- 50 -	Ravine B			Temp: 27.2°C, DO:))) ()		Bentonite seal
- 55 -				99.8%, DO: 7.91 ppm, EC: 177.4 μS/cm, TDS: 115.05 g/L, pH: 7.98, ORP: 112.3 mV		N N		
- 60 -	•••	SAND grey SILTS	STONE fine to coarse grained, medium					
- 65 -		SAND grey, 7 SILTS	STONE fine to coarse grained, medium Prounded pebbles					
- 70 -		SAND	STONE, 30% fine to coarse grained, m grey					
- 75 -								
		SILTS SAND mediu	TONE fine grained, medium grey, STONE, 30% fine to coarse grained, m grey, 20% quartz					
- 85 - -		SILTS SAND mediu	TONE fine grained, medium grey, STONE, 30% fine to coarse grained, m grey					
- 90 -								
- 95 -								
匚 ₁₀₀							l	

Appendix D

Pumping test reports



Ground Floor, Suite 01, 20 Chandos Street St Leonards, NSW, 2065 PO Box 21 St Leonards, NSW, 1590

> T +61 2 9493 9500 F +61 2 9493 9599 E info@emmconsulting.com.au

> www.emmconsulting.com.au

11 July 2018

То	Snowy Hydro Limited
From	EMM Consulting Pty Limited

Memorandum

Subject Pumping test analysis report - Tantangara Reservoir (PB01 site).

Dear Chris,

Please find below a brief technical report summarising the pumping test analysis undertaken at the PBO1 site, located at Tantangara Reservoir, Snowy Mountains, NSW (Figure 1).

1 Summary

The PB01 pumping test was undertaken by AquaMann Irrigation and supervised by EMM Consulting Pty Limited (EMM).

A constant-drawdown test (pumping test) was performed over a period of three days between 25 and 27 June 2018.

Due to the low aquifer volume and inflow rate, the pumping test was performed with intermittent pumping which kept the drawdown of PB01 within 0.5 m of 58.3 mBGL. The constant-drawdown test extended over a period of 38 hours and consisted of 156 drawdown and recovery cycles. In each cycle, the aquifer was pumped for approximately two minutes at a rate of 6.75 L/min on average, followed by a recovery period of 12-13 minutes. A summary of the test is provided in Table 1.

Table 1 PB01 Constant-drawdown test summary table

Description	Detail
Test type	Constant-drawdown test
Date	25 Jun - 27 Jun 2018
Discharge rate	0.11 L/s ¹ while pumping (6.75 L/min ² overall)
Site location	Tantangara Reservoir
Duration	38 hours
Production bore	PB01 - open hole from 30-60 mBGL ³
Observation bore (deep)	BH1116 - distance of 28.7 m from PB01, screened from 78.5 – 92.8 mBGL
Observation bore (shallow)	BH1115 - distance of 180 m from PB01, screened from 39 - 54 mBGL
Initial water level	PB01 - 12.04 mbTOC ⁴ measured on 25 June 2018
	BH1116 - 9.44 mBGL measured on 25 June 2018
	BH1115 - 11.64 mBGL measured on 25 June 2018
Notas: 1 1/s - litras par sacon	d.

Notes: 1. L/s = litres per second;

L/min = litres per minute;

3. mBGL = metres below ground level; and

4. mbTOC = metres below top of casing.




Kosciuszko

National Park

YARRANGOBILLY

Tantangara Reservoir site

Snowy 2.0 Tantangara Reservoir pumping test Figure 1



GDA 1994 MGA Zone 55 N

2 Conceptualisation and assumptions

A 2-dimenional cross-sectional model of the pumping test is shown in Figure 2, with the following highlighted:

- The groundwater pumping/monitoring set-up at Tantangara Reservoir consisted of one production bore (PB01) and two monitoring bores (BH1115 and BH1116).
- The bores were arranged such that BH1115 and BH1116 were 180 and 28.7 m away from the production bore respectively.
- The shallow monitoring bore, BH1115 was screened from 42 51 mBGL, with a gravel pack installed from 39 54 mBGL;
- The deep monitoring bore, BH1116 was screened from 80.5 89.5 mBGL, with a gravel pack installed from 78.5 92.8 mBGL;
- The PB01 production bore consisted of an open hole between 30 60 mBGL with no gravel pack.

Two analytical methods were used to estimate aquifer properties including:

- 1. AqteSolv: industry leading software for analysing aquifer tests using a variety of aquifer types and solutions.
- 2. MLU: a multi-layered model used to analyse aquifer test data and design wellfields based on the Stehfest's numerical method, superposition principles, and the Levenberg-Marquardt algorithm for parameter optimisation.

The following additional assumptions were used to facilitate analysis:

- aquifers and aquitards are infinite in extent;
- aquifers are homogeneous and uniform in thickness;
- aquitards have a uniform vertical hydraulic conductivity;
- flow in aquitards are vertical;
- flow to the well is horizontal;
- for the AqteSolv solutions, the aquifer is conceptualised as one thick aquifer only;
- the initial water table was approximately measured at 12 mBGL;
- the shallower aquifer system was assumed to be 48 m thick for the MLU model (ie the water table height minus the base of the PB01 open hole);
- the sediment pile between the two monitoring bores, conceptualised to be an aquitard for the MLU model, was set to a thickness of 18.5 m (ie the base of the PB01 open hole minus the top of the gravel pack for BH1116);
- the deeper aquifer was assumed to be 14.3 m thick for the MLU model (ie the top of the BH1116 gravel pack minus the base of the BH1116 gravel pack); and
- the aquifer thickness of the AqteSolv model was assumed to be 80.8 m (ie the water table minus the base of the gravel pack of BH1116).





3 Analysis

Summaries of the results from MLU and AqteSolv are provided in Table 2, Table 3 and Table 4. A brief discussion of the results is provided in Section 4.

Table 2PB01 MLU analysis - aquifers

Aquifer	Distance from Production bore PB01 (m)	Aquifer thickness (m)	T (m²/d) ¹	Kh (m/d)²	S [-]
Shallow Aquifer	0	48	0.22	0.0046	1.9e-7
Deep Aquifer	28.7	14.3	0.18	0.013	2.6e-5

Notes: 1. m^2/d = Metres squared per day; and 2. m/d = metres per day

2. m/d = metres per day.

Table 3PB01 MLU analysis - aquitards

Data Sets	Aquitard Thickness (m)	c (d)	Kv (m/d)
BH1115 and PB01	18.5	1885	0.010

Table 4PB01 AqteSolv analysis

Solution Type	Aquifer Type	Aquifer Thickness (m)	Partial Penetration	K (m²/d)	K'(m/d)
Barker (Double Porosity)	Fractured	80.8	Yes	6.5e-3	5.3e-3

4 Discussion

The results of the pumping test analyses show estimates of horizontal hydraulic conductivity (Kh) within an order of magnitude, ranging between 0.0046 and 0.013 m/d. The MLU analysis shows a vertical hydraulic conductivity of 0.010 m/d for the aquitard between the deep and shallow systems, suggesting an aquifer anisotropy value close to 1.

Storativity values ranging between 1.9^{-7} and 2.6^{-5} have been estimated using MLU, the lower value of which is seen in sound rocks, while the higher value can be found in fractured rocks (Batu 1998). This result is reasonable as the aquifers monitored in the PB01 pumping test were composed of fractured dacite.

In terms of flow conditions, the AqteSolv solution can estimate the derivative of drawdown, which provides some insight into flow conditions. The blue curve, shown on Figure 3 represents the type curve matched to the drawdown data within PB01, and the red curve shows the derivative. When plotted on semi-log axes, the type curve obtains a constant positive linear slope later in the pumping test (after approximately 0.4 days). This implies that the production bore is being fed by infinite acting radial flow.



Figure 3: Pumping test analysis for the BH1116 monitoring well using the Barker double porosity method. (blue = type curve, red = derivative)

5 Closing

We trust that this document addresses your requirements. Please let us know if you have any questions.

Yours Sincerely,

BR

Bill Bull Environmental Engineer bbull@emmconsulting.com.au

6 References

Batu, V 1998, Aquifer Hydraulics: A Comprehensive Guide to Hydrogeologic Data Analysis, John Wiley & Sons, New York, 727p.



Ground Floor, Suite 01, 20 Chandos Street St Leonards, NSW, 2065 PO Box 21 St Leonards, NSW, 1590

> T +61 2 9493 9500 F +61 2 9493 9599 E info@emmconsulting.com.au

> www.emmconsulting.com.au

11 July 2018

То	Snowy Hydro Limited
From	EMM Consulting Pty Limited

Memorandum

Subject Pumping test analysis report - Tantangara Creek (PB03 site).

Dear Chris,

Please find below a brief technical report summarising the pumping test analysis undertaken at the PB03 site, located near Tantangara Creek, Snowy Mountains, NSW (Figure 1).

1 Summary

The PB03 pumping test was undertaken by AquaMann Irrigation and supervised by EMM Consulting Pty Limited (EMM).

A constant-rate test (pumping test) was performed over a period of two days: 2 and 3 July 2018.

The constant-rate test extended over a period of 11.5 hours and consisted of 12 minutes of continuous pumping and 11.25 hours of recovery. During the drawdown period, the aquifer was pumped at a rate of 100 mL/min. Due to the low aquifer volume and water inflow rate, the pump was only operated for a short time to prevent excessive heating and potential damage. A summary of the test is provided in Table 1.

Table 1 PB03 Constant-rate test summary table

Description	Detail
Test type	Constant-rate test
Date	2 Jul – 3 Jul 2018
Discharge rate	100 mL/min ¹
Site location	Tantangara Creek
Duration	11.5 hours
Production bore	PB03 - open hole from 200 - 215 mBGL ²
Observation bore (deep)	SMB02 - distance of 7.4 m from PB03, screened from 183 – 195 mBGL
Observation bore (shallow)	SMB03 - distance of 11.8 m from PB03, screened from 41 - 50 mBGL
Initial water level	PB03 - 157.6 mbTOC ³ (after dewatering) measured on 2 July 2018
	SMB02 - 2.215 mBGL measured on 2 July 2018
	SMB03 - 2.045 mBGL measured on 2 July 2018
Notes: 1. mL/min = millilitres p	per minute;

2. mBGL = metres below ground level; and

3. mbTOC = metres below top of casing.





KEY Production bore (PB03) Monitoring bore (SMB02; SMB03) - Watercourse / drainage line Contour (10 m)

PB03 pumping test

Snowy 2.0 Tantangara Creek pumping test Figure 1





GDA 1994 MGA Zone 55 N

2 Conceptualisation and assumptions

A 2-dimenional cross-sectional model of the pumping test is shown in Figure 2, with the following highlighted:

- The groundwater pumping/monitoring set-up near Tantangara Creek consisted of one production bore (PB03) and two monitoring bores (SMB02, SMB03).
- The bores were arranged such that SMB02 and SMB03 were 7.4 and 11.8 m away from the production bore respectively.
- The shallow monitoring bore, SMB03 was screened from 41 50 mBGL, with a gravel pack installed from 38 - 50 mBGL;
- The deep monitoring bore, SMB02 was screened from 183 195 mBGL, with a gravel pack installed from 180 195 mBGL;
- The PB03 production bore consisted of an open hole between 200 215 mBGL with no gravel pack.

AqteSolv was the analytical method used to estimate aquifer properties. AqteSolv is industry leading software for analysing aquifer tests using a variety of aquifer types and solutions.

The following additional assumptions were used to facilitate analysis:

- aquifers and aquitards are infinite in extent;
- aquifers are homogeneous and uniform in thickness;
- aquitards have a uniform vertical hydraulic conductivity;
- flow in aquitards are vertical;
- flow to the well is horizontal;
- for the AqteSolv solutions, the aquifer is conceptualised as one thick aquifer only;
- the initial water table was approximately measured at 2.1 mBGL;
- the aquifer thickness of the AqteSolv model was assumed to be 55 m (ie the initial water level in PB03 to the base of the PB03 open hole).

Initial Water Table 🔻	SMB02	PB03	SMB03
2.1 mBGL Aquifer	≺ 7.4 m	→ <	→
50mBGL			41-50 mBGL
Aquitard			
180mBGL			
Aquifer		200, 215 mBGL (open be	
215mBGL			

Figure 2: Cross-section of the PB03 pumping test setup near Tantangara Creek.

3 Analysis

Summaries of the results from AqteSolv are provided in Table 2. A brief discussion of the results is provided in Section 4.

Table 2PB03 AqteSolv analysis

Solution Type	Aquifer Type	Aquifer Thickness (m)	Partial Penetration	K (m/d) ^{1,2}	K' (m/d)³
Moench (Double Porosity)	Fractured	55	Yes	8.81 e-8	5.97 e-9
Barker	Confined	55	Yes	9.07 e-8	-

Notes: 1. K = overall hydraulic conductivity (confined solution) or hydraulic conductivity of fractures (fractured solution); 2. m/d = meters per day; and

3. K' = hydraulic conductivity of the rock matrix (fractured solution).

4 Discussion

Due to low volumes of water in the aquifer and small inflow rates, the pump was only operated for 12 minutes at a flow rate of 100 mL/min before no further water could be extracted. Due to this, there were not many data points available for modelling the drawdown portion of the pumping test. Additionally, only 5 cm of recovery was noted over an 11.5 period after the pump was removed. Therefore, to model this pumping test, AqteSolv was used to fit a curve to the late time recovery data up to 30 days after the cessation of pumping. This analysis is shown in Figure 3.

The results of both pumping test models (double-porosity fractured aquifer and confined aquifer) produce similar values for horizontal hydraulic conductivity (K), ranging between 8.81e-8 and 9.07e-8 m/d. These values are typical for unfractured volcanic rocks, which usually show hydraulic conductivities of 2.59e-9 to 1.73e-5 (Batu 1998). This result fits with the low water volumes and inflow rates observed in PB03 during the pumping test, as well as the aquifer composition of volcanic rock noted on the drill logs.



Figure 3: Pumping test analysis for PB03 using the Barker confined aquifer model fit to late time data.

5 Closing

We trust that this document addresses your requirements. Please let us know if you have any questions.

Yours Sincerely,

BR

Bill Bull Environmental Engineer bbull@emmconsulting.com.au

6 References

Batu, V 1998, *Aquifer Hydraulics: A Comprehensive Guide to Hydrogeologic Data Analysis*, John Wiley & Sons, New York, 727p.



Ground Floor, Suite 01, 20 Chandos Street St Leonards, NSW, 2065 PO Box 21 St Leonards, NSW, 1590

> T +61 2 9493 9500 F +61 2 9493 9599 E info@emmconsulting.com.au

> www.emmconsulting.com.au

2 July 2018

То	Richard Clarke
From	EMM Consulting Pty Limited

Memorandum

Subject Pumping Test Analysis Report- Gooandra Creek (PB04 site).

Dear Richard,

Please find below a brief technical report summarising the pumping test analysis undertaken at the PB04 site, located at Goondra Creek, Snowy Mountains, NSW (Figure 1).

1 Summary

The PB04 pumping test was undertaken by AquaMann Irrigation and supervised by EMM Consulting Pty Limited (EMM).

A constant rate test (pumping test) was performed over a period of five days between 28 May and 1 Jun 2018. The constant rate test extended over a period of 85 hours, including 70 hours of constant pumping and 15 hours of recovery. Details of the test summary are provided in Table 1.

Table 1PB04 Constant rate test summary table

Description	Detail
Test type	Constant rate test
Date	28 May - 1 Jun 2018
Discharge rate	0.69 L/s ¹
Site location	Gooandra Creek
Duration	85 hours
Production bore	PB04 screened from 185 - 200 mBGL ²
Observation bore (deep)	SMB04 - distance of 10.8 m from PB04, screened from 170 - 179 mBGL
Observation bore (shallow)	SMB05 - distance of 10.8 m from PB04, screened from 40 - 49 Mbgl
Initial water level	PB04 - 12.32 mbTOC ³ measured on 24 May 18
	SMB04 - 14.96 mBGL measured on 24 May 18
	SMB05 - 19.51 mBGL measured on 24 May 18

Notes: 1. L/s = litres per second;

2. mBGL = metres below ground level; and

3. mbTOC = metres below top of casing.



GDA 1994 MGA Zone 55 N



snowy2.0

Kosciuszko National Park

Tantangara

TANTANGARA

2 Conceptualisation and assumptions

A 2-dimenional cross-sectional model of the pumping test is shown in Figure 2, with the following highlighted:

- The groundwater pumping/monitoring set-up at Gooandra Creek consisted of one production bore (PB04) and two monitoring bores (SMB04 and SMB05).
- The bores were arranged in a triangle configuration with each monitoring bore located 10.8 m from the production bore and approximately 8 m away from each other;
- The shallow monitoring bore, SMB05 was screened from 40 49 mBGL, with a gravel pack installed from 38 - 50 mBGL;
- The deep monitoring bore, SMB04 was screened from 170 179 mBGL, with a gravel pack installed from 168 180 mBGL.
- The PB04 production bore was screened from 185 200 mBGL, with a gravel pack installed from 171 200 mBGL.

Two analytical methods were used to estimate aquifer properties including:

- 1. AqteSolv- industry leading software for analysing aquifer tests using a variety of aquifer types and solutions.
- 2. MLU: a multi-layered model used to analyse aquifer test data and design wellfields based on the Stehfest's numerical method, superposition principles, and the Levenberg-Marquardt algorithm for parameter optimisation.

The following additional assumptions were used to facilitate analysis:

- aquifers and aquitards are infinite in extent;
- aquifers are homogeneous and uniform in thickness;
- aquitards have a uniform vertical hydraulic conductivity;
- flow in aquitards are vertical;
- flow to the well is horizontal;
- for the AqteSolv solutions, the aquifer is conceptualised as one thick aquifer only;
- the initial water table was approximately measured at 13.5 mBGL;
- the shallower aquifer system was assumed to be 36.5 m thick for the MLU model (ie the water table height minus the base of the SMB05 gravel pack);
- the sediment pile between the two monitoring bores, conceptualised to be an aquitard for the MLU model, was set to a thickness of 118 m (ie the base of the SMB05 gravel pack minus the top of the gravel pack for SMB04);
- the deeper aquifer was assumed to be 32 m thick for the MLU model (ie the top of the SMB05 gravel pack minus the base of the PB04 gravel pack); and
- the aquifer thickness of the AqteSolv model was assumed to be 186.5 m (ie the water table minus the base of the gravel pack of production bore PB04).



Figure 2: Cross-section of the PB04 pumping test setup at Gooandra Creek.

3 Analysis

A summary of the results are provided in Tables 2, Table 3 and Table 4. A brief discussion of the results is provided in Section 4.

Table 2PB04 MLU analysis - aquifers

Monitoring well	Distance from Production bore PB04 (m)	Aquifer thickness (m)	T (m²/d) ¹	Kh (m/d)²	S [-]
PB04	0	32	0.58	0.018	
SMB04	10.8	32	0.92	0.032	2.5e-4
SMB05	10.8	36.5	0.46	0.013	3.9e-4

Notes: 1. m^2/d = Metres squared per day; and 2. m/d = metres per day.

Table 3 PB04 MLU analysis - aquitards

Data Sets	Aquitard Thickness (m)	c (d)	Kv (m/d)
SMB04 and SMB05	118	7031	0.017

Table 4PB04 AqteSolv analysis

Solution Type	Aquifer Type	Aquifer Thickness (m)	Partial Penetration	T (m²/d)	Kh (m/d)
Tartakovsky-Neuman	Unconfined	186.5	Yes	2.80	0.015
Hantush-Jacob	Leaky confined	186.5	Yes	1.9	0.01

4 Discussion

The results of the pumping test analysis show consistent estimates of horizontal hydraulic conductivity (Kh), ranging between 0.01 and 0.032 m/d. The MLU analysis show a vertical hydraulic conductivity of 0.017 m/d for the sediment pile between the deep and shallow systems, suggesting an aquifer anisotropy value close to 1.

Storativity values, ranging between 2.5^{-4} and 3.9^{-4} have been estimated using MLU and are typical values for hard rock.

In terms of flow conditions, the AqteSolv solution can estimate the derivative of drawdown, which provides some insight into flow conditions. The blue curve, shown on Figure 4 represents the type curve matched to the drawdown data within PB04, and the red curve shows the derivative. The derivative approached a constant value during the early period of the pumping test (<3 minutes), and suggests radial flow conditions were established in an infinite-acting aquifer. During later time (~ 5 hours into the test), the derivative dramatically reduces suggesting the system is starting to reaching a steady state equilibrium. No boundary conditions were observed.



Figure 3: Pumping test analysis for PB04 usng the Hantush-Jacobs method. (blue = type curve, red = derivative)

5 Closing

We trust that this document addresses your requirements. Please let us know if you have any questions.

Yours Sincerely,

Sean Cassidy Senior Hydrogeologist scassidy@emmconsulting.com.au



Ground Floor, Suite 01, 20 Chandos Street St Leonards, NSW, 2065 PO Box 21 St Leonards, NSW, 1590

> T +61 2 9493 9500 F +61 2 9493 9599 E info@emmconsulting.com.au

www.emmconsulting.com.au

То	Richard Clarke
From	EMM Consulting Pty Limited

Memorandum

Subject Pumping test analysis report – Lobs Hole (PB05 site)

Dear Richard,

12 September 2018

Please find below a brief technical report summarising the pumping test analysis undertaken at the PB05 site, located at Lobs Hole, Snowy Mountains, NSW (Figure 1).

1 Summary

The pumping test was undertaken by AquaMann Irrigation and supervised by EMM Consulting Pty Limited (EMM).

A constant rate test (pumping test) was performed over a period of four days between 6 and 9 August 2018. The pumping test took place over a period of 71 hours, including 67 hours of constant pumping and 4 hours of recovery. Details of the test summary are provided in Table 1.

Table 1PB05 constant rate test summary table

Description	Detail				
Test type	Constant rate and recovery test				
Date	6 August to 9 August 2018				
Discharge rate	0.79 L/min				
Site location	Lobs Hole				
Duration	71 hours				
Production bore	PB05 open hole from 50 – 100 mBGL ²				
Observation bore	BH7106 – distance of 15 m from PB05, screened from 130 – 153 mBGL				
Initial water level	PB05 – 51.96 mBGL measured on 6 August 2018				
	BH7106 – 51.66 mBGL measured on 6 August 2018				

Notes: 1. L/s = litres per second; and

2. mBGL = metres below ground level.







- Watercourse / drainage line
- ----- Contour (10 m)

PB05 pumping test

Snowy 2.0 PB05 pumping test Figure 1





GDA 1994 MGA Zone 55 N

2 Conceptualisation and assumptions

A 2-dimensional conceptualised cross-section model for the PB05 site is shown in Figure 2 with the following details:

- The groundwater pumping/monitoring set-up at Lobs Hole consisted of one production bore (PB05) and one monitoring bore (BH7106).
- The bores were located approximately 15 m away from each other.
- The production bore, PB05 had an open hole from 50 100 mBGL;
- The monitoring bore, BH7106 was screened from 130 153 mBGL, with a gravel pack installed from 125 153 mBGL;

Two analytical methods were used to estimate aquifer properties including:

- 1. AqteSolv: industry leading software for analysing aquifer tests using a variety of aquifer types and solutions.
- 2. MLU: a multi-layered model used to analyse aquifer test data and design wellfields based on the Stehfest's numerical method, superposition principles, and the Levenberg-Marquardt algorithm for parameter optimisation.

The following additional assumptions were used to facilitate analysis:

- aquifers and aquitards are infinite in extent;
- aquifers are homogeneous and uniform in thickness;
- aquitards have a uniform vertical hydraulic conductivity;
- flow in aquitards are vertical;
- flow to the well is horizontal;
- for the AqteSolv and MLU solutions, the aquifer is conceptualised as one thick aquifer only;
- the initial water table was approximately measured at 51.8 mBGL; and
- the aquifer thickness assumed when modelling was 101 m (ie the water table minus the base of the gravel pack of BH7106).



Figure 2: Cross-section of the PB05 pumping test setup at Lobs Hole.

3 Analysis

A summary of the results are provided in Table 2 and Table 3. A brief discussion of the results is provided in Section 4. The data was analysed in two parts: early-time data and late-time data. The early-time data is characterised by the influence of a recharge boundary which holds the drawdown in PB05 relatively constant. After the recharge zone had been completely dewatered, the data was considered as late-time data.

Table 2 PB05 pumping test MLU analysis

Data Set	Modelled aquifer thickness (m)	T (m²/d)1	Kh (m/d)²	S [-]		
Late-time	101	0.077	7.7e-4	2.5e-12		
Notes: $1. m^2/d = metres squared per day; and$						

2. m/d = metres per day.

Table 3 PB05 pumping test AqteSolv analysis

Data Set	Solution Type	Aquifer Type	Aquifer Thickness (m)	Kh (m/d)	S [-]	Kv/Kh [-]
Early-time	Gringarten- Witherspoon	Single vertical fracture	101	3.7e-3	6.3e-5	0.035
Late-time	Gringarten- Witherspoon	Single vertical fracture	101	3.3e-4	2.6e-5	0.24

Notes: 1. K_v/K_h = ratio of vertical hydraulic conductivity to horizontal hydraulic conductivity.

4 Discussion

To characterise the groundwater flow for the PB05 and BH7106 bores, linear and bilinear diagnostic plots were used. Figure 2 shows that both bores have unit slopes on a linear flow plot at late times. This suggests that linear flow is taking place in a channel aquifer.

Figure 3 is a bilinear flow plot of the data, which shows that PB05 exhibits bilinear flow conditions earlier in the pumping test. This is indicative of bilinear flow to a single fracture with finite conductivity.



BH7106 (crosses) data showing that linear flow condition are reached in both bores for the late-time data.



The pumping test data also shows the influence of a recharge boundary. Figure 4 shows that from approximately 5 to 24 hours (0.2 to 1 days) after beginning the test, the drawdown of PB05 is held relatively constant. This is likely due to the cone of depression reaching a recharge boundary, which stabilizes the drawdown in the well. Following 24 hours of continuous pumping, the recharge zone becomes dewatered, as seen in the rapid increase in drawdown in PB05. This is also supported by the water quality data collected, which shows the total dissolved solids and electrical conductivity measurements of the water decreasing until the recharge zone is dewatered, after which they remain constant (see Figure 5).



Figure 4: Pumping test analysis of PB05 and BH7106 early data using the Gringarten-Witherspoon vertical fracture model.





Based on this interpretation, data collected for both PB05 and BH7106 was able to be approximately modelled in AqteSolv using the Gringarten-Witherspoon vertical fracture model. The early-time data model is shown in Figure 4, while the late-time model is shown in Figure 6. The horizontal hydraulic conductivity was found to be similar for both the early-time and late-time cases, with values of 3.7e-3 and 3.3e-4 m/d modelled respectively. The reduction in hydraulic conductivity in the late-time data could be due to the dewatering of high conductivity fractures in the recharge zone.

MLU analysis of the late-time data agrees with the AqteSolv results, with a Kh of 7.7e-4 being calculated. The MLU model is shown in Figure 7.

The modelled ratios of Kv/Kh for each dataset were different, with a ratio of 0.035 being found for the early-time data, and 0.24 for the late-time data. Vertical movement of groundwater becoming more significant after dewatering the recharge zone could suggest the recharge zone is made up of high-conductivity horizontal fractures.

Storativity values estimated from both AqteSolv models were in agreement. A storativity of 6.3e-5 was found when modelling the early-time data, and 2.6e-5 was found with the late-time data.



Figure 6: Pumping test analysis of PB05 and BH7106 late data using the Gringarten-Witherspoon vertical fracture model.



Figure 7: Pumping test analysis of PB05 and BH7106 late data using MLU.

5 Closing

We trust that this document addresses your requirements. Please let us know if you have any questions.

Yours Sincerely,

Bill Bull

Environmental Engineer

bbull@emmconsulting.com.au

Sean Cassidy

Associate Hydrogeologist

scassidy@emmconsulting.com.au

Appendix E











Appendix F

Groundwater sampling laboratory certificates



CERTIFICATE OF ANALYSIS

Work Order	ES1820721	Page	: 1 of 6		
Client	EMM CONSULTING PTY LTD	Laboratory	: Environmental Division Sy	/dney	
Contact	: MR SEAN CASSIDY	Contact	: Customer Services ES		
Address	Ground Floor Suite 1 20 Chandos Street	Address	: 277-289 Woodpark Road	Smithfield NSW Australia 2164	
Telephone	: +61 02 9493 9500	Telephone	: +61-2-8784 8555		
Project	: J17188	Date Samples Received	: 13-Jul-2018 08:30		
Order number	:	Date Analysis Commenced	: 13-Jul-2018		
C-O-C number	:	Issue Date	: 18-Jul-2018 16:45		
Sampler	: JAKE TURI, KAITLYN BRODIE			HAC-MRA NAIA	
Site	:				
Quote number	: SY/068/18 V2			Approximation No. 935	
No. of samples received	: 8			Accredited for compliance with	
No. of samples analysed	: 8			ISO/IEC 17025 - Testing	

This report supersedes any previous report(s) with this reference. Results apply to the sample(s) as submitted. This document shall not be reproduced, except in full.

This Certificate of Analysis contains the following information:

- General Comments
- Analytical Results

Additional information pertinent to this report will be found in the following separate attachments: Quality Control Report, QA/QC Compliance Assessment to assist with Quality Review and Sample Receipt Notification.

Signatories

This document has been electronically signed by the authorized signatories below. Electronic signing is carried out in compliance with procedures specified in 21 CFR Part 11.

Signatories	Position	Accreditation Category
Ankit Joshi	Inorganic Chemist	Sydney Inorganics, Smithfield, NSW
Celine Conceicao	Senior Spectroscopist	Sydney Inorganics, Smithfield, NSW



General Comments

The analytical procedures used by the Environmental Division have been developed from established internationally recognized procedures such as those published by the USEPA, APHA, AS and NEPM. In house developed procedures are employed in the absence of documented standards or by client request.

Where moisture determination has been performed, results are reported on a dry weight basis.

Where a reported less than (<) result is higher than the LOR, this may be due to primary sample extract/digestate dilution and/or insufficient sample for analysis.

Where the LOR of a reported result differs from standard LOR, this may be due to high moisture content, insufficient sample (reduced weight employed) or matrix interference.

When sampling time information is not provided by the client, sampling dates are shown without a time component. In these instances, the time component has been assumed by the laboratory for processing purposes.

Where a result is required to meet compliance limits the associated uncertainty must be considered. Refer to the ALS Contact for details.

Key: CAS Number = CAS registry number from database maintained by Chemical Abstracts Services. The Chemical Abstracts Service is a division of the American Chemical Society.

LOR = Limit of reporting

^ = This result is computed from individual analyte detections at or above the level of reporting

ø = ALS is not NATA accredited for these tests.

~ = Indicates an estimated value.

- TDS by method EA-015 may bias high for various samples due to the presence of fine particulate matter, which may pass through the prescribed GF/C paper.
- EN055: Ionic Balance out of acceptable limits for sample 2 due to analytes not quantified in this report.
- Sodium Adsorption Ratio (where reported): Where results for Na, Ca or Mg are <LOR, a concentration at half the reported LOR is incorporated into the SAR calculation. This represents a conservative approach for Na relative to the assumption that <LOR = zero concentration and a conservative approach for Ca & Mg relative to the assumption that <LOR is equivalent to the LOR concentration.

Page : 3 of 6 Work Order : ES1820721 Client : EMM CONSULTING PTY LTD Project : J17188



Analytical Results

Sub-Matrix: WATER (Matrix: WATER)	Client sample ID		PB01	MB04B	MB04A	MB06A	MB06B	
	Client sampling date / time		12-Jul-2018 08:10	11-Jul-2018 16:10	11-Jul-2018 15:00	10-Jul-2018 13:45	10-Jul-2018 14:55	
Compound	CAS Number	LOR	Unit	ES1820721-001	ES1820721-002	ES1820721-003	ES1820721-004	ES1820721-005
				Result	Result	Result	Result	Result
EA015: Total Dissolved Solids dried at 180 ± 5 °C								
Total Dissolved Solids @180°C		10	mg/L	81	644	271	90	208
ED037P: Alkalinity by PC Titrator								
Hydroxide Alkalinity as CaCO3	DMO-210-001	1	mg/L	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Carbonate Alkalinity as CaCO3	3812-32-6	1	mg/L	16	<1	<1	<1	<1
Bicarbonate Alkalinity as CaCO3	71-52-3	1	mg/L	39	135	86	65	92
Total Alkalinity as CaCO3		1	mg/L	55	135	86	65	92
ED041G: Sulfate (Turbidimetric) as SO4 2- by	y DA							
Sulfate as SO4 - Turbidimetric	14808-79-8	1	mg/L	6	80	82	<1	43
ED045G: Chloride by Discrete Analyser								
Chloride	16887-00-6	1	mg/L	5	56	8	2	8
ED093F: Dissolved Major Cations								
Calcium	7440-70-2	1	mg/L	8	10	45	15	29
Magnesium	7439-95-4	1	mg/L	4	1	3	4	8
Sodium	7440-23-5	1	mg/L	11	104	18	3	15
Potassium	7440-09-7	1	mg/L	<1	1	2	1	2
EG020F: Dissolved Metals by ICP-MS								
Arsenic	7440-38-2	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	0.002	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Cadmium	7440-43-9	0.0001	mg/L	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001
Chromium	7440-47-3	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	0.001	0.002	<0.001
Copper	7440-50-8	0.001	mg/L	0.001	0.002	0.014	0.007	<0.001
Nickel	7440-02-0	0.001	mg/L	0.001	0.009	0.004	0.025	0.004
Lead	7439-92-1	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Zinc	7440-66-6	0.005	mg/L	<0.005	0.008	0.047	0.027	<0.005
EG035F: Dissolved Mercury by FIMS								
Mercury	7439-97-6	0.0001	mg/L	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001
EK040P: Fluoride by PC Titrator								
Fluoride	16984-48-8	0.1	mg/L	<0.1	0.6	0.4	<0.1	0.2
EK055G: Ammonia as N by Discrete Analyser								
Ammonia as N	7664-41-7	0.01	mg/L	0.02	<0.01	0.04	<0.01	<0.01
EK057G: Nitrite as N by Discrete Analyser								
Nitrite as N	14797-65-0	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	0.04	<0.01	<0.01
EK058G: Nitrate as N by Discrete Analyser								
Nitrate as N	14797-55-8	0.01	mg/L	0.02	0.01	0.48	0.03	0.04
Page : 4 of 6 Work Order : ES1820721 Client : EMM CONSULTING PTY LTD Project : J17188



Sub-Matrix: WATER (Matrix: WATER)	Client sample ID			PB01	MB04B	MB04A	MB06A	MB06B			
	Cli	ent sampli	ng date / time	12-Jul-2018 08:10	11-Jul-2018 16:10	11-Jul-2018 15:00	10-Jul-2018 13:45	10-Jul-2018 14:55			
Compound	CAS Number	LOR	Unit	ES1820721-001	ES1820721-002	ES1820721-003	ES1820721-004	ES1820721-005			
				Result	Result	Result	Result	Result			
EK059G: Nitrite plus Nitrate as N (NOx) by Discrete Analyser											
Nitrite + Nitrate as N		0.01	mg/L	0.02	0.01	0.52	0.03	0.04			
EK061G: Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen By Disc	rete Analyser										
Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen as N		0.1	mg/L	0.1	0.2	0.1	<0.1	<0.1			
EK062G: Total Nitrogen as N (TKN + NO)	k) by Discrete An	alyser									
^ Total Nitrogen as N		0.1	mg/L	0.1	0.2	0.6	<0.1	<0.1			
EK067G: Total Phosphorus as P by Disc	rete Analyser										
Total Phosphorus as P		0.01	mg/L	0.02	0.11	0.02	<0.01	0.02			
EN055: Ionic Balance											
Total Anions		0.01	meq/L	1.36	5.94	3.65	1.36	2.96			
Total Cations		0.01	meq/L	1.21	5.13	3.33	1.23	2.81			
Ionic Balance		0.01	%		7.33	4.65					

Page : 5 of 6 Work Order : ES1820721 Client : EMM CONSULTING PTY LTD Project : J17188



Sub-Matrix: WATER (Matrix: WATER)	Client sample ID			MB01B	MB01C	MB03	
	Cl	ient samplii	ng date / time	10-Jul-2018 16:45	10-Jul-2018 16:00	10-Jul-2018 09:30	
Compound	CAS Number	LOR	Unit	ES1820721-006	ES1820721-007	ES1820721-008	
				Result	Result	Result	
EA015: Total Dissolved Solids dried at 180 :	±5°C						
Total Dissolved Solids @180°C		10	mg/L	49	133	77	
ED037P: Alkalinity by PC Titrator							
Hydroxide Alkalinity as CaCO3	DMO-210-001	1	mg/L	<1	<1	<1	
Carbonate Alkalinity as CaCO3	3812-32-6	1	mg/L	<1	<1	<1	
Bicarbonate Alkalinity as CaCO3	71-52-3	1	mg/L	24	83	49	
Total Alkalinity as CaCO3		1	mg/L	24	83	49	
ED041G: Sulfate (Turbidimetric) as SO4 2- t	by DA						
Sulfate as SO4 - Turbidimetric	14808-79-8	1	mg/L	<1	10	1	
ED045G: Chloride by Discrete Analyser							
Chloride	16887-00-6	1	mg/L	<1	<1	3	
ED093F: Dissolved Major Cations							
Calcium	7440-70-2	1	mg/L	5	16	8	
Magnesium	7439-95-4	1	mg/L	1	6	4	
Sodium	7440-23-5	1	mg/L	1	9	4	
Potassium	7440-09-7	1	mg/L	<1	1	<1	
EG020F: Dissolved Metals by ICP-MS							
Arsenic	7440-38-2	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	0.006	<0.001	
Cadmium	7440-43-9	0.0001	mg/L	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	
Chromium	7440-47-3	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	
Copper	7440-50-8	0.001	mg/L	0.004	0.005	0.002	
Nickel	7440-02-0	0.001	mg/L	0.002	0.002	<0.001	
Lead	7439-92-1	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	
Zinc	7440-66-6	0.005	mg/L	0.010	0.012	0.006	
EG035F: Dissolved Mercury by FIMS							
Mercury	7439-97-6	0.0001	mg/L	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	
EK040P: Fluoride by PC Titrator							
Fluoride	16984-48-8	0.1	mg/L	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	
EK055G: Ammonia as N by Discrete Analys	er						
Ammonia as N	7664-41-7	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	
EK057G: Nitrite as N by Discrete Analyser							
Nitrite as N	14797-65-0	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	
EK058G: Nitrate as N by Discrete Analyser							
Nitrate as N	14797-55-8	0.01	mg/L	0.04	0.02	0.25	

Page : 6 of 6 Work Order : ES1820721 Client : EMM CONSULTING PTY LTD Project : J17188



Sub-Matrix: WATER (Matrix: WATER)		Cli	ent sample ID	MB01B	MB01C	MB03				
	Cl	ent sampli	ing date / time	10-Jul-2018 16:45	10-Jul-2018 16:00	10-Jul-2018 09:30				
Compound	CAS Number	LOR	Unit	ES1820721-006	ES1820721-007	ES1820721-008				
				Result	Result	Result				
EK059G: Nitrite plus Nitrate as N (NOx) by Discrete Analyser										
Nitrite + Nitrate as N		0.01	mg/L	0.04	0.02	0.25				
EK061G: Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen By Di	iscrete Analyser									
Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen as N		0.1	mg/L	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1				
EK062G: Total Nitrogen as N (TKN + N	Ox) by Discrete Ar	alyser								
^ Total Nitrogen as N		0.1	mg/L	<0.1	<0.1	0.2				
EK067G: Total Phosphorus as P by Dis	screte Analyser									
Total Phosphorus as P		0.01	mg/L	0.38	0.02	0.02				
EN055: Ionic Balance										
Total Anions		0.01	meq/L	0.48	1.87	1.08				
Total Cations		0.01	meq/L	0.38	1.71	0.90				



CERTIFICATE OF ANALYSIS

Work Order	ES1825251	Page	: 1 of 12	
Client	EMM CONSULTING PTY LTD	Laboratory	Environmental Division Sydney	
Contact	: MR SEAN CASSIDY	Contact	: Customer Services ES	
Address	Ground Floor Suite 1 20 Chandos Street	Address	: 277-289 Woodpark Road Smithfield NSW Australia 2164	
Telephone	: +61 02 9493 9500	Telephone	: +61-2-8784 8555	
Project	: J17188	Date Samples Received	: 27-Aug-2018 15:00	
Order number	:	Date Analysis Commenced	: 28-Aug-2018	
C-O-C number	:	Issue Date	: 31-Aug-2018 14:41	
Sampler	: JAKE TURI/KAITLYN BRODIE		Hac-MRA NA	IA
Site	:			
Quote number	: SY/068/18 V2			
No. of samples received	: 23		Accreditation Accredited for complian	ce with
No. of samples analysed	: 23		ISO/IEC 17025 -	Testing

This report supersedes any previous report(s) with this reference. Results apply to the sample(s) as submitted. This document shall not be reproduced, except in full.

This Certificate of Analysis contains the following information:

- General Comments
- Analytical Results

Additional information pertinent to this report will be found in the following separate attachments: Quality Control Report, QA/QC Compliance Assessment to assist with Quality Review and Sample Receipt Notification.

Signatories

This document has been electronically signed by the authorized signatories below. Electronic signing is carried out in compliance with procedures specified in 21 CFR Part 11.

Signatories	Position	Accreditation Category
Ankit Joshi	Inorganic Chemist	Sydney Inorganics, Smithfield, NSW
Dian Dao		Sydney Inorganics, Smithfield, NSW
Ivan Taylor	Analyst	Sydney Inorganics, Smithfield, NSW
Wisam Marassa	Inorganics Coordinator	Sydney Inorganics, Smithfield, NSW



General Comments

The analytical procedures used by the Environmental Division have been developed from established internationally recognized procedures such as those published by the USEPA, APHA, AS and NEPM. In house developed procedures are employed in the absence of documented standards or by client request.

Where moisture determination has been performed, results are reported on a dry weight basis.

Where a reported less than (<) result is higher than the LOR, this may be due to primary sample extract/digestate dilution and/or insufficient sample for analysis.

Where the LOR of a reported result differs from standard LOR, this may be due to high moisture content, insufficient sample (reduced weight employed) or matrix interference.

When sampling time information is not provided by the client, sampling dates are shown without a time component. In these instances, the time component has been assumed by the laboratory for processing purposes.

Where a result is required to meet compliance limits the associated uncertainty must be considered. Refer to the ALS Contact for details.

Key: CAS Number = CAS registry number from database maintained by Chemical Abstracts Services. The Chemical Abstracts Service is a division of the American Chemical Society. LOR = Limit of reporting

* = This result is computed from individual analyte detections at or above the level of reporting

ø = ALS is not NATA accredited for these tests.

~ = Indicates an estimated value.

• Sodium Adsorption Ratio (where reported): Where results for Na, Ca or Mg are <LOR, a concentration at half the reported LOR is incorporated into the SAR calculation. This represents a conservative approach for Na relative to the assumption that <LOR = zero concentration and a conservative approach for Ca & Mg relative to the assumption that <LOR is equivalent to the LOR concentration.

Page : 3 of 12 Work Order : ES1825251 Client : EMM CONSULTING PTY LTD Project : J17188



Sub-Matrix: WATER (Matrix: WATER)	Client sample ID			TMB02A	TMB02B	TMB03A	ТМВ03В	TMB03C
	Cl	ient sampli	ng date / time	21-Aug-2018 10:40	21-Aug-2018 10:20	22-Aug-2018 14:30	22-Aug-2018 14:45	22-Aug-2018 16:00
Compound C.	AS Number	LOR	Unit	ES1825251-001	ES1825251-002	ES1825251-003	ES1825251-004	ES1825251-005
				Result	Result	Result	Result	Result
EA015: Total Dissolved Solids dried at 180 ± \$	5 °C							
Total Dissolved Solids @180°C		10	mg/L	21	69	64	96	75
ED037P: Alkalinity by PC Titrator								
Hydroxide Alkalinity as CaCO3 DN	MO-210-001	1	mg/L	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Carbonate Alkalinity as CaCO3	3812-32-6	1	mg/L	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Bicarbonate Alkalinity as CaCO3	71-52-3	1	mg/L	11	72	36	86	65
Total Alkalinity as CaCO3		1	mg/L	11	72	36	86	65
ED041G: Sulfate (Turbidimetric) as SO4 2- by	DA							
Sulfate as SO4 - Turbidimetric	14808-79-8	1	mg/L	1	1	5	3	<1
ED045G: Chloride by Discrete Analyser								
Chloride	16887-00-6	1	mg/L	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
ED093F: Dissolved Major Cations								
Calcium	7440-70-2	1	mg/L	4	15	4	20	8
Magnesium	7439-95-4	1	mg/L	<1	2	3	2	4
Sodium	7440-23-5	1	mg/L	2	7	5	6	8
Potassium	7440-09-7	1	mg/L	<1	<1	<1	5	2
EG020F: Dissolved Metals by ICP-MS								
Arsenic	7440-38-2	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	0.002	0.002	0.002	<0.001
Cadmium	7440-43-9	0.0001	mg/L	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001
Chromium	7440-47-3	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Copper	7440-50-8	0.001	mg/L	0.010	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Nickel	7440-02-0	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	0.001	0.003	<0.001	<0.001
Lead	7439-92-1	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Zinc	7440-66-6	0.005	mg/L	<0.005	<0.005	0.011	0.007	<0.005
EG035F: Dissolved Mercury by FIMS								
Mercury	7439-97-6	0.0001	mg/L	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001
EK040P: Fluoride by PC Titrator								
Fluoride	16984-48-8	0.1	mg/L	<0.1	0.2	<0.1	0.8	0.1
EK055G: Ammonia as N by Discrete Analyser								
Ammonia as N	7664-41-7	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.02
EK057G: Nitrite as N by Discrete Analyser								
Nitrite as N	14797-65-0	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01
EK058G: Nitrate as N by Discrete Analyser								
Nitrate as N	14797-55-8	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	0.02	9.92	0.02	0.04

Page : 4 of 12 Work Order : ES1825251 Client : EMM CONSULTING PTY LTD Project : J17188



Sub-Matrix: WATER (Matrix: WATER)		Client sample ID			TMB02B	TMB03A	TMB03B	TMB03C
	Cli	ient sampli	ng date / time	21-Aug-2018 10:40	21-Aug-2018 10:20	22-Aug-2018 14:30	22-Aug-2018 14:45	22-Aug-2018 16:00
Compound	CAS Number	LOR	Unit	ES1825251-001	ES1825251-002	ES1825251-003	ES1825251-004	ES1825251-005
				Result	Result	Result	Result	Result
EK059G: Nitrite plus Nitrate as N (NO	x) by Discrete Ana	lyser						
Nitrite + Nitrate as N		0.01	mg/L	<0.01	0.02	9.92	0.02	0.04
EK061G: Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen By D	iscrete Analyser							
Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen as N		0.1	mg/L	<0.1	<0.1	1.0	<0.1	<0.1
EK062G: Total Nitrogen as N (TKN + N	lOx) by Discrete An	alyser						
^ Total Nitrogen as N		0.1	mg/L	<0.1	<0.1	10.9	<0.1	<0.1
EK067G: Total Phosphorus as P by Di	screte Analyser							
Total Phosphorus as P		0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	0.13	0.02	0.03
EN055: Ionic Balance								
Total Anions		0.01	meq/L	0.24	1.46	0.82	1.78	1.30
Total Cations		0.01	meq/L	0.29	1.22	0.66	1.55	1.13

Page : 5 of 12 Work Order : ES1825251 Client : EMM CONSULTING PTY LTD Project : J17188



Sub-Matrix: WATER (Matrix: WATER)	С	lient sample ID	MB04A	MB04B	MB07A	MB07B	MB01B
	Client samp	ling date / time	22-Aug-2018 12:45	22-Aug-2018 12:45	23-Aug-2018 11:15	23-Aug-2018 11:15	23-Aug-2018 09:10
Compound CAS Nun	ber LOR	Unit	ES1825251-006	ES1825251-007	ES1825251-008	ES1825251-009	ES1825251-010
			Result	Result	Result	Result	Result
EA015: Total Dissolved Solids dried at 180 ± 5 °C							
Total Dissolved Solids @180°C	10	mg/L	272	458	113	320	51
ED037P: Alkalinity by PC Titrator							
Hydroxide Alkalinity as CaCO3 DMO-210-	01 1	mg/L	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Carbonate Alkalinity as CaCO3 3812-	2-6 1	mg/L	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Bicarbonate Alkalinity as CaCO3 71-	2-3 1	mg/L	77	124	14	40	45
Total Alkalinity as CaCO3	1	mg/L	77	124	14	40	45
ED041G: Sulfate (Turbidimetric) as SO4 2- by DA							
Sulfate as SO4 - Turbidimetric 14808-	9-8 1	mg/L	142	79	48	221	<1
ED045G: Chloride by Discrete Analyser							
Chloride 16887-	0-6 1	mg/L	4	40	<1	5	<1
ED093F: Dissolved Major Cations							
Calcium 7440-)-2 1	mg/L	59	11	13	60	13
Magnesium 7439-	5-4 1	mg/L	4	2	6	7	2
Sodium 7440-	3-5 1	mg/L	22	107	4	30	1
Potassium 7440-	9-7 1	mg/L	3	1	<1	4	<1
EG020F: Dissolved Metals by ICP-MS							
Arsenic 7440-	3-2 0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Cadmium 7440-	3-9 0.0001	mg/L	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001
Chromium 7440-	7-3 0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Copper 7440-	0.001	mg/L	0.003	0.001	0.005	<0.001	0.020
Nickel 7440-	<u>2-0</u> 0.001	mg/L	0.001	0.003	<0.001	0.001	<0.001
Lead 7439-	2-1 0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Zinc 7440-1	6-6 0.005	mg/L	0.014	0.008	0.006	0.036	0.005
EG035F: Dissolved Mercury by FIMS							
Mercury 7439-	7-6 0.0001	mg/L	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001
EK040P: Fluoride by PC Titrator							
Fluoride 16984-/	3-8 0.1	mg/L	0.5	0.6	<0.1	0.8	<0.1
EK055G: Ammonia as N by Discrete Analyser							
Ammonia as N 7664-	1-7 0.01	mg/L	0.03	0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.06
EK057G: Nitrite as N by Discrete Analyser							
Nitrite as N 14797-	5-0 0.01	mg/L	0.06	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01
EK058G: Nitrate as N by Discrete Analyser							
Nitrate as N 14797-	5-8 0.01	mg/L	0.27	0.16	0.12	<0.01	0.04

Page : 6 of 12 Work Order : ES1825251 Client : EMM CONSULTING PTY LTD Project : J17188



Sub-Matrix: WATER (Matrix: WATER)	Client sample ID			MB04A	MB04B	MB07A	MB07B	MB01B
	Cli	ient sampli	ng date / time	22-Aug-2018 12:45	22-Aug-2018 12:45	23-Aug-2018 11:15	23-Aug-2018 11:15	23-Aug-2018 09:10
Compound	CAS Number	LOR	Unit	ES1825251-006	ES1825251-007	ES1825251-008	ES1825251-009	ES1825251-010
				Result	Result	Result	Result	Result
EK059G: Nitrite plus Nitrate as N (NOx)	by Discrete Ana	lyser						
Nitrite + Nitrate as N		0.01	mg/L	0.33	0.16	0.12	<0.01	0.04
EK061G: Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen By Disc	crete Analyser							
Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen as N		0.1	mg/L	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
EK062G: Total Nitrogen as N (TKN + NO)	x) by Discrete An	alyser						
^ Total Nitrogen as N		0.1	mg/L	0.3	0.2	0.1	<0.1	<0.1
EK067G: Total Phosphorus as P by Disc	rete Analyser							
Total Phosphorus as P		0.01	mg/L	0.02	0.10	0.01	0.02	1.03
EN055: Ionic Balance								
Total Anions		0.01	meq/L	4.61	5.25	1.28	5.54	0.90
Total Cations		0.01	meq/L	4.31	5.39	1.32	4.98	0.86
Ionic Balance		0.01	%	3.37	1.34		5.36	

Page : 7 of 12 Work Order : ES1825251 Client : EMM CONSULTING PTY LTD Project : J17188



Sub-Matrix: WATER (Matrix: WATER)	Client sample ID			MB01C	TMB04	SMB02	SMB03	SMB04
	Cl	ient sampli	ng date / time	23-Aug-2018 10:00	23-Aug-2018 14:10	23-Aug-2018 13:40	23-Aug-2018 13:45	23-Aug-2018 15:05
Compound	CAS Number	LOR	Unit	ES1825251-011	ES1825251-012	ES1825251-013	ES1825251-014	ES1825251-015
				Result	Result	Result	Result	Result
EA015: Total Dissolved Solids dried at 180 ±	5 °C							
Total Dissolved Solids @180°C		10	mg/L	92	48	95	73	85
ED037P: Alkalinity by PC Titrator								
Hydroxide Alkalinity as CaCO3	MO-210-001	1	mg/L	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Carbonate Alkalinity as CaCO3	3812-32-6	1	mg/L	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Bicarbonate Alkalinity as CaCO3	71-52-3	1	mg/L	77	32	76	48	46
Total Alkalinity as CaCO3		1	mg/L	77	32	76	48	46
ED041G: Sulfate (Turbidimetric) as SO4 2- by	/ DA							
Sulfate as SO4 - Turbidimetric	14808-79-8	1	mg/L	8	3	6	2	13
ED045G: Chloride by Discrete Analyser								
Chloride	16887-00-6	1	mg/L	<1	<1	1	<1	<1
ED093F: Dissolved Major Cations								
Calcium	7440-70-2	1	mg/L	16	9	21	12	17
Magnesium	7439-95-4	1	mg/L	6	<1	2	2	<1
Sodium	7440-23-5	1	mg/L	8	2	10	4	5
Potassium	7440-09-7	1	mg/L	1	<1	<1	<1	<1
EG020F: Dissolved Metals by ICP-MS								
Arsenic	7440-38-2	0.001	mg/L	0.006	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	0.016
Cadmium	7440-43-9	0.0001	mg/L	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001
Chromium	7440-47-3	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Copper	7440-50-8	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Nickel	7440-02-0	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	0.004	<0.001
Lead	7439-92-1	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Zinc	7440-66-6	0.005	mg/L	0.007	0.006	0.037	0.037	0.007
EG035F: Dissolved Mercury by FIMS								
Mercury	7439-97-6	0.0001	mg/L	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001
EK040P: Fluoride by PC Titrator								
Fluoride	16984-48-8	0.1	mg/L	<0.1	<0.1	0.3	<0.1	<0.1
EK055G: Ammonia as N by Discrete Analyse	r							
Ammonia as N	7664-41-7	0.01	mg/L	0.02	<0.01	0.01	0.08	<0.01
EK057G: Nitrite as N by Discrete Analyser								
Nitrite as N	14797-65-0	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01
EK058G: Nitrate as N by Discrete Analyser								
Nitrate as N	14797-55-8	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	0.02	<0.01	0.06	0.01

Page : 8 of 12 Work Order : ES1825251 Client : EMM CONSULTING PTY LTD Project : J17188



Sub-Matrix: WATER (Matrix: WATER)	Client sample ID			MB01C	TMB04	SMB02	SMB03	SMB04		
	Cli	ent sampli	ng date / time	23-Aug-2018 10:00	23-Aug-2018 14:10	23-Aug-2018 13:40	23-Aug-2018 13:45	23-Aug-2018 15:05		
Compound	CAS Number	LOR	Unit	ES1825251-011	ES1825251-012	ES1825251-013	ES1825251-014	ES1825251-015		
				Result	Result	Result	Result	Result		
EK059G: Nitrite plus Nitrate as N (NOx) by Discrete Analyser										
Nitrite + Nitrate as N		0.01	mg/L	<0.01	0.02	<0.01	0.06	0.01		
EK061G: Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen By Dis	crete Analyser									
Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen as N		0.1	mg/L	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1		
EK062G: Total Nitrogen as N (TKN + NC)x) by Discrete An	alyser								
^ Total Nitrogen as N		0.1	mg/L	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1		
EK067G: Total Phosphorus as P by Disc	crete Analyser									
Total Phosphorus as P		0.01	mg/L	0.05	0.02	0.02	<0.01	0.03		
EN055: Ionic Balance										
Total Anions		0.01	meq/L	1.70	0.70	1.67	1.00	1.19		
Total Cations		0.01	meq/L	1.66	0.54	1.65	0.94	1.06		

Page : 9 of 12 Work Order : ES1825251 Client : EMM CONSULTING PTY LTD Project : J17188



Sub-Matrix: WATER (Matrix: WATER)	Client sample ID			SMB05	PB04	MB02	MB03	MB06A
	Cli	ient sampli	ng date / time	23-Aug-2018 15:00	23-Aug-2018 14:45	24-Aug-2018 09:15	24-Aug-2018 10:10	25-Aug-2018 10:00
Compound CAS	S Number	LOR	Unit	ES1825251-016	ES1825251-017	ES1825251-018	ES1825251-019	ES1825251-020
				Result	Result	Result	Result	Result
EA015: Total Dissolved Solids dried at 180 ± 5 °	°C							
Total Dissolved Solids @180°C		10	mg/L	144	57	64	51	85
ED037P: Alkalinity by PC Titrator								
Hydroxide Alkalinity as CaCO3 DMC	0-210-001	1	mg/L	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Carbonate Alkalinity as CaCO3	3812-32-6	1	mg/L	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
Bicarbonate Alkalinity as CaCO3	71-52-3	1	mg/L	51	45	42	44	49
Total Alkalinity as CaCO3		1	mg/L	51	45	42	44	49
ED041G: Sulfate (Turbidimetric) as SO4 2- by D	Α							
Sulfate as SO4 - Turbidimetric 14	4808-79-8	1	mg/L	39	11	2	1	10
ED045G: Chloride by Discrete Analyser								
Chloride 16	6887-00-6	1	mg/L	4	<1	<1	<1	2
ED093F: Dissolved Major Cations								
Calcium	7440-70-2	1	mg/L	29	10	13	8	12
Magnesium 7	7439-95-4	1	mg/L	1	<1	1	4	3
Sodium 7	7440-23-5	1	mg/L	13	5	1	4	12
Potassium 7	7440-09-7	1	mg/L	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1
EG020F: Dissolved Metals by ICP-MS								
Arsenic 7	7440-38-2	0.001	mg/L	0.004	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Cadmium 7	7440-43-9	0.0001	mg/L	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001
Chromium 7	7440-47-3	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	0.002
Copper 7	7440-50-8	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	0.004	0.002	0.002
Nickel 7	7440-02-0	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	0.001	<0.001	0.016
Lead	7439-92-1	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Zinc	7440-66-6	0.005	mg/L	0.008	<0.005	0.006	0.007	0.013
EG035F: Dissolved Mercury by FIMS								
Mercury 7	7439-97-6	0.0001	mg/L	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001
EK040P: Fluoride by PC Titrator								
Fluoride 16	6984-48-8	0.1	mg/L	0.2	0.2	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
EK055G: Ammonia as N by Discrete Analyser								
Ammonia as N 7	7664-41-7	0.01	mg/L	0.01	<0.01	0.01	<0.01	0.02
EK057G: Nitrite as N by Discrete Analyser								
Nitrite as N 14	4797-65-0	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01
EK058G: Nitrate as N by Discrete Analyser								
Nitrate as N 14	4797-55-8	0.01	mg/L	0.02	<0.01	0.01	0.21	<0.01

Page : 10 of 12 Work Order : ES1825251 Client : EMM CONSULTING PTY LTD Project : J17188



Sub-Matrix: WATER (Matrix: WATER)	Client sample ID			SMB05	PB04	MB02	MB03	MB06A
	Cli	ient sampli	ing date / time	23-Aug-2018 15:00	23-Aug-2018 14:45	24-Aug-2018 09:15	24-Aug-2018 10:10	25-Aug-2018 10:00
Compound	CAS Number	LOR	Unit	ES1825251-016	ES1825251-017	ES1825251-018	ES1825251-019	ES1825251-020
				Result	Result	Result	Result	Result
EK059G: Nitrite plus Nitrate as N (NOx	 k) by Discrete Ana 	lyser						
Nitrite + Nitrate as N		0.01	mg/L	0.02	<0.01	0.01	0.21	<0.01
EK061G: Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen By Di	screte Analyser							
Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen as N		0.1	mg/L	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
EK062G: Total Nitrogen as N (TKN + N	Ox) by Discrete An	alyser						
^ Total Nitrogen as N		0.1	mg/L	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	0.2	<0.1
EK067G: Total Phosphorus as P by Dis	screte Analyser							
Total Phosphorus as P		0.01	mg/L	0.05	0.03	0.04	0.07	0.12
EN055: Ionic Balance								
Total Anions		0.01	meq/L	1.94	1.13	0.88	0.90	1.24
Total Cations		0.01	meq/L	2.09	0.72	0.77	0.90	1.37

Page : 11 of 12 Work Order : ES1825251 Client : EMM CONSULTING PTY LTD Project : J17188



Sub-Matrix: WATER (Matrix: WATER)	Client sample ID			MB06B	QA2	QA3	
	Cl	ient sampli	ng date / time	25-Aug-2018 10:10	22-Aug-2018 00:00	25-Aug-2018 00:00	
Compound	CAS Number	LOR	Unit	ES1825251-021	ES1825251-022	ES1825251-023	
				Result	Result	Result	
EA015: Total Dissolved Solids dried at 180 ±	: 5 °C						
Total Dissolved Solids @180°C		10	mg/L	220	238	82	
ED037P: Alkalinity by PC Titrator							
Hydroxide Alkalinity as CaCO3	DMO-210-001	1	mg/L	<1	<1	<1	
Carbonate Alkalinity as CaCO3	3812-32-6	1	mg/L	<1	<1	<1	
Bicarbonate Alkalinity as CaCO3	71-52-3	1	mg/L	95	71	49	
Total Alkalinity as CaCO3		1	mg/L	95	71	49	
ED041G: Sulfate (Turbidimetric) as SO4 2- by	y DA						
Sulfate as SO4 - Turbidimetric	14808-79-8	1	mg/L	57	155	11	
ED045G: Chloride by Discrete Analyser							
Chloride	16887-00-6	1	mg/L	7	5	2	
ED093F: Dissolved Major Cations							
Calcium	7440-70-2	1	mg/L	26	60	12	
Magnesium	7439-95-4	1	mg/L	7	4	3	
Sodium	7440-23-5	1	mg/L	30	22	12	
Potassium	7440-09-7	1	mg/L	1	3	1	
EG020F: Dissolved Metals by ICP-MS							
Arsenic	7440-38-2	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	
Cadmium	7440-43-9	0.0001	mg/L	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	
Chromium	7440-47-3	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	0.002	
Copper	7440-50-8	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	0.001	0.002	
Nickel	7440-02-0	0.001	mg/L	0.005	0.001	0.016	
Lead	7439-92-1	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	
Zinc	7440-66-6	0.005	mg/L	<0.005	0.009	0.015	
EG035F: Dissolved Mercury by FIMS							
Mercury	7439-97-6	0.0001	mg/L	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	
EK040P: Fluoride by PC Titrator							
Fluoride	16984-48-8	0.1	mg/L	0.2	0.5	<0.1	
EK055G: Ammonia as N by Discrete Analyse	ər						
Ammonia as N	7664-41-7	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	0.05	<0.01	
EK057G: Nitrite as N by Discrete Analyser							
Nitrite as N	14797-65-0	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	0.06	<0.01	
EK058G: Nitrate as N by Discrete Analyser							
Nitrate as N	14797-55-8	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	0.27	<0.01	

Page : 12 of 12 Work Order : ES1825251 Client : EMM CONSULTING PTY LTD Project : J17188



Sub-Matrix: WATER (Matrix: WATER)	Client sample ID			MB06B	QA2	QA3				
	Cli	ent sampli	ng date / time	25-Aug-2018 10:10	22-Aug-2018 00:00	25-Aug-2018 00:00				
Compound	CAS Number	LOR	Unit	ES1825251-021	ES1825251-022	ES1825251-023				
				Result	Result	Result				
EK059G: Nitrite plus Nitrate as N (NOx) by Discrete Analyser										
Nitrite + Nitrate as N		0.01	mg/L	<0.01	0.33	<0.01				
EK061G: Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen By Disc	rete Analyser									
Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen as N		0.1	mg/L	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1				
EK062G: Total Nitrogen as N (TKN + NO)	k) by Discrete An	alyser								
^ Total Nitrogen as N		0.1	mg/L	<0.1	0.3	<0.1				
EK067G: Total Phosphorus as P by Disc	rete Analyser									
Total Phosphorus as P		0.01	mg/L	0.03	0.02	0.06				
EN055: Ionic Balance										
Total Anions		0.01	meq/L	3.28	4.79	1.26				
Total Cations		0.01	meq/L	3.20	4.36	1.39				
Ionic Balance		0.01	%	1.21	4.70					



CERTIFICATE OF ANALYSIS

Work Order	ES1828283	Page	: 1 of 26	
Client	EMM CONSULTING PTY LTD	Laboratory	Environmental Division Sydney	
Contact	: MR SEAN CASSIDY	Contact	Customer Services ES	
Address	Ground Floor Suite 1 20 Chandos Street	Address	: 277-289 Woodpark Road Smithfield NSW Austra	alia 2164
Telephone	: +61 02 9493 9500	Telephone	: +61-2-8784 8555	
Project	: J17188	Date Samples Received	: 25-Sep-2018 08:30	
Order number	:	Date Analysis Commenced	25-Sep-2018	
C-O-C number	:	Issue Date	03-Oct-2018 17:55	
Sampler	: Imogen Frawley, Kaitlyn Brodie		Hacemra	
Site	:			
Quote number	: SY/068/18 V2			Accreditation No. 825
No. of samples received	: 59		Acc	redited for compliance with
No. of samples analysed	: 59			ISO/IEC 17025 - Testing

This report supersedes any previous report(s) with this reference. Results apply to the sample(s) as submitted. This document shall not be reproduced, except in full.

This Certificate of Analysis contains the following information:

- General Comments
- Analytical Results

Additional information pertinent to this report will be found in the following separate attachments: Quality Control Report, QA/QC Compliance Assessment to assist with Quality Review and Sample Receipt Notification.

Signatories

This document has been electronically signed by the authorized signatories below. Electronic signing is carried out in compliance with procedures specified in 21 CFR Part 11.

Signatories	Position	Accreditation Category
Ankit Joshi	Inorganic Chemist	Sydney Inorganics, Smithfield, NSW
Ivan Taylor	Analyst	Sydney Inorganics, Smithfield, NSW



General Comments

The analytical procedures used by the Environmental Division have been developed from established internationally recognized procedures such as those published by the USEPA, APHA, AS and NEPM. In house developed procedures are employed in the absence of documented standards or by client request.

Where moisture determination has been performed, results are reported on a dry weight basis.

Where a reported less than (<) result is higher than the LOR, this may be due to primary sample extract/digestate dilution and/or insufficient sample for analysis.

Where the LOR of a reported result differs from standard LOR, this may be due to high moisture content, insufficient sample (reduced weight employed) or matrix interference.

When sampling time information is not provided by the client, sampling dates are shown without a time component. In these instances, the time component has been assumed by the laboratory for processing purposes.

Where a result is required to meet compliance limits the associated uncertainty must be considered. Refer to the ALS Contact for details.

Key: CAS Number = CAS registry number from database maintained by Chemical Abstracts Services. The Chemical Abstracts Service is a division of the American Chemical Society. LOR = Limit of reporting

^ = This result is computed from individual analyte detections at or above the level of reporting

ø = ALS is not NATA accredited for these tests.

~ = Indicates an estimated value.

• EK061G/EK062G: : LOR raised for TKN & TN on sample No 15 & 52 due to sample matrix.

- TDS by method EA-015 may bias high for various samples due to the presence of fine particulate matter, which may pass through the prescribed GF/C paper.TDS confirmed by reanalysis for sample no 45
- TDS by method EA-015 may bias high for various samples due to the presence of fine particulate matter, which may pass through the prescribed GF/C paper.
- EP002 : It has been noted that DOC is greater than TOC for various samples, however this difference is within the limits of experimental variation.
- Sodium Adsorption Ratio (where reported): Where results for Na, Ca or Mg are <LOR, a concentration at half the reported LOR is incorporated into the SAR calculation. This represents a conservative approach for Na relative to the assumption that <LOR = zero concentration and a conservative approach for Ca & Mg relative to the assumption that <LOR is equivalent to the LOR concentration.

Page : 3 of 26 Work Order : ES1828283 Client : EMM CONSULTING PTY LTD Project : J17188



Sub-Matrix: WATER (Matrix: WATER)	Client sample ID			TMB01A	TMB01B	LH_SW_004	LH_SW_003	LH_SW_007
	CI	lient samplii	ng date / time	23-Sep-2018 08:45	23-Sep-2018 09:20	23-Sep-2018 10:30	23-Sep-2018 09:45	23-Sep-2018 11:40
Compound	CAS Number	LOR	Unit	ES1828283-001	ES1828283-002	ES1828283-003	ES1828283-004	ES1828283-005
				Result	Result	Result	Result	Result
EA015: Total Dissolved Solids dried at 1	80 ± 5 °C							
Total Dissolved Solids @180°C		10	mg/L	195	955	50	38	54
EA025: Total Suspended Solids dried at	104 ± 2°C							
Suspended Solids (SS)		5	mg/L			<5	<5	<5
ED037P: Alkalinity by PC Titrator								
Hydroxide Alkalinity as CaCO3	DMO-210-001	1	mg/L	<1	<1			
Carbonate Alkalinity as CaCO3	3812-32-6	1	mg/L	<1	<1			
Bicarbonate Alkalinity as CaCO3	71-52-3	1	mg/L	83	648			
Total Alkalinity as CaCO3		1	mg/L	83	648			
ED041G: Sulfate (Turbidimetric) as SO4	2- by DA							
Sulfate as SO4 - Turbidimetric	14808-79-8	1	mg/L	11	14			
ED045G: Chloride by Discrete Analyser								
Chloride	16887-00-6	1	mg/L	5	113			
ED093F: Dissolved Major Cations								
Calcium	7440-70-2	1	mg/L	6	13			
Magnesium	7439-95-4	1	mg/L	2	10			
Sodium	7440-23-5	1	mg/L	36	341			
Potassium	7440-09-7	1	mg/L	1	9			
ED093F: SAR and Hardness Calculation	S							
Total Hardness as CaCO3		1	mg/L			26	17	29
EG020F: Dissolved Metals by ICP-MS								
Aluminium	7429-90-5	0.01	mg/L			0.03	0.01	0.03
Arsenic	7440-38-2	0.001	mg/L	0.003	0.026	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Boron	7440-42-8	0.05	mg/L			<0.05	<0.05	<0.05
Barium	7440-39-3	0.001	mg/L			0.013	0.038	0.016
Beryllium	7440-41-7	0.001	mg/L			<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Cadmium	7440-43-9	0.0001	mg/L	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001
Cobalt	7440-48-4	0.001	mg/L			<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Chromium	7440-47-3	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Copper	7440-50-8	0.001	mg/L	0.001	<0.001	<0.001	0.001	<0.001
Manganese	7439-96-5	0.001	mg/L			<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Nickel	7440-02-0	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	0.008	0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Lead	7439-92-1	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Selenium	7782-49-2	0.01	mg/L			<0.01	<0.01	<0.01
Vanadium	7440-62-2	0.01	mg/L			<0.01	<0.01	<0.01

Page : 4 of 26 Work Order : ES1828283 Client : EMM CONSULTING PTY LTD Project : J17188



Sub-Matrix: WATER (Matrix: WATER)		Client sample ID			TMB01B	LH_SW_004	LH_SW_003	LH_SW_007
	Cli	ient sampli	ng date / time	23-Sep-2018 08:45	23-Sep-2018 09:20	23-Sep-2018 10:30	23-Sep-2018 09:45	23-Sep-2018 11:40
Compound	CAS Number	LOR	Unit	ES1828283-001	ES1828283-002	ES1828283-003	ES1828283-004	ES1828283-005
				Result	Result	Result	Result	Result
EG020F: Dissolved Metals by ICP-MS -	Continued							
Zinc	7440-66-6	0.005	mg/L	0.006	<0.005	<0.005	0.006	<0.005
Silver	7440-22-4	0.001	mg/L			<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Iron	7439-89-6	0.05	mg/L			<0.05	<0.05	<0.05
EG035F: Dissolved Mercury by FIMS								
Mercury	7439-97-6	0.0001	mg/L	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001
EK040P: Fluoride by PC Titrator								
Fluoride	16984-48-8	0.1	mg/L	0.8	3.8			
EK055G: Ammonia as N by Discrete Ar	alyser							
Ammonia as N	7664-41-7	0.01	mg/L	0.05	0.10	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01
EK057G: Nitrite as N by Discrete Analy	vser							
Nitrite as N	14797-65-0	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01
EK058G: Nitrate as N by Discrete Anal	vser							
Nitrate as N	14797-55-8	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	0.02	<0.01	<0.01
EK059G: Nitrite plus Nitrate as N (NOx) bv Discrete Ana	lvser						
Nitrite + Nitrate as N		0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	0.02	<0.01	<0.01
EK061G: Total Kieldahl Nitrogen By Dis	screte Analyser							
Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen as N		0.1	mg/L	0.4	0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
EK062G: Total Nitrogen as N (TKN + N	Dx) by Discrete An	alvser						
^ Total Nitrogen as N		0.1	mg/L	0.4	0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
EK067G: Total Phosphorus as P by Dis	crete Analyser							
Total Phosphorus as P		0.01	mg/L	0.27	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01
EK071G: Reactive Phosphorus as P by	discrete analyser							
Reactive Phosphorus as P	14265-44-2	0.01	mg/L			<0.01	<0.01	<0.01
EN055: Ionic Balance								
Total Anions		0.01	meq/L	2.03	16.4			
Total Cations		0.01	meq/L	2.06	16.5			
Ionic Balance		0.01	%		0.33			
EP002: Dissolved Organic Carbon (DO	C)							
Dissolved Organic Carbon		1	mg/L			5	2	1
EP005: Total Organic Carbon (TOC)								
Total Organic Carbon		1	mg/L	3	2	2	1	1

Page : 5 of 26 Work Order : ES1828283 Client : EMM CONSULTING PTY LTD Project : J17188



Sub-Matrix: WATER (Matrix: WATER)	Client sample ID			QA5	LH_SW_006	TanN_SW_001	QA4	TanS_SW_003
	Cl	ient samplii	ng date / time	23-Sep-2018 00:00	23-Sep-2018 12:30	22-Sep-2018 08:30	22-Sep-2018 00:00	22-Sep-2018 10:40
Compound	CAS Number	LOR	Unit	ES1828283-007	ES1828283-008	ES1828283-009	ES1828283-010	ES1828283-011
				Result	Result	Result	Result	Result
EA015: Total Dissolved Solids dried at 18	0 ± 5 °C							
Total Dissolved Solids @180°C		10	mg/L	41	47	15	25	37
EA025: Total Suspended Solids dried at 1	04 ± 2°C							
Suspended Solids (SS)		5	mg/L	<5	<5	<5	<5	36
ED093F: SAR and Hardness Calculations								
Total Hardness as CaCO3		1	mg/L	29	29	2	2	14
EG020F: Dissolved Metals by ICP-MS								
Aluminium	7429-90-5	0.01	mg/L	0.01	0.02	0.10	0.09	0.16
Arsenic	7440-38-2	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Boron	7440-42-8	0.05	mg/L	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05
Barium	7440-39-3	0.001	mg/L	0.026	0.027	0.019	0.009	0.025
Beryllium	7440-41-7	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Cadmium	7440-43-9	0.0001	mg/L	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001
Cobalt	7440-48-4	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Chromium	7440-47-3	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Copper	7440-50-8	0.001	mg/L	0.001	0.001	0.001	<0.001	0.001
Manganese	7439-96-5	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	0.012	0.010	0.012
Nickel	7440-02-0	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Lead	7439-92-1	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Selenium	7782-49-2	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01
Vanadium	7440-62-2	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01
Zinc	7440-66-6	0.005	mg/L	0.007	0.005	0.007	<0.005	0.007
Silver	7440-22-4	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Iron	7439-89-6	0.05	mg/L	<0.05	<0.05	0.18	0.16	0.22
EG035F: Dissolved Mercury by FIMS								
Mercury	7439-97-6	0.0001	mg/L	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001
EK055G: Ammonia as N by Discrete Analy	yser							
Ammonia as N	7664-41-7	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01
EK057G: Nitrite as N by Discrete Analyse	r							
Nitrite as N	14797-65-0	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01
EK058G: Nitrate as N by Discrete Analys	er							
Nitrate as N	14797-55-8	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.09
EK059G: Nitrite plus Nitrate as N (NOx) b	by Discrete Ana	lyser						
Nitrite + Nitrate as N		0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.09
EK061G: Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen By Discr	ete Analyser							

Page : 6 of 26 Work Order : ES1828283 Client : EMM CONSULTING PTY LTD Project : J17188



Sub-Matrix: WATER (Matrix: WATER)	Client sample ID			QA5	LH_SW_006	TanN_SW_001	QA4	TanS_SW_003
	Clie	ent samplii	ng date / time	23-Sep-2018 00:00	23-Sep-2018 12:30	22-Sep-2018 08:30	22-Sep-2018 00:00	22-Sep-2018 10:40
Compound	CAS Number	LOR	Unit	ES1828283-007	ES1828283-008	ES1828283-009	ES1828283-010	ES1828283-011
				Result	Result	Result	Result	Result
EK061G: Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen By Disc	rete Analyser - C	ontinued						
Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen as N		0.1	mg/L	<0.1	<0.1	0.2	0.1	0.9
EK062G: Total Nitrogen as N (TKN + NO)	() by Discrete An	alyser						
^ Total Nitrogen as N		0.1	mg/L	<0.1	<0.1	0.2	0.1	1.0
EK067G: Total Phosphorus as P by Disc	rete Analyser							
Total Phosphorus as P		0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.11
EK071G: Reactive Phosphorus as P by d	liscrete analyser							
Reactive Phosphorus as P	14265-44-2	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01
EP002: Dissolved Organic Carbon (DOC))							
Dissolved Organic Carbon		1	mg/L	1	2	3	3	3
EP005: Total Organic Carbon (TOC)								
Total Organic Carbon		1	mg/L	<1	1	3	3	5

Page : 7 of 26 Work Order : ES1828283 Client : EMM CONSULTING PTY LTD Project : J17188



Sub-Matrix: WATER (Matrix: WATER)	Client sample ID			TanS_SW_005	TanS_SW_001	TanR_SW_001	PB01	TanS_SW_002
	Cl	lient sampli	ng date / time	22-Sep-2018 10:10	22-Sep-2018 09:55	22-Sep-2018 13:20	22-Sep-2018 11:10	22-Sep-2018 09:30
Compound	CAS Number	LOR	Unit	ES1828283-012	ES1828283-013	ES1828283-014	ES1828283-015	ES1828283-016
				Result	Result	Result	Result	Result
EA015: Total Dissolved Solids dried at 1	80 ± 5 °C							
Total Dissolved Solids @180°C		10	mg/L	26	32	16	115	27
EA025: Total Suspended Solids dried at	: 104 ± 2°C							
Suspended Solids (SS)		5	mg/L	<5	24	<5		<5
ED037P: Alkalinity by PC Titrator								
Hydroxide Alkalinity as CaCO3	DMO-210-001	1	mg/L				<1	
Carbonate Alkalinity as CaCO3	3812-32-6	1	mg/L				6	
Bicarbonate Alkalinity as CaCO3	71-52-3	1	mg/L				77	
Total Alkalinity as CaCO3		1	mg/L				83	
ED041G: Sulfate (Turbidimetric) as SO4	2- by DA							
Sulfate as SO4 - Turbidimetric	14808-79-8	1	mg/L				9	
ED045G: Chloride by Discrete Analyser								
Chloride	16887-00-6	1	mg/L				1	
ED093F: Dissolved Major Cations								
Calcium	7440-70-2	1	mg/L				13	
Magnesium	7439-95-4	1	mg/L				7	
Sodium	7440-23-5	1	mg/L				11	
Potassium	7440-09-7	1	mg/L				1	
ED093F: SAR and Hardness Calculation	IS							
Total Hardness as CaCO3		1	mg/L	<1	<1	<1		2
EG020F: Dissolved Metals by ICP-MS								
Aluminium	7429-90-5	0.01	mg/L	0.03	0.02	0.01		0.06
Arsenic	7440-38-2	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Boron	7440-42-8	0.05	mg/L	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05		<0.05
Barium	7440-39-3	0.001	mg/L	0.012	0.026	0.030		0.017
Beryllium	7440-41-7	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001		<0.001
Cadmium	7440-43-9	0.0001	mg/L	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001
Cobalt	7440-48-4	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001		<0.001
Chromium	7440-47-3	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Copper	7440-50-8	0.001	mg/L	0.001	0.001	<0.001	<0.001	0.001
Manganese	7439-96-5	0.001	mg/L	0.002	0.002	0.003		0.005
Nickel	7440-02-0	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Lead	7439-92-1	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Selenium	7782-49-2	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01		<0.01
Vanadium	7440-62-2	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01		<0.01

Page : 8 of 26 Work Order : ES1828283 Client : EMM CONSULTING PTY LTD Project : J17188



Sub-Matrix: WATER (Matrix: WATER)	Client sample ID			TanS_SW_005	TanS_SW_001	TanR_SW_001	PB01	TanS_SW_002
	Cl	ient sampli	ing date / time	22-Sep-2018 10:10	22-Sep-2018 09:55	22-Sep-2018 13:20	22-Sep-2018 11:10	22-Sep-2018 09:30
Compound	CAS Number	LOR	Unit	ES1828283-012	ES1828283-013	ES1828283-014	ES1828283-015	ES1828283-016
				Result	Result	Result	Result	Result
EG020F: Dissolved Metals by ICP-MS	- Continued							
Zinc	7440-66-6	0.005	mg/L	0.007	0.007	<0.005	<0.005	0.006
Silver	7440-22-4	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001		<0.001
Iron	7439-89-6	0.05	mg/L	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05		0.18
EG035F: Dissolved Mercury by FIMS								
Mercury	7439-97-6	0.0001	mg/L	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001
EK040P: Fluoride by PC Titrator								
Fluoride	16984-48-8	0.1	mg/L				0.2	
EK055G: Ammonia as N by Discrete A	nalyser							
Ammonia as N	7664-41-7	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01
EK057G: Nitrite as N by Discrete Anal	yser							
Nitrite as N	14797-65-0	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01
EK058G: Nitrate as N by Discrete Ana	lyser							
Nitrate as N	14797-55-8	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	0.06	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01
EK059G: Nitrite plus Nitrate as N (NO)	x) by Discrete Ana	lyser						
Nitrite + Nitrate as N		0.01	mg/L	<0.01	0.06	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01
EK061G: Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen By Di	iscrete Analyser							
Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen as N		0.1	mg/L	<0.1	0.1	0.4	<0.2	0.2
EK062G: Total Nitrogen as N (TKN + N	Ox) by Discrete Ar	nalyser						
^ Total Nitrogen as N		0.1	mg/L	<0.1	0.2	0.4	<0.2	0.2
EK067G: Total Phosphorus as P by Di	screte Analyser							
Total Phosphorus as P		0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.25	<0.01
EK071G: Reactive Phosphorus as P by	v discrete analvser							
Reactive Phosphorus as P	14265-44-2	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01		<0.01
EN055: Ionic Balance								
Total Anions		0.01	meq/L				1.87	
Total Cations		0.01	meq/L				1.73	
EP002: Dissolved Organic Carbon (DC)C)							
Dissolved Organic Carbon		1	mg/L	1	2	2		3
EP005: Total Organic Carbon (TOC)								
Total Organic Carbon		1	mg/L	1	2	1	4	2

Page : 9 of 26 Work Order : ES1828283 Client : EMM CONSULTING PTY LTD Project : J17188



Sub-Matrix: WATER (Matrix: WATER)	Client sample ID		TanS_SW004	YC04	YC03	YC05	YC02	
	Cl	ient samplii	ng date / time	22-Sep-2018 12:20	21-Sep-2018 08:00	21-Sep-2018 08:20	21-Sep-2018 09:40	21-Sep-2018 10:45
Compound	CAS Number	LOR	Unit	ES1828283-017	ES1828283-018	ES1828283-019	ES1828283-020	ES1828283-021
				Result	Result	Result	Result	Result
EA015: Total Dissolved Solids dried at 180 :	±5°C							
Total Dissolved Solids @180°C		10	mg/L	43	24	27	94	115
EA025: Total Suspended Solids dried at 104	4 ± 2°C							
Suspended Solids (SS)		5	mg/L	25	<5	<5	9	60
ED093F: SAR and Hardness Calculations								
Total Hardness as CaCO3		1	mg/L	14	<1	2	36	82
EG020F: Dissolved Metals by ICP-MS								
Aluminium	7429-90-5	0.01	mg/L	0.07	0.03	0.07	0.02	<0.01
Arsenic	7440-38-2	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	0.001
Boron	7440-42-8	0.05	mg/L	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05
Barium	7440-39-3	0.001	mg/L	0.030	0.019	0.021	0.011	0.022
Beryllium	7440-41-7	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Cadmium	7440-43-9	0.0001	mg/L	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001
Cobalt	7440-48-4	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Chromium	7440-47-3	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Copper	7440-50-8	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Manganese	7439-96-5	0.001	mg/L	0.006	<0.001	0.002	<0.001	<0.001
Nickel	7440-02-0	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	0.001	<0.001
Lead	7439-92-1	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Selenium	7782-49-2	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01
Vanadium	7440-62-2	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01
Zinc	7440-66-6	0.005	mg/L	0.009	<0.005	0.006	<0.005	0.005
Silver	7440-22-4	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Iron	7439-89-6	0.05	mg/L	<0.05	<0.05	0.06	<0.05	<0.05
EG035F: Dissolved Mercury by FIMS								
Mercury	7439-97-6	0.0001	mg/L	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001
EK055G: Ammonia as N by Discrete Analys	er							
Ammonia as N	7664-41-7	0.01	mg/L	0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01
EK057G: Nitrite as N by Discrete Analyser								
Nitrite as N	14797-65-0	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01
EK058G: Nitrate as N by Discrete Analyser								
Nitrate as N	14797-55-8	0.01	mg/L	0.04	<0.01	<0.01	0.04	0.06
EK059G: Nitrite plus Nitrate as N (NOx) by	Discrete Ana	lyser						
Nitrite + Nitrate as N		0.01	mg/L	0.04	<0.01	<0.01	0.04	0.06
EK061G: Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen By Discret	e Analyser							

Page : 10 of 26 Work Order : ES1828283 Client : EMM CONSULTING PTY LTD Project : J17188



Sub-Matrix: WATER (Matrix: WATER)	Client sample ID			TanS_SW004	YC04	YC03	YC05	YC02		
	Cli	ent sampli	ng date / time	22-Sep-2018 12:20	21-Sep-2018 08:00	21-Sep-2018 08:20	21-Sep-2018 09:40	21-Sep-2018 10:45		
Compound	CAS Number	LOR	Unit	ES1828283-017	ES1828283-018	ES1828283-019	ES1828283-020	ES1828283-021		
				Result	Result	Result	Result	Result		
EK061G: Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen By Discrete Analyser - Continued										
Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen as N		0.1	mg/L	0.4	<0.1	<0.1	0.2	<0.1		
EK062G: Total Nitrogen as N (TKN + NOx)	by Discrete An	alyser								
^ Total Nitrogen as N		0.1	mg/L	0.4	<0.1	<0.1	0.2	<0.1		
EK067G: Total Phosphorus as P by Discre	ete Analyser									
Total Phosphorus as P		0.01	mg/L	0.34	<0.01	<0.01	0.02	<0.01		
EK071G: Reactive Phosphorus as P by di	screte analyser									
Reactive Phosphorus as P	14265-44-2	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01		
EP002: Dissolved Organic Carbon (DOC)										
Dissolved Organic Carbon		1	mg/L	2	2	2	4	2		
EP005: Total Organic Carbon (TOC)	EP005: Total Organic Carbon (TOC)									
Total Organic Carbon		1	mg/L	2	2	2	<1	<1		

Page : 11 of 26 Work Order : ES1828283 Client : EMM CONSULTING PTY LTD Project : J17188



Sub-Matrix: WATER (Matrix: WATER)	Client sample ID			YC01	TMB02B	TMB02A	TalS_SW_001	SMB03
	CI	lient sampli	ng date / time	21-Sep-2018 11:20	21-Sep-2018 13:45	21-Sep-2018 14:10	20-Sep-2018 08:30	20-Sep-2018 10:25
Compound	CAS Number	LOR	Unit	ES1828283-022	ES1828283-023	ES1828283-024	ES1828283-025	ES1828283-026
				Result	Result	Result	Result	Result
EA015: Total Dissolved Solids dried at	180 ± 5 °C							
Total Dissolved Solids @180°C		10	mg/L	119	93	19	26	149
EA025: Total Suspended Solids dried a	t 104 ± 2°C							
Suspended Solids (SS)		5	mg/L	9			<5	
ED037P: Alkalinity by PC Titrator								
Hydroxide Alkalinity as CaCO3	DMO-210-001	1	mg/L		<1	<1		<1
Carbonate Alkalinity as CaCO3	3812-32-6	1	mg/L		<1	<1		<1
Bicarbonate Alkalinity as CaCO3	71-52-3	1	mg/L		64	9		67
Total Alkalinity as CaCO3		1	mg/L		64	9		67
ED041G: Sulfate (Turbidimetric) as SO4	2- by DA							
Sulfate as SO4 - Turbidimetric	14808-79-8	1	mg/L		1	<1		22
ED045G: Chloride by Discrete Analyser								
Chloride	16887-00-6	1	mg/L		<1	<1		7
ED093F: Dissolved Major Cations								
Calcium	7440-70-2	1	mg/L		16	2		20
Magnesium	7439-95-4	1	mg/L		2	<1		3
Sodium	7440-23-5	1	mg/L		7	1		18
Potassium	7440-09-7	1	mg/L		<1	<1		<1
ED093F: SAR and Hardness Calculation	າຣ							
Total Hardness as CaCO3		1	mg/L	93			18	
EG020F: Dissolved Metals by ICP-MS								
Aluminium	7429-90-5	0.01	mg/L	<0.01			0.03	
Arsenic	7440-38-2	0.001	mg/L	0.002	0.003	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Boron	7440-42-8	0.05	mg/L	<0.05			<0.05	
Barium	7440-39-3	0.001	mg/L	0.014			0.016	
Beryllium	7440-41-7	0.001	mg/L	<0.001			<0.001	
Cadmium	7440-43-9	0.0001	mg/L	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001
Cobalt	7440-48-4	0.001	mg/L	<0.001			<0.001	
Chromium	7440-47-3	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Copper	7440-50-8	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	0.001	0.002	<0.001	0.001
Manganese	7439-96-5	0.001	mg/L	<0.001			0.002	
Nickel	7440-02-0	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Lead	7439-92-1	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Selenium	7782-49-2	0.01	mg/L	<0.01			<0.01	
Vanadium	7440-62-2	0.01	mg/L	<0.01			<0.01	

Page : 12 of 26 Work Order : ES1828283 Client : EMM CONSULTING PTY LTD Project : J17188



Sub-Matrix: WATER (Matrix: WATER)		Client sample ID			TMB02B	TMB02A	TalS_SW_001	SMB03		
	Cl	ient sampli	ing date / time	21-Sep-2018 11:20	21-Sep-2018 13:45	21-Sep-2018 14:10	20-Sep-2018 08:30	20-Sep-2018 10:25		
Compound	CAS Number	LOR	Unit	ES1828283-022	ES1828283-023	ES1828283-024	ES1828283-025	ES1828283-026		
				Result	Result	Result	Result	Result		
EG020F: Dissolved Metals by ICP-MS	- Continued									
Zinc	7440-66-6	0.005	mg/L	<0.005	0.006	0.008	0.007	0.044		
Silver	7440-22-4	0.001	mg/L	<0.001			<0.001			
Iron	7439-89-6	0.05	mg/L	<0.05			<0.05			
EG035F: Dissolved Mercury by FIMS										
Mercury	7439-97-6	0.0001	mg/L	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001		
EK040P: Fluoride by PC Titrator										
Fluoride	16984-48-8	0.1	mg/L		0.1	<0.1		0.2		
EK055G: Ammonia as N by Discrete	Analyser									
Ammonia as N	7664-41-7	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01		
EK057G: Nitrite as N by Discrete Ana	alyser									
Nitrite as N	14797-65-0	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01		
EK058G: Nitrate as N by Discrete Analyser										
Nitrate as N	14797-55-8	0.01	mg/L	0.07	0.37	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01		
EK059G: Nitrite plus Nitrate as N (NO	Dx) by Discrete Ana	lvser								
Nitrite + Nitrate as N		0.01	mg/L	0.07	0.37	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01		
EK061G: Total Kieldahl Nitrogen By I	Discrete Analyser									
Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen as N		0.1	mg/L	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	0.1		
EK062G: Total Nitrogen as N (TKN +	NOx) by Discrete Ar	alvser								
^ Total Nitrogen as N		0.1	mg/L	<0.1	0.4	<0.1	<0.1	0.1		
EK067G: Total Phosphorus as P by D)iscrete Analyser									
Total Phosphorus as P		0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01		
EK071G: Reactive Phosphorus as P	by discrete analyser									
Reactive Phosphorus as P	14265-44-2	0.01	mg/L	<0.01			<0.01			
EN055: Ionic Balance										
Total Anions		0.01	meq/L		1.30	0.18		1.99		
Total Cations		0.01	meq/L		1.27	0.14		2.03		
EP002: Dissolved Organic Carbon (D	OC)									
Dissolved Organic Carbon		1	mg/L	1			2			
EP005: Total Organic Carbon (TOC)			<u> </u>							
Total Organic Carbon		1	mg/L	<1	<1	<1	1	4		

Page : 13 of 26 Work Order : ES1828283 Client : EMM CONSULTING PTY LTD Project : J17188



Sub-Matrix: WATER (Matrix: WATER)		Clie	ent sample ID	SMB02	SMB04	SMB05	PL_SW_007	MB02		
	CI	lient samplii	ng date / time	20-Sep-2018 10:30	20-Sep-2018 11:20	20-Sep-2018 11:10	20-Sep-2018 11:45	20-Sep-2018 14:00		
Compound	CAS Number	LOR	Unit	ES1828283-027	ES1828283-028	ES1828283-029	ES1828283-030	ES1828283-031		
				Result	Result	Result	Result	Result		
EA015: Total Dissolved Solids dried at 1	80 ± 5 °C									
Total Dissolved Solids @180°C		10	mg/L	120	84	150	27	77		
EA025: Total Suspended Solids dried at	104 ± 2°C									
Suspended Solids (SS)		5	mg/L				<5			
ED037P: Alkalinity by PC Titrator										
Hydroxide Alkalinity as CaCO3	DMO-210-001	1	mg/L	<1	<1	<1		<1		
Carbonate Alkalinity as CaCO3	3812-32-6	1	mg/L	<1	<1	<1		<1		
Bicarbonate Alkalinity as CaCO3	71-52-3	1	mg/L	77	48	72		44		
Total Alkalinity as CaCO3		1	mg/L	77	48	72		44		
ED041G: Sulfate (Turbidimetric) as SO4	2- by DA									
Sulfate as SO4 - Turbidimetric	14808-79-8	1	mg/L	7	16	40		1		
ED045G: Chloride by Discrete Analyser										
Chloride	16887-00-6	1	mg/L	2	<1	5		<1		
ED093F: Dissolved Major Cations										
Calcium	7440-70-2	1	mg/L	24	18	25		13		
Magnesium	7439-95-4	1	mg/L	2	<1	1		1		
Sodium	7440-23-5	1	mg/L	10	8	15		2		
Potassium	7440-09-7	1	mg/L	<1	<1	1		<1		
ED093F: SAR and Hardness Calculation	S									
Total Hardness as CaCO3		1	mg/L				5			
EG020F: Dissolved Metals by ICP-MS										
Aluminium	7429-90-5	0.01	mg/L				0.01			
Arsenic	7440-38-2	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	0.020	0.006	<0.001	<0.001		
Boron	7440-42-8	0.05	mg/L				<0.05			
Barium	7440-39-3	0.001	mg/L				0.009			
Beryllium	7440-41-7	0.001	mg/L				<0.001			
Cadmium	7440-43-9	0.0001	mg/L	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001		
Cobalt	7440-48-4	0.001	mg/L				<0.001			
Chromium	7440-47-3	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001		
Copper	7440-50-8	0.001	mg/L	0.002	0.001	<0.001	0.001	0.002		
Manganese	7439-96-5	0.001	mg/L				0.002			
Nickel	7440-02-0	0.001	mg/L	0.001	<0.001	0.001	<0.001	0.002		
Lead	7439-92-1	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001		
Selenium	7782-49-2	0.01	mg/L				<0.01			
Vanadium	7440-62-2	0.01	mg/L				<0.01			

Page : 14 of 26 Work Order : ES1828283 Client : EMM CONSULTING PTY LTD Project : J17188



Sub-Matrix: WATER (Matrix: WATER)		Clie	ent sample ID	SMB02	SMB04	SMB05	PL_SW_007	MB02	
	Cli	ient sampli	ng date / time	20-Sep-2018 10:30	20-Sep-2018 11:20	20-Sep-2018 11:10	20-Sep-2018 11:45	20-Sep-2018 14:00	
Compound	CAS Number	LOR	Unit	ES1828283-027	ES1828283-028	ES1828283-029	ES1828283-030	ES1828283-031	
				Result	Result	Result	Result	Result	
EG020F: Dissolved Metals by ICP-MS -	Continued								
Zinc	7440-66-6	0.005	mg/L	0.050	0.015	<0.005	0.006	<0.005	
Silver	7440-22-4	0.001	mg/L				<0.001		
Iron	7439-89-6	0.05	mg/L				<0.05		
EG035F: Dissolved Mercury by FIMS									
Mercury	7439-97-6	0.0001	mg/L	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	
EK040P: Fluoride by PC Titrator									
Fluoride	16984-48-8	0.1	mg/L	0.3	<0.1	0.1		<0.1	
EK055G: Ammonia as N by Discrete Ar	nalyser								
Ammonia as N	7664-41-7	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	0.02	<0.01	<0.01	
EK057G: Nitrite as N by Discrete Analy	yser								
Nitrite as N	14797-65-0	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	
EK058G: Nitrate as N by Discrete Analyser									
Nitrate as N	14797-55-8	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	
EK059G: Nitrite plus Nitrate as N (NOx) by Discrete Ana	lyser							
Nitrite + Nitrate as N		0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	
EK061G: Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen By Di	screte Analyser								
Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen as N		0.1	mg/L	0.3	0.2	1.1	0.1	<0.1	
EK062G: Total Nitrogen as N (TKN + N	Ox) by Discrete An	alvser							
^ Total Nitrogen as N		0.1	mg/L	0.3	0.2	1.1	0.1	<0.1	
EK067G: Total Phosphorus as P by Dis	screte Analyser								
Total Phosphorus as P		0.01	mg/L	0.03	0.03	1.87	<0.01	0.06	
EK071G: Reactive Phosphorus as P by	v discrete analvser								
Reactive Phosphorus as P	14265-44-2	0.01	mg/L				<0.01		
EN055: Ionic Balance									
Total Anions		0.01	meq/L	1.74	1.29	2.41		0.90	
Total Cations		0.01	meq/L	1.80	1.25	2.01		0.82	
EP002: Dissolved Organic Carbon (DO	C)								
Dissolved Organic Carbon		1	mg/L				2		
EP005: Total Organic Carbon (TOC)									
Total Organic Carbon		1	mg/L	3	4	22	1	<1	

Page : 15 of 26 Work Order : ES1828283 Client : EMM CONSULTING PTY LTD Project : J17188



Sub-Matrix: WATER (Matrix: WATER)	Client sample ID			MB01B	MB01C	TMB03B	QA3	TMB03A		
	Cl	ient sampli	ng date / time	20-Sep-2018 14:40	20-Sep-2018 15:00	20-Sep-2018 00:00	20-Sep-2018 00:00	20-Sep-2018 16:15		
Compound	CAS Number	LOR	Unit	ES1828283-032	ES1828283-033	ES1828283-034	ES1828283-035	ES1828283-036		
				Result	Result	Result	Result	Result		
EA015: Total Dissolved Solids dried at 180 ±	: 5 °C									
Total Dissolved Solids @180°C		10	mg/L	29	115	104	109	82		
ED037P: Alkalinity by PC Titrator										
Hydroxide Alkalinity as CaCO3	DMO-210-001	1	mg/L	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1		
Carbonate Alkalinity as CaCO3	3812-32-6	1	mg/L	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1		
Bicarbonate Alkalinity as CaCO3	71-52-3	1	mg/L	20	72	76	76	37		
Total Alkalinity as CaCO3		1	mg/L	20	72	76	76	37		
ED041G: Sulfate (Turbidimetric) as SO4 2- by DA										
Sulfate as SO4 - Turbidimetric	14808-79-8	1	mg/L	<1	7	2	1	3		
ED045G: Chloride by Discrete Analyser										
Chloride	16887-00-6	1	mg/L	<1	<1	1	1	1		
ED093F: Dissolved Major Cations										
Calcium	7440-70-2	1	mg/L	4	15	21	20	5		
Magnesium	7439-95-4	1	mg/L	1	5	2	2	3		
Sodium	7440-23-5	1	mg/L	<1	7	6	6	5		
Potassium	7440-09-7	1	mg/L	<1	2	5	5	<1		
EG020F: Dissolved Metals by ICP-MS										
Arsenic	7440-38-2	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	0.009	0.002	0.002	0.002		
Cadmium	7440-43-9	0.0001	mg/L	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001		
Chromium	7440-47-3	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001		
Copper	7440-50-8	0.001	mg/L	0.010	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001		
Nickel	7440-02-0	0.001	mg/L	0.002	0.005	<0.001	0.001	0.014		
Lead	7439-92-1	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001		
Zinc	7440-66-6	0.005	mg/L	0.007	<0.005	<0.005	<0.005	0.011		
EG035F: Dissolved Mercury by FIMS										
Mercury	7439-97-6	0.0001	mg/L	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001		
EK040P: Fluoride by PC Titrator										
Fluoride	16984-48-8	0.1	mg/L	<0.1	<0.1	0.7	0.7	<0.1		
EK055G: Ammonia as N by Discrete Analyse	ər									
Ammonia as N	7664-41-7	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	0.03	0.01	<0.01	0.06		
EK057G: Nitrite as N by Discrete Analyser										
Nitrite as N	14797-65-0	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01		
EK058G: Nitrate as N by Discrete Analyser										
Nitrate as N	14797-55-8	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	0.02	<0.01	<0.01		

Page : 16 of 26 Work Order : ES1828283 Client : EMM CONSULTING PTY LTD Project : J17188



Sub-Matrix: WATER (Matrix: WATER)	Client sample ID			MB01B	MB01C	TMB03B	QA3	ТМВ03А		
	Cli	ent sampli	ng date / time	20-Sep-2018 14:40	20-Sep-2018 15:00	20-Sep-2018 00:00	20-Sep-2018 00:00	20-Sep-2018 16:15		
Compound	CAS Number	LOR	Unit	ES1828283-032	ES1828283-033	ES1828283-034	ES1828283-035	ES1828283-036		
				Result	Result	Result	Result	Result		
EK059G: Nitrite plus Nitrate as N (NOx) by Discrete Analyser										
Nitrite + Nitrate as N		0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	0.02	<0.01	<0.01		
EK061G: Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen By Dis	screte Analyser									
Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen as N		0.1	mg/L	<0.1	<0.1	0.1	<0.1	<0.1		
EK062G: Total Nitrogen as N (TKN + N	Ox) by Discrete An	alyser								
^ Total Nitrogen as N		0.1	mg/L	<0.1	<0.1	0.1	<0.1	<0.1		
EK067G: Total Phosphorus as P by Dis	crete Analyser									
Total Phosphorus as P		0.01	mg/L	0.07	<0.01	<0.01	0.01	0.20		
EN055: Ionic Balance										
Total Anions		0.01	meq/L	0.40	1.58	1.59	1.57	0.83		
Total Cations		0.01	meq/L	0.28	1.52	1.60	1.55	0.71		
EP005: Total Organic Carbon (TOC)										
Total Organic Carbon		1	mg/L	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1		

Page : 17 of 26 Work Order : ES1828283 Client : EMM CONSULTING PTY LTD Project : J17188



Sub-Matrix: WATER (Matrix: WATER)	Client sample ID			TMB03C	MB07A	MB07B	PL_SW_005	QA2		
	Cl	lient sampli	ng date / time	20-Sep-2018 16:45	19-Sep-2018 09:45	19-Sep-2018 09:20	19-Sep-2018 11:15	19-Sep-2018 00:00		
Compound	CAS Number	LOR	Unit	ES1828283-037	ES1828283-038	ES1828283-039	ES1828283-040	ES1828283-041		
				Result	Result	Result	Result	Result		
EA015: Total Dissolved Solids dried at ²	180 ± 5 °C									
Total Dissolved Solids @180°C		10	mg/L	70	88	365	20	13		
EA025: Total Suspended Solids dried at	t 104 ± 2°C									
Suspended Solids (SS)		5	mg/L				<5	<5		
ED037P: Alkalinity by PC Titrator										
Hydroxide Alkalinity as CaCO3	DMO-210-001	1	mg/L	<1	<1	<1				
Carbonate Alkalinity as CaCO3	3812-32-6	1	mg/L	<1	<1	<1				
Bicarbonate Alkalinity as CaCO3	71-52-3	1	mg/L	56	12	43				
Total Alkalinity as CaCO3		1	mg/L	56	12	43				
ED041G: Sulfate (Turbidimetric) as SO4	2- by DA									
Sulfate as SO4 - Turbidimetric	14808-79-8	1	mg/L	<1	45	220				
ED045G: Chloride by Discrete Analyser										
Chloride	16887-00-6	1	mg/L	2	1	4				
ED093F: Dissolved Major Cations										
Calcium	7440-70-2	1	mg/L	8	12	78				
Magnesium	7439-95-4	1	mg/L	3	5	6				
Sodium	7440-23-5	1	mg/L	8	4	23				
Potassium	7440-09-7	1	mg/L	2	<1	5				
ED093F: SAR and Hardness Calculation	ıs									
Total Hardness as CaCO3		1	mg/L				2	2		
EG020F: Dissolved Metals by ICP-MS										
Aluminium	7429-90-5	0.01	mg/L				0.03	0.02		
Arsenic	7440-38-2	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	0.001	<0.001	<0.001		
Boron	7440-42-8	0.05	mg/L				<0.05	<0.05		
Barium	7440-39-3	0.001	mg/L				0.006	0.018		
Beryllium	7440-41-7	0.001	mg/L				<0.001	<0.001		
Cadmium	7440-43-9	0.0001	mg/L	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001		
Cobalt	7440-48-4	0.001	mg/L				<0.001	<0.001		
Chromium	7440-47-3	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001		
Copper	7440-50-8	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	0.006	<0.001	<0.001	0.002		
Manganese	7439-96-5	0.001	mg/L				0.002	0.002		
Nickel	7440-02-0	0.001	mg/L	0.001	<0.001	0.003	<0.001	<0.001		
Lead	7439-92-1	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001		
Selenium	7782-49-2	0.01	mg/L				<0.01	<0.01		
Vanadium	7440-62-2	0.01	mg/L				<0.01	<0.01		

Page : 18 of 26 Work Order : ES1828283 Client : EMM CONSULTING PTY LTD Project : J17188



Sub-Matrix: WATER (Matrix: WATER)		Cli	ent sample ID	TMB03C	MB07A	MB07B	PL_SW_005	QA2		
	Cl	ient sampli	ng date / time	20-Sep-2018 16:45	19-Sep-2018 09:45	19-Sep-2018 09:20	19-Sep-2018 11:15	19-Sep-2018 00:00		
Compound	CAS Number	LOR	Unit	ES1828283-037	ES1828283-038	ES1828283-039	ES1828283-040	ES1828283-041		
				Result	Result	Result	Result	Result		
EG020F: Dissolved Metals by ICP-M	S - Continued									
Zinc	7440-66-6	0.005	mg/L	<0.005	0.008	0.065	<0.005	0.007		
Silver	7440-22-4	0.001	mg/L				<0.001	<0.001		
Iron	7439-89-6	0.05	mg/L				<0.05	<0.05		
EG035F: Dissolved Mercury by FIMS										
Mercury	7439-97-6	0.0001	mg/L	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001		
EK040P: Fluoride by PC Titrator										
Fluoride	16984-48-8	0.1	mg/L	0.1	<0.1	0.6				
EK055G: Ammonia as N by Discrete	Analyser									
Ammonia as N	7664-41-7	0.01	mg/L	0.02	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01		
EK057G: Nitrite as N by Discrete Ar	nalvser									
Nitrite as N	14797-65-0	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01		
EK058G: Nitrate as N by Discrete A	nalvser									
Nitrate as N	14797-55-8	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	0.10	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01		
EK059G: Nitrite plus Nitrate as N (N	Ox) by Discrete Ana	lvser								
Nitrite + Nitrate as N		0.01	mg/L	<0.01	0.10	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01		
EK061G: Total Kieldahl Nitrogen By	Discrete Analyser									
Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen as N		0.1	mg/L	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	0.4		
EK062G: Total Nitrogen as N (TKN +	NOx) by Discrete Ar	alvser								
^ Total Nitrogen as N		0.1	mg/L	<0.1	0.1	<0.1	<0.1	0.4		
EK067G: Total Phosphorus as P by	Discrete Analyser									
Total Phosphorus as P		0.01	mg/L	0.02	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.05		
EK071G: Reactive Phosphorus as P	by discrete analyser		, i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i							
Reactive Phosphorus as P	14265-44-2	0.01	mg/L				<0.01	<0.01		
EN055: Jonic Balance			, i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i							
Total Anions		0.01	meg/L	1.18	1.20	5.55				
Total Cations		0.01	meg/L	1.04	1.18	5.51				
Ionic Balance		0.01	%			0.34				
EP002: Dissolved Organic Carbon (, ()									
Dissolved Organic Carbon		1	mg/L				2	2		
EP005: Total Organic Carbon (TOC)										
Total Organic Carbon		1	mg/L	2	<1	3	2	3		

Page : 19 of 26 Work Order : ES1828283 Client : EMM CONSULTING PTY LTD Project : J17188



Sub-Matrix: WATER (Matrix: WATER)		Clie	ent sample ID	PL_SW_009	PL_SW_002	PL_SW_008	TMB04	PB04
	Cl	lient sampli	ng date / time	19-Sep-2018 12:20	19-Sep-2018 14:30	19-Sep-2018 14:45	19-Sep-2018 15:45	19-Sep-2018 16:30
Compound	CAS Number	LOR	Unit	ES1828283-042	ES1828283-043	ES1828283-044	ES1828283-045	ES1828283-046
				Result	Result	Result	Result	Result
EA015: Total Dissolved Solids dried at 1	80 ± 5 °C							
Total Dissolved Solids @180°C		10	mg/L	12	21	16	103	54
EA025: Total Suspended Solids dried at	: 104 ± 2°C							
Suspended Solids (SS)		5	mg/L	<5	<5	<5		
ED037P: Alkalinity by PC Titrator								
Hydroxide Alkalinity as CaCO3	DMO-210-001	1	mg/L				<1	<1
Carbonate Alkalinity as CaCO3	3812-32-6	1	mg/L				<1	<1
Bicarbonate Alkalinity as CaCO3	71-52-3	1	mg/L				29	28
Total Alkalinity as CaCO3		1	mg/L				29	28
ED041G: Sulfate (Turbidimetric) as SO4	2- by DA							
Sulfate as SO4 - Turbidimetric	14808-79-8	1	mg/L				2	11
ED045G: Chloride by Discrete Analyser								
Chloride	16887-00-6	1	mg/L				<1	<1
ED093F: Dissolved Major Cations								
Calcium	7440-70-2	1	mg/L				10	11
Magnesium	7439-95-4	1	mg/L				<1	<1
Sodium	7440-23-5	1	mg/L				2	5
Potassium	7440-09-7	1	mg/L				<1	<1
ED093F: SAR and Hardness Calculation	IS							
Total Hardness as CaCO3		1	mg/L	5	2	2		
EG020F: Dissolved Metals by ICP-MS								
Aluminium	7429-90-5	0.01	mg/L	0.02	0.04	0.02		
Arsenic	7440-38-2	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Boron	7440-42-8	0.05	mg/L	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05		
Barium	7440-39-3	0.001	mg/L	0.014	0.010	0.015		
Beryllium	7440-41-7	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001		
Cadmium	7440-43-9	0.0001	mg/L	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001
Cobalt	7440-48-4	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001		
Chromium	7440-47-3	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Copper	7440-50-8	0.001	mg/L	0.001	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.001
Manganese	7439-96-5	0.001	mg/L	0.002	0.003	0.002		
Nickel	7440-02-0	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	0.001	<0.001
Lead	7439-92-1	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Selenium	7782-49-2	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01		
Vanadium	7440-62-2	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01		

Page : 20 of 26 Work Order : ES1828283 Client : EMM CONSULTING PTY LTD Project : J17188



Sub-Matrix: WATER (Matrix: WATER)		Clie	ent sample ID	PL_SW_009	PL_SW_002	PL_SW_008	TMB04	PB04		
	Cl	ient sampli	ng date / time	19-Sep-2018 12:20	19-Sep-2018 14:30	19-Sep-2018 14:45	19-Sep-2018 15:45	19-Sep-2018 16:30		
Compound	CAS Number	LOR	Unit	ES1828283-042	ES1828283-043	ES1828283-044	ES1828283-045	ES1828283-046		
				Result	Result	Result	Result	Result		
EG020F: Dissolved Metals by ICP-MS	- Continued									
Zinc	7440-66-6	0.005	mg/L	0.005	0.018	0.006	0.009	0.007		
Silver	7440-22-4	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001				
Iron	7439-89-6	0.05	mg/L	<0.05	0.05	<0.05				
EG035F: Dissolved Mercury by FIMS										
Mercury	7439-97-6	0.0001	mg/L	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001		
EK040P: Fluoride by PC Titrator										
Fluoride	16984-48-8	0.1	mg/L				<0.1	0.2		
EK055G: Ammonia as N by Discrete A	nalyser									
Ammonia as N	7664-41-7	0.01	mg/L	0.02	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.02		
EK057G: Nitrite as N by Discrete Ana	lvser									
Nitrite as N	14797-65-0	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01		
EK058G: Nitrate as N by Discrete Analyser										
Nitrate as N	14797-55-8	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.01	<0.01		
EK059G: Nitrite plus Nitrate as N (NO	x) by Discrete Ana	lvser								
Nitrite + Nitrate as N		0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.01	<0.01		
EK061G: Total Kieldahl Nitrogen By D	iscrete Analyser									
Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen as N		0.1	mg/L	<0.1	<0.1	0.2	0.7	1.5		
EK062G: Total Nitrogen as N (TKN + N	IOx) by Discrete Ar	alvser								
^ Total Nitrogen as N		0.1	mg/L	<0.1	<0.1	0.2	0.7	1.5		
EK067G: Total Phosphorus as P by D	iscrete Analyser		, in the second s							
Total Phosphorus as P		0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.19	<0.01		
EK071G: Reactive Phosphorus as P h	v discrete analyser		_							
Reactive Phosphorus as P	14265-44-2	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01				
EN055: Ionic Balance			_							
Total Anions		0.01	meq/L				0.62	0.79		
Total Cations		0.01	meq/L				0.58	0.77		
EP002: Dissolved Organic Carbon (D0)C)									
Dissolved Organic Carbon		1	mg/L	2	2	2				
EP005: Total Organic Carbon (TOC)										
Total Organic Carbon		1	mg/L	1	2	2	1	3		

Page : 21 of 26 Work Order : ES1828283 Client : EMM CONSULTING PTY LTD Project : J17188



Sub-Matrix: WATER (Matrix: WATER)		Clie	ent sample ID	PL_SW_001	PL_SW_003	LH_SW_009	LH_SW_008	PB05				
	Ci	lient sampli	ng date / time	19-Sep-2018 16:45	19-Sep-2018 17:25	18-Sep-2018 10:20	18-Sep-2018 10:55	18-Sep-2018 11:50				
Compound	CAS Number	LOR	Unit	ES1828283-047	ES1828283-048	ES1828283-049	ES1828283-050	ES1828283-051				
				Result	Result	Result	Result	Result				
EA015: Total Dissolved Solids dried at	180 ± 5 °C											
Total Dissolved Solids @180°C		10	mg/L					129				
Total Dissolved Solids @180°C		10	mg/L	26	23	50	42					
EA025: Total Suspended Solids dried a	t 104 ± 2°C											
Suspended Solids (SS)		5	mg/L	<5	<5	<5	<5					
ED037P: Alkalinity by PC Titrator												
Hydroxide Alkalinity as CaCO3	DMO-210-001	1	mg/L					<1				
Carbonate Alkalinity as CaCO3	3812-32-6	1	mg/L					<1				
Bicarbonate Alkalinity as CaCO3	71-52-3	1	mg/L					73				
Total Alkalinity as CaCO3		1	mg/L					73				
ED041G: Sulfate (Turbidimetric) as SO4 2- by DA												
Sulfate as SO4 - Turbidimetric	14808-79-8	1	mg/L					19				
ED045G: Chloride by Discrete Analyser												
Chloride	16887-00-6	1	mg/L					<1				
ED093F: Dissolved Major Cations												
Calcium	7440-70-2	1	mg/L					18				
Magnesium	7439-95-4	1	mg/L					8				
Sodium	7440-23-5	1	mg/L					10				
Potassium	7440-09-7	1	mg/L					2				
ED093F: SAR and Hardness Calculation	ıs											
Total Hardness as CaCO3		1	mg/L	5	5	21	24					
EG020F: Dissolved Metals by ICP-MS												
Aluminium	7429-90-5	0.01	mg/L	0.01	0.02	0.02	0.10					
Arsenic	7440-38-2	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001				
Boron	7440-42-8	0.05	mg/L	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05					
Barium	7440-39-3	0.001	mg/L	0.014	0.004	0.010	0.013					
Beryllium	7440-41-7	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001					
Cadmium	7440-43-9	0.0001	mg/L	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001				
Cobalt	7440-48-4	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001					
Chromium	7440-47-3	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	0.001				
Copper	7440-50-8	0.001	mg/L	0.002	<0.001	0.001	<0.001	<0.001				
Manganese	7439-96-5	0.001	mg/L	0.002	0.001	<0.001	<0.001					
Nickel	7440-02-0	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	0.002	<0.001	0.001				
Lead	7439-92-1	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001				
Selenium	7782-49-2	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01					
Page : 22 of 26 Work Order : ES1828283 Client : EMM CONSULTING PTY LTD Project : J17188



Sub-Matrix: WATER (Matrix: WATER)		Clie	ent sample ID	PL_SW_001	PL_SW_003	LH_SW_009	LH_SW_008	PB05
	Cli	ent sampli	ng date / time	19-Sep-2018 16:45	19-Sep-2018 17:25	18-Sep-2018 10:20	18-Sep-2018 10:55	18-Sep-2018 11:50
Compound	CAS Number	LOR	Unit	ES1828283-047	ES1828283-048	ES1828283-049	ES1828283-050	ES1828283-051
				Result	Result	Result	Result	Result
EG020F: Dissolved Metals by ICP-M	S - Continued							
Vanadium	7440-62-2	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	
Zinc	7440-66-6	0.005	mg/L	0.007	<0.005	<0.005	<0.005	<0.005
Silver	7440-22-4	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	
Iron	7439-89-6	0.05	mg/L	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	0.06	
EG035F: Dissolved Mercury by FIM	S							
Mercury	7439-97-6	0.0001	mg/L	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001
EK040P: Fluoride by PC Titrator								
Fluoride	16984-48-8	0.1	mg/L					0.2
EK055G: Ammonia as N by Discrete	Analyser							
Ammonia as N	7664-41-7	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	0.01	<0.01	0.02
EK057G: Nitrite as N by Discrete A	nalvser							
Nitrite as N	14797-65-0	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01
EK058G: Nitrate as N by Discrete A	nalvser							
Nitrate as N	14797-55-8	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.36
EK059G: Nitrite plus Nitrate as N (N	IOx) by Discrete Anal	vser	_					
Nitrite + Nitrate as N		0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.36
EK061G: Total Kieldahl Nitrogon By	Discroto Analysor		3					
Total Kieldahl Nitrogen as N	Discrete Analysei	0.1	ma/L	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	0.1
EK062C: Total Nitrogan as N /TKN d	NOv) by Discrete An	alvoor	3				-	
[^] Total Nitrogen as N	NOX) by Discrete All		mg/l	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	0.5
		0.1	<u>9</u> / =		•			0.0
Total Phosphorus as P	Discrete Analyser	0.01	mg/l	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01
		0.01	ilig/E	-0.01	-0.01	-0.01	40.01	-0.01
EK071G: Reactive Phosphorus as P	by discrete analyser	0.01	ma/l	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	
	14203-44-2	0.01	mg/E	40.01	-0.01	\$0.01	\$0.01	
EN055: Ionic Balance		0.01	mog/l					4.95
Total Cations		0.01	meg/L					2.04
		0.01	ineq/L					2.04
EP002: Dissolved Organic Carbon (DOC	1	mc/l		4	E	2	
		1	mg/L	2	1	5	2	
EP005: Total Organic Carbon (TOC)							-	
Total Organic Carbon		1	mg/L	1	1	1	2	

Page : 23 of 26 Work Order : ES1828283 Client : EMM CONSULTING PTY LTD Project : J17188



Sub-Matrix: WATER (Matrix: WATER)		Clie	ent sample ID	MB06A	MB06B	PN_SW_001	PN_SW_002	QA1
	Cl	lient sampli	ng date / time	18-Sep-2018 13:25	18-Sep-2018 14:00	18-Sep-2018 14:30	18-Sep-2018 15:00	18-Sep-2018 00:00
Compound	CAS Number	LOR	Unit	ES1828283-052	ES1828283-053	ES1828283-054	ES1828283-055	ES1828283-056
				Result	Result	Result	Result	Result
EA015: Total Dissolved Solids dried at 1	80 ± 5 °C							
Total Dissolved Solids @180°C		10	mg/L	68	246			
Total Dissolved Solids @180°C		10	mg/L			34	14	12
EA025: Total Suspended Solids dried at	104 ± 2°C							
Suspended Solids (SS)		5	mg/L			<5	<5	<5
ED037P: Alkalinity by PC Titrator								
Hydroxide Alkalinity as CaCO3	DMO-210-001	1	mg/L	<1	<1			
Carbonate Alkalinity as CaCO3	3812-32-6	1	mg/L	<1	<1			
Bicarbonate Alkalinity as CaCO3	71-52-3	1	mg/L	44	89			
Total Alkalinity as CaCO3		1	mg/L	44	89			
ED041G: Sulfate (Turbidimetric) as SO4	2- by DA							
Sulfate as SO4 - Turbidimetric	14808-79-8	1	mg/L	2	54			
ED045G: Chloride by Discrete Analyser								
Chloride	16887-00-6	1	mg/L	2	9			
ED093F: Dissolved Major Cations								
Calcium	7440-70-2	1	mg/L	12	29			
Magnesium	7439-95-4	1	mg/L	2	7			
Sodium	7440-23-5	1	mg/L	5	29			
Potassium	7440-09-7	1	mg/L	1	1			
ED093F: SAR and Hardness Calculation	s							
Total Hardness as CaCO3		1	mg/L			7	2	<1
EG020F: Dissolved Metals by ICP-MS								
Aluminium	7429-90-5	0.01	mg/L			0.08	0.06	0.06
Arsenic	7440-38-2	0.001	mg/L	0.001	0.003	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Boron	7440-42-8	0.05	mg/L			<0.05	<0.05	<0.05
Barium	7440-39-3	0.001	mg/L			0.011	0.008	0.006
Beryllium	7440-41-7	0.001	mg/L			<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Cadmium	7440-43-9	0.0001	mg/L	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001
Cobalt	7440-48-4	0.001	mg/L			<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Chromium	7440-47-3	0.001	mg/L	0.002	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Copper	7440-50-8	0.001	mg/L	0.002	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Manganese	7439-96-5	0.001	mg/L			0.002	0.004	0.002
Nickel	7440-02-0	0.001	mg/L	0.016	0.016	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Lead	7439-92-1	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Selenium	7782-49-2	0.01	mg/L			<0.01	<0.01	<0.01

Page : 24 of 26 Work Order : ES1828283 Client : EMM CONSULTING PTY LTD Project : J17188



Sub-Matrix: WATER (Matrix: WATER)		Clie	ent sample ID	MB06A	MB06B	PN_SW_001	PN_SW_002	QA1
	Cl	ient sampli	ng date / time	18-Sep-2018 13:25	18-Sep-2018 14:00	18-Sep-2018 14:30	18-Sep-2018 15:00	18-Sep-2018 00:00
Compound	CAS Number	LOR	Unit	ES1828283-052	ES1828283-053	ES1828283-054	ES1828283-055	ES1828283-056
				Result	Result	Result	Result	Result
EG020F: Dissolved Metals by ICP-MS -	Continued							
Vanadium	7440-62-2	0.01	mg/L			<0.01	<0.01	<0.01
Zinc	7440-66-6	0.005	mg/L	0.011	<0.005	<0.005	<0.005	<0.005
Silver	7440-22-4	0.001	mg/L			<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Iron	7439-89-6	0.05	mg/L			<0.05	0.06	0.06
EG035F: Dissolved Mercury by FIMS								
Mercury	7439-97-6	0.0001	mg/L	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001
EK040P: Fluoride by PC Titrator								
Fluoride	16984-48-8	0.1	mg/L	<0.1	0.1			
EK055G: Ammonia as N by Discrete Ar	alyser							
Ammonia as N	7664-41-7	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01
EK057G: Nitrite as N by Discrete Analy	vser							
Nitrite as N	14797-65-0	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01
EK058G: Nitrate as N by Discrete Anal	vser							
Nitrate as N	14797-55-8	0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01
EK059G: Nitrite plus Nitrate as N (NOx) by Discrete Ana	lvser						
Nitrite + Nitrate as N		0.01	mg/L	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01
EK061G: Total Kieldahl Nitrogen By Dis	screte Analyser							
Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen as N		0.1	mg/L	<0.2	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
EK062G: Total Nitrogen as N (TKN + N	Dx) by Discrete Ar	alvser						
^ Total Nitrogen as N		0.1	mg/L	<0.2	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1
EK067G: Total Phosphorus as P by Dis	crete Analyser							
Total Phosphorus as P		0.01	mg/L	0.12	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01
EK071G: Reactive Phosphorus as P by	discrete analyser							
Reactive Phosphorus as P	14265-44-2	0.01	mg/L			<0.01	<0.01	<0.01
EN055: Ionic Balance								
Total Anions		0.01	mea/L	0.98	3.16			
Total Cations		0.01	meq/L	1.01	3.31			
Ionic Balance		0.01	%		2.38			
EP002: Dissolved Organic Carbon (DO	C)							
Dissolved Organic Carbon		1	mg/L			4	5	2
EP005: Total Organic Carbon (TOC)								
Total Organic Carbon		1	mg/L			2	2	3
U			5					

Page : 25 of 26 Work Order : ES1828283 Client : EMM CONSULTING PTY LTD Project : J17188



Sub-Matrix: WATER (Matrix: WATER)		Clie	ent sample ID	MB04A	MB04B	MB03	LH_SW_005	
	CI	lient sampliı	ng date / time	18-Sep-2018 15:45	18-Sep-2018 16:20	18-Sep-2018 17:05	23-Sep-2018 12:10	
Compound	CAS Number	LOR	Unit	ES1828283-057	ES1828283-058	ES1828283-059	ES1828283-060	
				Result	Result	Result	Result	
EA015: Total Dissolved Solids dried at 1	80 ± 5 °C							
Total Dissolved Solids @180°C		10	mg/L	347	441	74		
Total Dissolved Solids @180°C		10	mg/L				372	
EA025: Total Suspended Solids dried at	104 ± 2°C							
Suspended Solids (SS)		5	mg/L				12	
ED037P: Alkalinity by PC Titrator								
Hydroxide Alkalinity as CaCO3	DMO-210-001	1	mg/L	<1	<1	<1		
Carbonate Alkalinity as CaCO3	3812-32-6	1	mg/L	<1	<1	<1		
Bicarbonate Alkalinity as CaCO3	71-52-3	1	mg/L	62	120	49		
Total Alkalinity as CaCO3		1	mg/L	62	120	49		
ED041G: Sulfate (Turbidimetric) as SO4	2- by DA							
Sulfate as SO4 - Turbidimetric	14808-79-8	1	mg/L	186	76	<1		
ED045G: Chloride by Discrete Analyser								
Chloride	16887-00-6	1	mg/L	6	43	<1		
ED093F: Dissolved Major Cations								
Calcium	7440-70-2	1	mg/L	78	13	8		
Magnesium	7439-95-4	1	mg/L	5	2	4		
Sodium	7440-23-5	1	mg/L	22	99	5		
Potassium	7440-09-7	1	mg/L	4	<1	<1		
ED093F: SAR and Hardness Calculation	s							
Total Hardness as CaCO3		1	mg/L				308	
EG020F: Dissolved Metals by ICP-MS								
Aluminium	7429-90-5	0.01	mg/L				<0.01	
Arsenic	7440-38-2	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	
Boron	7440-42-8	0.05	mg/L				<0.05	
Barium	7440-39-3	0.001	mg/L				0.114	
Beryllium	7440-41-7	0.001	mg/L				<0.001	
Cadmium	7440-43-9	0.0001	mg/L	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	
Cobalt	7440-48-4	0.001	mg/L				<0.001	
Chromium	7440-47-3	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	
Copper	7440-50-8	0.001	mg/L	0.002	<0.001	<0.001	0.003	
Manganese	7439-96-5	0.001	mg/L				0.002	
Nickel	7440-02-0	0.001	mg/L	0.002	0.002	<0.001	0.001	
Lead	7439-92-1	0.001	mg/L	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	
Selenium	7782-49-2	0.01	mg/L				<0.01	

Page : 26 of 26 Work Order : ES1828283 Client : EMM CONSULTING PTY LTD Project : J17188



Sub-Matrix: WATER (Matrix: WATER)		Clie	ent sample ID	MB04A	MB04B	MB03	LH_SW_005	
	Cl	ient sampli	ng date / time	18-Sep-2018 15:45	18-Sep-2018 16:20	18-Sep-2018 17:05	23-Sep-2018 12:10	
Compound	CAS Number	LOR	Unit	ES1828283-057	ES1828283-058	ES1828283-059	ES1828283-060	
				Result	Result	Result	Result	
EG020F: Dissolved Metals by ICP-MS	- Continued							
Vanadium	7440-62-2	0.01	mg/L				<0.01	
Zinc	7440-66-6	0.005	mg/L	0.007	<0.005	<0.005	<0.005	
Silver	7440-22-4	0.001	mg/L				<0.001	
Iron	7439-89-6	0.05	mg/L				<0.05	
EG035F: Dissolved Mercury by FIMS								
Mercury	7439-97-6	0.0001	mg/L	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	
EK040P: Fluoride by PC Titrator								
Fluoride	16984-48-8	0.1	mg/L	0.4	0.4	<0.1		
EK055G: Ammonia as N by Discrete A	nalvser							
Ammonia as N	7664-41-7	0.01	mg/L	0.04	0.02	0.04	<0.01	
EK057G: Nitrite as N by Discrete Ana	lvser							
Nitrite as N	14797-65-0	0.01	mg/L	0.12	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	
EK058G: Nitrate as N by Discrete Ana	alvser							
Nitrate as N	14797-55-8	0.01	mg/L	15.2	<0.01	0.21	<0.01	
EK059G: Nitrite plus Nitrate as N (NO	(x) by Discrete Ana	lvser	_					
Nitrite + Nitrate as N		0.01	mg/L	15.3	<0.01	0.21	<0.01	
EK061G: Total Kieldahl Nitrogen By D	iscrete Analyser		_					
Total Kieldahl Nitrogen as N		0.1	mg/L	0.3	0.2	<0.1	<0.1	
EK062G: Total Nitrogon as N (TKN + N	NOv) by Discroto Ar	alveor	5					
^ Total Nitrogen as N		0.1	mg/L	15.6	0.2	0.2	<0.1	
EK067G: Total Phoenhorus as P by D	iscrata Analysar		5					
Total Phosphorus as P		0.01	ma/L	<0.01	0.05	<0.01	<0.01	
EK071C: Posetive Phoenborus as P h	w discroto analysor							
Reactive Phosphorus as P		0.01	ma/l				<0.01	
	14203-44-2	0.01	iiig/2				-0.01	
Total Anions		0.01	meg/l	5 28	5 19	0.98		
Total Cations		0.01	meq/L	5.36	5.13	0.94		
		0.01	%	0.77	0.71			
EP002: Dissolved Organia Cerber (D								
Dissolved Organic Carbon (DC		1	ma/l				4	
ED005: Total Organia Carbon (TOC)			g, L				-	
Total Organic Carbon (TOC)		1	ma/l				2	
		I	iiig/∟				4	



Drilling and completion report

Stage 3

Prepared for Snowy Hydro Limited July 2019

EMM Sydney Ground floor, Suite 01, 20 Chandos Street St Leonards NSW 2065

T 02 9493 9500

F 02 9493 9599

E info@emmconsulting.com.au

www.emmconsulting.com.au

Drilling and completion report

Stage 3



Kaitlyn Brodie Hydrogeologist 31 July 2019 Jonathon Tait Senior Hydrogeologist 31 July 2019

This report has been prepared in accordance with the brief provided by the client and has relied upon the information collected at the time and under the conditions specified in the report. All findings, conclusions or recommendations contained in the report are based on the aforementioned circumstances. The report is for the use of the client and no responsibility will be taken for its use by other parties. The client may, at its discretion, use the report to inform regulators and the public.

© Reproduction of this report for educational or other non-commercial purposes is authorised without prior written permission from EMM provided the source is fully acknowledged. Reproduction of this report for resale or other commercial purposes is prohibited without EMM's prior written permission.

Table of Contents

1	Intro	duction		3					
	1.1	l Project overview							
	1.2 Program objectives								
2	Drillir	ng prograr	n	4					
	2.1	Monitor	ing bore network	4					
	2.2	Monitor	ing and test production bore licences	8					
	2.3	Drilling o	construction specifications	8					
		2.3.1	Overview	8					
		2.3.2	Drilling	8					
		2.3.3	Survey	9					
	2.4	2.4 Geology encountered during drilling							
	2.5	Groundwater flow							
	2.6	Groundv	vater quality	11					
3	Field	testing		12					
	3.1	Test pun	nping	12					
		3.1.1	Test pumping methodology	12					
		3.1.2	Test pumping results	13					
	3.2	Groundv	vater level monitoring	14					
	3.3	Groundv	vater quality monitoring	15					
		3.3.1	Groundwater sampling methodology	15					
		3.3.2	QA/QC procedures	15					
		3.3.3	Groundwater sampling results	16					
Ref	erence	S		22					

Appendices

Appendix A Monitoring bore licence	A.1
Appendix B Form A's	B.1
Appendix C Geological and bore construction logs	C.1
Appendix D Pump test reports	D.1
Appendix E Hydrographs	E.2

Appendix F Groundwater sampling laboratory certificates

Tables

Table 2.1	Stage 3 groundwater monitoring and test production bore summary	6
Table 2.2	Bore survey details	9
Table 2.3	Geology	10
Table 2.4	Groundwater flow	10
Table 2.5	Groundwater quality	11
Table 3.1	Stage 3 pumping test summary data	12
Table 3.2	Pumping test results	14
Table 3.3	Groundwater sampling analytical suite	15
Table 3.4	Mean groundwater quality results (November 2018 – February 2019)	18

Figures

Figure 2.1	Stage 3 monitoring and test production bore locations	5
Figure 2.2	Typical test production bore and associated nested monitoring bores	7
Figure E.1	Zinc Ridge test production and monitoring bore hydrographs	E.1
Figure E.2	Shallow monitoring bore MB11A hydrograph	E.1
Figure E.3	Ravine East test production and monitoring bore hydrographs	E.2
Figure E.4	Bullocks Hill test production and monitoring bore hydrographs	E.2

F.3

1 Introduction

1.1 Project overview

Snowy Hydro Limited (SHL) proposes to develop Snowy 2.0, a large-scale pumped hydro-electric storage and generation project which would increase hydro-electric capacity within the existing Snowy Mountains Hydro-electric Scheme (Snowy Scheme). This would be achieved by establishing a new underground hydro-electric power station that would increase the generation capacity of the Snowy Scheme by almost 50%, providing an additional 2,000 megawatts (MW) generating capacity, and providing approximately 350 gigawatts hours (GWh) of storage available to the National Electricity Market (NEM) at any one time, which is critical to ensuring system security as Australia transitions to a decarbonised NEM. Snowy 2.0 would link the existing Tantangara and Talbingo reservoirs within the Snowy Scheme through a series of underground tunnels and hydro-electric power station.

Snowy 2.0 has been declared Critical State Significant Infrastructure (CSSI) by the NSW Minister for Planning under the provisions of the *NSW Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979* (EP&A Act) and is defined in Clause 9 of Schedule 5 of the State Environmental Planning Policy (State and Regional Development) 2011 (SRD SEPP).

1.2 Program objectives

The collection of field data is important for accurate representation of hydrogeological conceptual and numerical groundwater flow models which will inform the Groundwater Assessment in support of the Snowy 2.0 EIS. This assessment covers all issues relating to site water management, groundwater and surface water and their related environmental and other uses.

A comprehensive groundwater monitoring network has been installed to collect hydrogeological data which will be used to characterise the groundwater regime in the vicinity of project area. The Stage 3 project area is located inbetween the Talbingo and Tantangara reservoirs, which are existing structures that form part of the Snowy Scheme. Talbingo Reservoir is located approximately 50 kilometres (km) north-west of Adaminaby. Tantangara Reservoir is located approximately 25 km north-west of Adaminaby. The two regions are separated by the Snowy Mountains Highway, which connects Adaminaby and Cooma in the south-east, to Talbingo and Tumut to the north-west of KNP. The ravine region is between Talbingo Reservoir to the north-west and the Snowy Mountains Highway to the east. The plateau region extends from the Snowy Mountains Highway in the east to Tantangara Reservoir in the west.

The Stage 1 groundwater monitoring network comprises 20 monitoring bores, including conventional standpipe piezometers and nested monitoring sites, at 11 locations. The Stage 2 groundwater monitoring network comprises 7 monitoring bores (3 pre-existing monitoring bores, and 4 monitoring bores drilled as part of the program), and 4 test production bores (1 pre-existing production bore, and 3 production bores drilled as part of the program) at 4 nested locations.

The Stage 3 network is comprised of 7 monitoring bores and 3 test production bores at 4 locations. This program expands the monitoring network and allows further monitoring of potentially sensitive features, including; alpine bogs, the Yarangobilly River, Murrumbidgee River, Tantangara Creek, Gooandra Creek and potential groundwater dependent ecosystems. This report summarises the Stage 3 drilling program of the Snowy 2.0 groundwater monitoring network.

Monitoring and test bores were drilled and installed by Highland Drilling and Watson Drilling supervised by EMM Consulting Pty Limited (EMM) in consultation with NSW Department of Industry Water (DoI Water) between October 2018 and February 2019.

2 Drilling program

2.1 Monitoring bore network

The Stage 3 drilling program includes conventional groundwater monitoring bores and test production bores located within the vicinity of the Snowy 2.0 project area. Monitoring bores and test production bores are positioned to provide spatial coverage, investigate major hydrogeological systems, and monitor potentially sensitive environmental features along the project alignment.

Specifically, the groundwater monitoring network is designed to:

- identify and characterise water bearing units in the project area, focusing on characterising groundwater flow and quality;
- characterise hydraulic properties (horizontal and vertical flow) within the major groundwater bearing zones across the project area;
- provide a greater degree of spatial representation and flux of pressure heads across the plateau area to investigate potential vertical hydraulic gradients and connectivity between water bearing units; and
- investigate the potential for surface water-groundwater interaction, specifically at Gooandra, Zinc Ridge, and Marica.

The network is comprised of seven monitoring bores and three test production bores at four locations illustrated in Figure 2.1 and detailed in Table 2.1. Nested monitoring bores are present at three monitoring locations allowing multiple hydrogeological systems to be monitored. Nested sites have two monitoring bores with screened sections targeting the shallow unconfined groundwater system and deep fractured rock groundwater system. MB11A is a solitary bore targeting the shallow unconfined water bearing zone. MB11A was intended to be used as an observation bore for PB08 which was cancelled prior to the start of the drilling program. Existing monitoring bores BH3104, BH4103, BH5102 and BH3102 that were drilled by GHD were used to monitor drawdown and recovery levels during pumping tests.

Test production bores were completed with open section across the proposed tunnel depth. Shallow and deep nested monitoring bores were used to observe responses in their respective groundwater systems during pump testing.

Test production bores were pump tested to simulate groundwater yields during tunnelling and estimate vertical and horizontal hydraulic conductivity and connectivity between the shallow and deep groundwater systems. Vertical conductivity is of interest due to the potential of groundwater drawdown (during tunnelling) to impact groundwater dependent ecosystems and surface water features on the plateau.

A schematic of a nested groundwater monitoring/test production sites is shown in Figure 2.2.





Existing road/track

- Proposed track

Monitoring and production bore locations

Snowy 2.0 Drilling and completion report

Figure 2.1



GDA 1994 MGA Zone 55 N

Table 2.1Stage 3 groundwater monitoring and test production bore summary

Site location	Bore ID	Easting ¹	Northing ¹	Ground level (mAHD)²	Total depth (mBGL) ³	Screen (mBGL) ³	Targeted formation	Lithology
Zinc Ridge (East) BH3104	PB06	643796.8	6038289.1	1435.5	318	Open Hole (298 - 318)		Siltstone and Shale
	MB08A	643789.6	6038268.2	1435.2	30	19 - 29	Adaminaby Group	Sandstone and Shale
	MB08B	643789.6	6038276.7	1435.6	298	277 - 297		Siltstone and Shale
Marica Track (East) BH4103	PB08	Drilling cancelled						
	MB11A	634500.2	6038677.8	1485	24	17 - 23	Gooandra Volcanics	Chloritic schist
Marica Track (West) BH5102	PB09	632503.2	6038542.1	1330	300	Open Hole (200 - 300)		
	MB12A	632508.0	6038549.3	1329.9	36	26 - 35	Ravine Beds	Siltstone
	MB12B	632514.8	6038541.6	1330.5	180	149 - 179		
Zinc Ridge (West) BH3102	PB10	641299.1	6038399.5	1382	230	Open Hole (210 - 230)		
	MB13A	641298.6	6038411.3	1382.2	60	50 - 59	Temperance Formation	Siltstone
	MB13B	641310.2	6038405.7	1381.5	190	180 - 189		

Notes:

1. Coordinates in MGA 94 (Zone 55)

2. mAHD = metres Australian Height Datum

3. mBGL = metres Below Ground Level



Figure 2.2 Typical test production bore and associated nested monitoring bores

2.2 Monitoring and test production bore licences

Test production bore and monitoring bore licences were obtained by EMM, on behalf of SHL, under the *Water Act 1912* from Dol Water prior to the commencement of the drilling program (Appendix A). Form A Particulars of Completed Works forms (drilling completion forms) were submitted to Dol Water following monitoring bore installation and are included in Appendix B.

The following licenses apply to test and monitoring bores:

- Test production license 40BL192723 PB06, PB09, and PB10; and
- Monitoring bore licence 40BL192733 MB08A, MB08B, M11A, MB12A, MB12B, MB13A and MB13B.

2.3 Drilling construction specifications

2.3.1 Overview

Highland Drilling and Watson Drilling were engaged by EMM to complete the drilling and installation of monitoring and test production bores. EMM provided the design and specifications for the monitoring/test production bores and supervision of the drilling and installations.

All monitoring and test production bores were drilled and constructed in accordance with the Minimum Construction Requirements for Water Bores in Australia (NUDLC 2012). Drilling and construction is a minimal impact and temporary activity with the final constructed bore presenting at the surface as a 100 millimetre (mm) high, 1 x 1 metre (m) concrete slab and flush galvanised steel gatic plate.

2.3.2 Drilling

All monitoring and test production boreholes were drilled using an air rotary percussion technique (also known as air hammer) to evacuate cuttings from the annulus of the borehole during drilling. No drill muds or additives were used during the drilling. This This method allows information on water strikes, quality, and yields to be collected while drilling.

All water produced from the bores during drilling was controlled in a series of above ground tanks and disposed of in accordance with the Snowy 2.0 Review of Environmental Factors (REF) (SHL 2018). Water used for drilling was sourced from a licensed supply in Adaminaby or recycled from settling tanks. Produced water was discharged only when it met the water quality criteria specified in the REF. All produced water that did not comply with REF criteria was contained in above-ground tanks and disposed of at a licensed waste facility.

Geology was logged at one metre intervals and groundwater yields recorded (if any) at the end of each drill rod (every 6 m). Water quality physico-chemical parameters were measured using a calibrated YSI[™] water quality meter; parameters included temperature, Electrical Conductivity (EC), pH, Dissolved Oxygen (DO), Total Dissolved Solids (TDS) and Oxidation Reduction Potential (ORP). Physico-chemical parameters are shown on the geological bore logs in Appendix C.

All boreholes were developed at target depth until the discharge water was relatively free of sediment and the physico-chemical water quality parameters stabilised.

A washed and graded (3 to 5 mm) gravel filter pack was installed in the annulus around the screen and extended a minimum of 3 m above the screened section (placed at the target depth). A bentonite pellet seal was installed 3 to 5 m above the gravel pack and the boreholes were backfilled with blue metal gravel to approximately 2 m below surface level. The bentonite seal ensures no vertical connection between target groundwater systems to those above the screened section. The annulus was completed with a cement grout to surface.

Test production boreholes were drilled from surface at 7.5" to the top of the open hole section. 5" steel casing was then welded and installed to depth. The annulus between the 5" steel casing was sealed with 3 m of bentonite pellets and then backfilled with blue metal gravel to surface. The "tail" open section of the borehole was drilled at 5" to target depth. The open hole sections of PB06, PB09 and PB10 were designed to target the proposed tunnelling depth.

2.3.3 Survey

Following bore installation, the completed bores were surveyed by Peter W. Burns Pty Ltd, Cooma. Measurements collected during the survey process can be found in Table 2.1.

The survey included measurements of:

- MGA55 Easting and Northings of each bore,
- AHD71 level of the gatic lid and top of casing.

Table 2.2Bore survey details

Bore ID	Easting (MGA 94)	Northing (MGA 94)	Gatic lid (mAHD) ¹	Top of casing (mAHD) ¹
PB06	643796.8	6038289.1	1435.5	1435.4
MB08A	643789.6	6038268.2	1435.2	1435.1
MB08B	643789.6	6038276.7	1435.6	1435.5
MB11A	634500.2	6038677.8	1485.0	1485.1
РВ09	632503.2	6038542.1	-	1330.7
MB12A	632508.0	6038549.3	1329.9	1329.8
MB12B	632514.8	6038541.6	1330.5	1330.3
PB10	641299.1	6038399.5	1382.0	1382.0
MB13A	641298.6	6038411.3	1382.2	1382.1
MB13B	641310.2	6038405.7	1381.5	1381.4

Notes:

1. mAHD = metres Australian Height Datum

2.4 Geology encountered during drilling

The main geological formations encountered during drilling on the plateau were the Adaminaby Group, Temperance Formation and the Gooandra Volcanics. In the ravine region, on the western portion of the project area, the geological formation encountered was the Ravine Beds. The predominant geology encountered at screen depth, in both the ravine and plateau regions, during drilling was a very fine-grained meta-siltstone ranging from black to bluish-grey with poorly consolidated/fractured and weathered sandstone. The only exception was a dark grey greenschist was encountered within the Gooandra Volcanics formation at MB11A.

Table 2.3 provides a comprehensive breakdown of geology encountered during drilling.

Table 2.3 Geology

Bore ID Total depth (mBGL) ¹ Screened for		Screened formation	Screened lithology
PB06	318	Adaminaby Group	Siltstone; very fine grained, medium grey
MB08A	30	Adaminaby Group	Sandstone / slate
MB08B	298	Adaminaby Group	Siltstone; fine grained, medium grey
MB11A	24	Gooandra Volcanics	Greenschist; fine grained, light brown
PB09	300	Ravine Beds	Siltstone; fine grained, black
MB12A	36	Adaminaby Group	Siltstone; very fine grained, brownish grey
MB12B	180	Ravine Beds	Siltstone; very fine grained, dark bluish grey
PB10	230	Temperance Formation	Siltstone; dark grey
MB13A	60	Temperance Formation	Siltstone; dark grey
MB13B	190	Temperance Formation	Siltstone; dark grey, weathered

Notes:

1. mBGL = metres below ground level

2.5 Groundwater flow

Except for MB13A, all constructed bores had a yield of < 1 L/s during drilling. Bores MB08B, MB12B, MB13A and MB13B had a final airlift yield value of > 1 L/s during development, whilst all other bores produced less than 1 L/s during development. A summary of groundwater flow for all bores drilled during the Stage 3 program is presented in Table 2.4.

Table 2.4 Groundwater flow

Bore ID	First water cut (mbgl)	Rate at first cut (L/s)	Screen depth (mBGL)	Rate at screen (L/s)	Final airlift yield (L/s)
PB06	60	0.07	open hole from 298	0.5	0.5
MB08A	dry	dry	19-29	dry	dry
MB08B	30	0.1	278	1.5	1.5
MB11A	18	-	17-23	-	-
PB09	36	0.3	open hole from 200 m	0.3	0.3
MB12A	30	-	26-35	-	-

Table 2.4Groundwater flow

Bore ID	First water cut (mbgl)	Rate at first cut (L/s)	Screen depth (mBGL)	Rate at screen (L/s)	Final airlift yield (L/s)
MB12B	36	0.4	149-179	1	1
PB10	6	0.14	open hole from 200 m	0.77	0.31
MB13A	12	1	50-59	1	1
MB13B	6	0.5	180-189	1	1

2.6 Groundwater quality

A summary of groundwater quality is presented in Table 2.5. This table includes key information collected during drilling and at the end of airlift development when physico-chemical conditions had stabilised.

Electrical conductivity (EC) at all bores throughout the project is considered 'fresh' with the highest EC value recorded at a screened interval being ~156.3 μ S/cm at MB08B. All other bores had EC values ranged between 63.0 to 156.3 μ S/cm. pH at most sites where neutral to slightly alkaline besides MB11A which demonstrated a pH of 5.70.

Table 2.5Groundwater quality

Bore ID	EC at screened interval (µS/cm)	pH at screened interval
PB06	101	8.42
MB08A	DRY	DRY
MB08B	156.3	8.33
MB11A	103.3	5.7
PB09	114	8.54
MB12A	157	6.55
MB12B	63	8.46
PB10	101	9.81
MB13A	107	9.66
MB13B	77	9.08

3 Field testing

3.1 Test pumping

3.1.1 Test pumping methodology

Aquamann Irrigation was engaged by EMM to complete test pumping at test bores PB09 and PB10. The groundwater level at PB06 was too low to complete a pumping test. However, the slowly recovering groundwater level at PB06 was analysed (as a slug test) to provide an approximate horizontal hydraulic conductivity. During test pumping, groundwater level loggers were installed in the test bores and observation bores, and manual water level measurements completed at regular intervals. Phylsco-chemical water quality parameters (pH, EC, DO%, temperature and ORP) were also collected at the test bore discharge point during testing.

After analysis of slug test data from surrounding monitoring bores, it was determined that aquifer testing at each test production bore should consist of a 72-hour constant rate pumping test (CRT). Recovery of water levels were monitored, where possible, for up to 15 hours following the completion of the CRT. Target drawdown for the pump tests is over 40% of the available head to adequately stress the aquifer.

All water extracted from the test production bores during pumping was disposed of in accordance with the Snowy 2.0 REF (SHL 2018). There were no instances of uncontrolled release of water. Water was discharged only when it met the water quality criteria specified in the REF.

A pumping test summary is provided in Table 3.1 and Table 3.2, and pumping test reports are presented in Appendix D.

Table 3.1Stage 3 pumping test summary data

Production bore	Date	Test duration	Pumping time	Recovery time	Constant discharge rate (L/s) ¹	Formation	Deep observation bore (distance from production bore)	Shallow observation bore (distance from production bore)
PB06*	20/11/2018	NA	NA	NA	NA	Adaminaby Group	MB08B	MB08A
PB09	08/01/2019 - 11/01/2019	74 hours	71 hours	3 hours	0.15 - 0.185	Ravine Beds	MB12B (11.65 m)	MB12A (8.86 m)
PB10	10/12/2018 - 13/12/2018	65 hours	44 hours	21 hours	0.073	Temperance Formation	MB13B (12.5 m) BH3102 (18 m)	MB13A (11.8 m)

Notes: 1. L/s = litres per second

* Groundwater level too low to complete the test

3.1.2 Test pumping results

Water level data was collected manually, using electronic dip meters, and automatically via dataloggers. The data was evaluated using two different aquifer test analysis programs, AqteSolv and MLU, to estimate aquifer properties. AqteSolv is industry-leading software that allows for aquifer test interpretation using a range of solutions that are applicable to various aquifer types and test conditions. MLU is based on a single hybrid analytical solution that can handle a variety of test conditions and as such is useful for quickly estimating aquifer properties. Additionally, MLU can evaluate aquifer tests performed in multi-aquifer systems, allowing for layer-by-layer estimations of transmissivity and storativity.

After analysis of slug test data from surrounding monitoring bores, it was determined that aquifer testing at each test production bore should consist of a 72-hour constant rate pumping test (CRT). Where possible, each test was preceded by a step rate test (SRT) (4 one-hour steps) to confirm pump selection and pumping rates for the CRT. Recovery of water levels were monitored, where possible, for up to 15 hours following the completion of the CRT. Target drawdown for the pump tests was over 40% of the available head to adequately stress the aquifer. A pump test was not completed at PB06 because the water level was too low. The initial water level recovery after the completion of PB06 was recorded by a water level datalogger. The recovery data was used to estimate a hydraulic conductivity of 3.90×10^{-6} and 6.40×10^{-7} metres per day (m/d).

The water level data obtained from PB09 was analysed using AqteSolv. The data was analysed in two components: the manually measured drawdown and recovery data that was collected over the 74-hour test period, and the logger data which recorded an additional 72 hours of recovery from each bore. These two datasets were analysed separately because the well continued to develop throughout the test; although the pump was working at a constant speed, the flow rate increased from 0.15 to 0.185 L/sec over the 72-hour period.

Slug tests were completed at MB08A/B. The MB08A slug test showed relatively high hydraulic conductivity values averaging 0.8 m/d which is typical of a poorly consolidated/fractured and weathered siltstone/sandstone. MB08B, which is much deeper and in a more consolidated siltstone, displayed a lower hydraulic conductivity averaging 4.00 x 10^{-4} m/d.

At PB09, the hydraulic conductivity of the fractured rock ranged between 6.07×10^{-4} and 6.96×10^{-4} m/d. The matrix hydraulic conductivity values ranged between 1.44×10^{-7} and 3.51×10^{-6} m/d. Both calculated hydraulic properties are consistent with the textbook ranges (Domenico and Schwartz 1990). The fracture specific storage values ranged between 1.0×10^{-9} and 1.23×10^{-8} m⁻¹. The matrix storativities differed significantly between those calculated using the manually measured drawdown and recovery data, finding a storativity of 2.94×10^{-10} and the 72 hours of recovery data recorded by the dataloggers finding 6.31×10^{-5} . Typical fractured siltstone specific storativity ranges from 3.28×10^{-6} to 6.9×10^{-5} (Domenico and Mifflin 1965) hence the storativity value derived from logger recovery data is more representative.

Throughout the pumping test at PB10, the water level in PB10 (200 m) and MB13B (0.7 m) decreased while the water level in MB13A (0.18 m) and BH3102 (0.28 m) increased. It is possible that MB13A and BH3102 where responding to prior rainfall events. Weather stations in Cabramurra and Adaminaby show 10 to 20 mm of rainfall on most days throughout the pumping test. As no previous data is available to allow these results to be adjusted, only data collected for PB10 and MB13B was considered in the analysis. Furthermore, the increasing water levels observed at MB13A and BH3102 while the pump test was being completed demonstrates the lack of vertical connectivity during the 65-hour test.

The horizontal hydraulic conductivity at PB10 and MB13B (derived from slug test data) was found to be similar in both the MLU and AqteSolv analyses, with values of 8 x 10^{-6} and 6.4 x 10^{-6} m/d modelled respectively. This falls within the hydraulic conductivity range suggested by Domenico & Schwartz (1990) for siltstone: 8.64 x 10^{-7} to 0.0012 m/d. The storativity values estimated from both models were quite different. A storativity of 5.0 x 10^{-5} was found using the MLU model, while the AqteSolv model found a value of 1.1×10^{-6} .

A summary of these results is presented below in Table 3.2 and attached in Appendix D.

Table 3.2 Pumping test results

Site location	Bore ID	Formation	Kh ¹ (m/d) ² (solution type) ³	Kh ¹ (m/d) ² (solution type) ³	S ⁴ (m ⁻¹) ⁵	S [-] ⁶
BH3104	MB08A	Adaminaby	0.8 (overall average)			
	MB08B	Group	4.0 x 10 ⁻⁴ (overall average)			
	PB06		3.90 x 10 ⁻⁶ (Hvorslev)	6.40 x 10 ⁻⁷ (Theis using recovery data)		
BH5102	MB12A	Ravine Beds East	NC	o impact observed c	luring pump testing	
	MB12B		6.07 x 10 ⁻⁴ (Manual data, Moench double porosity parameters)	6.96 x 10 ⁻⁴ (logger data, Moench double porosity parameters)	1.0 x 10 ⁻⁹ (manual data) 1.23 x 10 ⁻⁸ (logger data) (Moench double porosity parameters)	
P	РВ09		6.07 x 10 ⁻⁴ (Manual data, Moench double porosity)	6.96 x 10 ⁻⁴ (logger data, Moench double porosity)	1.0 x 10 ⁻⁹ (manual recovery data) 1.23 x 10 ⁻⁸ (logger drawdown/recov ery data) (Moench double porosity)	
BH3102	MB13A	Temperance	No	impact observed o	luring pump testing	
	MB13B	Formation	8.0 x 10 ⁻⁶ (MLU Hybrid parameters)	6.4 x 10 ⁻⁶ (Barker)		5.0 x 10 ⁻⁵ (MLU hybrid)/1.1 x 10 ⁻⁶ (Barker)
	PB10		8.0 x 10 ⁻⁶ (MLU Hybrid parameters)	6.4 x 10 ⁻⁶ (Barker)		5.0 x 10 ⁻⁵ (MLU hybrid)/1.1 x 10 ⁻⁶ (Barker)

Notes:

1. Kh = average horizontal hydraulic conductivity

2. m/d = metres per day

3. solution type = analytical solutions for interpreting different conditions encountered in the field (eg Moench, Barker, Theis, etc). solution types are used in programs including MLU - a software program used for drawdown calculations and inverse modelling of transient well flow (pumping tests analysis) in layered aquifer systems and stratified aquifers; and AqteSolv, a software program used for design and interpretation of aquifer tests (pumping tests, slug tests, constant-head tests) in confined, leaky, unconfined and fractured aquifers.

4. S = fracture specific storage (the volume of water released from storage per unit decline in hydraulic head in the aquifer per unit area in the aquifer)

5. m⁻¹ = unit measurement for fracture specific storage

6. S [-] = storativity the volume of water released from storage per unit decline in hydraulic head in the aquifer per unit area in the aquifer

3.2 Groundwater level monitoring

Groundwater levels in all Stage 3 monitoring and test production bores are monitored using groundwater level dataloggers which record every six hours. The data from these loggers is retrieved monthly and analysed for seasonal variations against rainfall data or an event triggering a change. Hydrographs illustrating groundwater level changes can be found in Appendix E.

3.3 Groundwater quality monitoring

3.3.1 Groundwater sampling methodology

Following the construction and aquifer testing of Stage 3 bores, an initial round of groundwater quality monitoring was completed as part of the regular monitoring schedule for Snowy 2.0 using low flow sampling methods. During purging, physico-chemical parameters (pH, EC, ORP, DO% and temperature) were measured and a representative groundwater sample collected when the parameters stabilised. Comprehensive analysis was completed by NATA-accredited laboratory ALS Environmental Pty Ltd. Analytes are shown in Table 3.3.

Table 3.3 Groundwater sampling analytical suite

Suite	Analytes
Physico-chemical properties	Field parameters (pH, EC, ORP, DO%, temperature), Total Dissolved Solids (TDS), Total Suspended Solids (TSS)
Major ions	Calcium, magnesium, sodium, potassium, sulphate, chloride, alkalinity
Dissolved metals	Arsenic, cadmium, chromium, copper, fluoride, lead, magnesium, nickel, zinc
Nutrients	Ammonia as N, nitrite as N, nitrate as N, reactive phosphorous, phosphorous, total phosphorous

3.3.2 QA/QC procedures

Quality Assurance and Quality Control (QA/QC) procedures were completed during sampling to ensure field and laboratory procedures are followed accurately and equipment is calibrated. The field sampling procedures conformed to EMM's quality assurance/quality control (QA/QC) protocols to prevent cross contamination and preserve sample integrity. Sampling and reporting were conducted in accordance with *Geoscience Australia's Groundwater Sampling and Analysis – A Field Guide* (Sundaram 2009) and EMM's water sampling Standard Operating Procedure document. The following QA/QC procedures were applied:

- calibration of equipment;
- unstable parameters were analysed in the field (physico-chemical parameters);
- samples were collected in clearly labelled bottles with appropriate preservation solutions;
- samples were delivered to the laboratories within the specified holding times;
- field duplicate samples (QA samples) were collected at a rate of one in ten samples; and
- samples were kept chilled and gloves were worn during sampling.

The laboratories conduct their own internal QA/QC program to assess the repeatability of the analytical procedures and instrument accuracy. These programs include analysis of laboratory sample duplicates, spike samples, certified reference standards, surrogate standards/spikes and laboratory blanks. In addition, a duplicate sample is collected in the field for every ten samples collected to assess sampling and laboratory analysis accuracy.

3.3.3 Groundwater sampling results

Groundwater quality results collected between December 2018 and February 2019 are presented as an average for each monitoring site in Table 3.4 with ANZECC 2000 Freshwater 99% trigger values for reference

No water quality results exist for PB06 because water levels were too low to sample at the time. Laboratory certificates are presented in Appendix F. The groundwater quality results in Table 3.4 highlight regional differences between the different target formations across the Stage 3 boreholes:

- DO% is relatively low across all sites which is typical of groundwater. The highest average DO was 45.05% at MB13B in the Temperance Formation.
- Upon sampling, electrical conductivity (EC) was found to be higher than observed during drilling. MB12B, the deep monitoring bore in the Ravine Beds, and MB13B and PB10, the deep monitoring and test bore in the Temperance Formation, were found to be slightly to moderately saline with values ranging between 662 to 3,051 μS/cm. Remaining sites were less than 237 μS/cm.
- PB10 in the Temperance Formation was highly alkaline with a pH of 12.63. MB11A and MB12A, the shallow monitoring bores in the Gooandra Volcanics and Ravine Beds, have more acidic pH of 4.63 and 5.00 respectively. Remaining sites pH slightly acidic to neutral.
- Redox was reducing in all deep boreholes and oxidising in all shallow boreholes. MB11A in the Gooandra Volcanics recording highest average value of 230.5 mV and MB12B in the Ravine Beds formation had the lowest average redox value of -193.0 mV.
- Average Total Dissolved Solids (TDS) was highest at MB13B in the Temperance Formation with 629 milligrams per litre (mg/L). The lowest TDS recorded was in the Gooandra Volcanics at MB11A with 66 mg/L.
- Nutrient levels are generally low across the Stage 3 sites except for nitrogen and phosphorous levels at MB08A, which recorded values of 6.40 mg/L, and 13.8 mg/L respectively. These values are six, and seventy-two times higher than the second highest value. However, MB08A data presented in Table 3.4 is based on one sampling event.
- Total Organic Carbon (TOC) was low at four sites with average values equal to or less than 2 mg/L. Three sites had moderate average TOC values ranging between 2.1 mg/L and 10.1 mg/L. PB10 and MB13B recorded high concentrations of TOC averaging 77.0 mg/L and 43.0 mg/L respectively.
- For the major ions across the Stage 3 sites, calcium averaged less than 50 mg/L across all sites except PB10 where it reached 199 mg/L. Average chloride levels were equal to or less than 2 mg/L for six sites, MB13B recorded the highest average chloride levels of 34.0 mg/L. Magnesium was relatively stable across all Stage 3 sites with average results ranging between 1 and 8 mg/L. Sodium varied significantly across sites from 2.5 mg/L at MB12A in the Ravine Beds formation, to 230.0 mg/L at MB13B in the Temperance Formation. The average potassium value was also low across all Stage 3 sites except for PB10 which recorded an average value of 26.0 mg/L. Sulphates had a wide range of averages from as low as 1 mg/L at MB12A to 443.3 mg/L at MB13B. Fluoride was low across the sites with values ranging between 0.1 and 0.5 mg/L.
- The average results for metals indicate a few locations that exceeded the ANZECC 99% guidelines for water quality (ANZECC 2000). Minor aluminium exceedances were recorded at MB08A in the Adaminaby Group and at MB11A, PB10, MB13A and MB13B in the Gooandra Volcanics. Minor copper exceedances occurred at all Stage 3 locations except PB09 in the Ravine Beds. Average iron results were relatively low except at PB09 where the value reached 4.14 mg/L. However, high concentrations of iron could be due to the oxidation of the steel casing in which the bore was constructed. Average concentrations for nickel exceeded the ANZECC

99% guidelines at MB08B and MB12A. The zinc analysis shows all locations are below detection limits, which is higher than the ANZECC 99% guidelines exceedance values.

• Alkalinity as a carbonate and hydroxide was very high at PB10 but averaged values of less than 1 mg/L at all other Stage 3 sites. However, as a bicarbonate, PB10 was below detection limits while MB12B recorded the highest average value of 187.5 mg/L.

Parameters	Units	Site	MB08A	MB08B	MB11A	PB09	MB12A	MB12B	PB10	MB13A	MB13B
Formation		ANZECC 2000 FW 99%	Tantangara Formation	Tantangara Formation	Gooandra Volcanics	Ravine Beds	Ravine Beds	Ravine Beds	Temperance Formation	Temperance Formation	Temperance Formation
Field Parameters											
Temperature (Field)	oC		12.0	12.50	10.35	19.80	12.20	13.10	14.3	11.53	12.60
Dissolved Oxygen - % Saturation (Filtered)	%		55.20	5.75	21.80	13.80	8.70	2.60	10.4	7.77	45.05
Dissolved Oxygen (Field)	mg/L		5.91	0.82	1.26	1.25	2.44	0.50	1.05	0.86	3.68
Electrical Conductivity (field)	μS/cm		146.00	209.63	108.45	180.60	99.05	662.75	3051	237.90	1279.20
pH (Field)	pH_Units		6.69	8.10	4.63	7.14	5.00	7.36	12.63	7.95	7.79
Redox (Field)	mV		73.90	-49.77	230.55	-46.50	138.70	-193.85	-161.7	-130.53	-72.47
Total Dissolved Solids (Field)	mg/L		94.90	136.20	66.95	117.70	87.75	410.80	198.2	154.43	629.20
Analytical Results											
Alkalinity (total) as CaCO3	mg/L		52.0	92.7	27.5	88.0	49.0	187.5	573.0	101.7	104.3
Hardness as CaCO3 (Filtered)	mg/L		41.0	72.0	15.5	75.0	47.5	154.5	497.0	72.7	116.3
Total Dissolved Solids	mg/L		1500.0	178.7	85.0	109.0	81.0	473.0	825.0	183.0	900.7
Analytical results - nutrients											
Ammonia as N	mg/L		<0.01	<0.01	0.02	<0.01	0.03	<0.01	0.08	0.02	0.06
Nitrite + Nitrate as N	mg/L		<0.01	0.01	0.04	<0.01	0.01	<0.01	0.01	0.09	0.05
Kjeldahl Nitrogen Total	mg/L		6.40	<0.01	0.02	<0.1	1.40	0.30	0.50	0.30	0.17
Nitrogen (Total)	mg/L		6.40	<0.01	0.02	<0.1	1.40	0.30	0.50	0.40	0.20
Reactive Phosphorus as P	mg/L		<0.01	0.02	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01

Parameters	Units	Site	MB08A	MB08B	MB11A	PB09	MB12A	MB12B	PB10	MB13A	MB13B
Formation		ANZECC 2000 FW 99%	Tantangara Formation	Tantangara Formation	Gooandra Volcanics	Ravine Beds	Ravine Beds	Ravine Beds	Temperance Formation	Temperance Formation	Temperance Formation
Phosphorus	mg/L		13.800	0.025	0.070	0.020	0.520	0.025	0.080	0.190	0.060
Total Organic Carbon	mg/L		<10	2.0	1.5	2.0	1.5	9.0	77.0	10.0	43.0
Nitrate (as N)	mg/L		<0.01	0.01	0.03	<0.01	0.02	<0.01	<0.01	0.09	0.05
Nitrite (as N)	mg/L		<0.01	<0.01	0.02	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	0.03	<0.01	<0.01
Major ions											
Calcium (Filtered)	mg/L		10	16	3	17	10	48	199	22	41
Chloride	mg/L		<1	2.0	<1	1.0	<1	15.5	2.0	5.7	34.0
Magnesium (Filtered)	mg/L		4.0	8.0	2.0	8.0	5.5	8.5	<1	4.3	3.7
Sodium (Filtered)	mg/L		8.0	23.0	15.0	9.0	2.5	95.5	104.0	16.7	230.0
Potassium (Filtered)	mg/L		3.0	5.5	<1	2.0	<1	1	26.0	9.7	2.7
Sulfate as SO4 - Turbidimetric (Filtered)	mg/L		5.0	26.0	20.0	2.0	1.0	138.5	43.0	24.5	443.3
Fluoride	mg/L		0.1	0.40	<0.1	<0.1	<0.1	0.15	0.50	0.40	0.45
Metals											
Aluminium (Filtered)	mg/L	0.027	0.04	<0.01	0.03	<0.01	0.01	<0.01	0.3	0.08	0.09
Arsenic (Filtered)	mg/L		0.001		<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	0.007	0.001	0.016	0.041
Barium (Filtered)	mg/L		0.147		0.009	0.033	0.032	0.060	0.615	0.057	0.019
Beryllium (Filtered)	mg/L		<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Boron (Filtered)	mg/L	0.09	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	<0.05	0.10	<0.05	0.06

Parameters	Units	Site	MB08A	MB08B	MB11A	PB09	MB12A	MB12B	PB10	MB13A	MB13B
Formation		ANZECC 2000 FW 99%	Tantangara Formation	Tantangara Formation	Gooandra Volcanics	Ravine Beds	Ravine Beds	Ravine Beds	Temperance Formation	Temperance Formation	Temperance Formation
Cadmium (Filtered)	mg/L	0.00006	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001
Chromium (III+VI) (Filtered)	mg/L		<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Cobalt (Filtered)	mg/L		<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	0.0025	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Copper (Filtered)	mg/L	0.001	0.004	0.002	0.003	<0.001	0.003	<0.001	0.002	0.004	0.003
Iron (Filtered)	mg/L		<0.05	0.09	<0.05	4.14	0.06	0.06	0.22	0.09	2.27
Lead (Filtered)	mg/L	0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Manganese (Filtered)	mg/L	1.2	0.372	0.07	0.24	0.38	0.47	0.15	<0.001	0.03	0.14
Mercury (Filtered)	mg/L	0.00006	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001
Nickel (Filtered)	mg/L	0.008	0.001	0.010	0.005	<0.001	0.020	0.003	0.001	0.006	0.002
Selenium (Filtered)	mg/L	0.005	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01
Silver (Filtered)	mg/L	0.00002	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Vanadium (Filtered)	mg/L		<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01	<0.01
Zinc (Filtered)	mg/L	0.0024	0.006		0.011	<0.005	0.024	<0.005	<0.005	0.0126	0.009
Alkalinity											
Alkalinity (Bicarbonate as CaCO3)	mg/L		52.0	92.7	27.5	88.0	49.0	187.5	<1	101.7	104.3
Alkalinity (Carbonate as CaCO3)	mg/L		<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	92	<1	<1
Alkalinity (Hydroxide) as CaCO3	mg/L		<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	481	<1	<1

Parameters	Units	Site	MB08A	MB08B	MB11A	PB09	MB12A	MB12B	PB10	MB13A	MB13B
Formation		ANZECC 2000 FW 99%	Tantangara Formation	Tantangara Formation	Gooandra Volcanics	Ravine Beds	Ravine Beds	Ravine Beds	Temperance Formation	Temperance Formation	Temperance Formation
Inorganics											
Anions Total	meq/L		1.14	2.45	0.97	1.83	0.99	7.07	12.40	2.53	12.26
Cations Total	meq/L		1.25	2.53	0.97	1.95	1.06	7.26	15.10	2.43	12.41
Cyanide Total	mg/L	0.004	<0.004	<0.004	<0.004	<0.004	<0.004	<0.004	<0.004	<0.004	<0.004
Ionic Balance	%		-	0.92	-	-	-	4.04	9.88	-	0.72
Inorganics											
Methane	mg/L		-	<0.01	<0.01	0.08	<0.01	<0.01	-	<0.01	<0.01

Notes: 1: MB08B, MB13A, and MB13B have results averaged over 3 months between December 2018, and February 2019

2: MB11A, MB12A, and MB12B have results averaged over 2 months (January and February)

3: MB08A, PB09, and PB10 have only one round of sampling results (undertaken in February) therefore these results are not averaged

References

ANZECC 2000, Australian and New Zealand guidelines for fresh and marine water quality, National water quality management strategy, vol. 1. Australian Water Association.

Butler, J.J., Jr. 1988, *Pumping tests in nonuniform aquifers—the radially symmetric case*, Journal of Hydrology, vol. 101, pp. 15-30.

Domenico, P.A. and Mifflin, M.D (1965) Water from low-permeability sediments and land subsidence, Water Resources Research, vol. 1, no. 4., pp. 563-576.

Domenico, P.A. and Schwartz, F.W. (1990). Physical and chemical hydrogeology. Wiley, New York

Herojeet, R., Rishi, M.S., Ranjna, S., and Lata, R. (2015) *Hydrochemical characterization, ionic composition and seasonal variation in groundwater regime of an alluvial aquifer in parts of Nalagarh valley, Himachal Pradesh, India* Journal of Environmental Sciences, vol 6, pp. 68-81.

NUDLC (2012), *Minimum Construction Requirements for Water Bores in Australia National Third edition*, Australian Government National Water Commission, Uniform Drillers Licensing Committee

Sundaram B, Feitz A, de Caritat P, Plazinska A, Brodie R, Coram J and Ransley T 2009. *Groundwater Sampling and Analysis – a Field Guide*, Geoscience Australia